# The role of Sirtuin 1 in the regulation of autophagy and Respiratory Syncytial Virus-induced immune responses

by

# Anna Beata Owczarczyk

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Molecular and Cellular Pathology) in the University of Michigan 2015

**Doctoral Committee:** 

Professor Nicholas W. Lukacs, Chair Adjunct Professor Cory M. Hogaboam Assistant Professor David Lombard Professor Diane M. Robins Professor Michele S. Swanson "Of science and the human heart, there is no limit..." :: *Miracle Drug*, U2 ::

"When you want something, all the universe conspires in helping you to achieve it." :: *The Alchemist*, **Paulo Coelho** ::

"Because the people who are crazy enough to think they can change the world, are the ones who do." :: Apple – Think Different :: © Anna Beata Owczarczyk

2015

## DEDICATION

To the woman who taught me about perseverance and patience; to my fellow world-traveler and photographer; to my very first best friend; to my reality check—thank you for putting up with my drama, both big and small. I am eternally grateful for your support and belief in me, for our adventures into Nature, and for listening to my experimental and medical school woes. To become half the woman that you are would be a blessing and an honor.

> Mamusiu, dziękuję Ci za życie! Kocham Cię bardzo mocno. • Jak obiecałam, oto moje pierwsze "dziecko."

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Nigerian proverb states: "It takes village to raise a child." Likewise, it takes quite an army of individuals to develop, support, and nurture a thesis project. The following people helped me reach the light at the end of the tunnel, and the final miles of the PhD marathon.

#### Rodzinka Owczarczyków:

Since I landed in Michigan to pursue an MD/PhD, my parents, Zbyslaw and Beata, and my brother, Marcin, have had my back 150%. I am so blessed for all their hugs, laughter, love, and support. Kocham, bardzo mocno!

### The Kunkel-Lukacs-Hogaboam (KLH) Lab Family:

This collaborative, encouraging, work environment has been my extended family for the past 4 years. I am going to sorely miss their energy and conversations over drinks (and delicious food): Aaron Berlin, Amrita Joshi, Ana Lucia Coelho, Anna Ting, Beau Carson, Catherine Ptaschinski, Danielle Kroetz, David Habiel, Denise de Almeida-Nagata, Holly Evanoff, Jenni Bermick, Karen Cavassani, Katherine Gallagher, Michele Pushies, Melissa Scola, Nathalie Lambrecht, Phil Lundy, Ron Allen, Samanthi Narayanan, Sihyug Jang, Steven Kunkel, Sumanta Mukherjee, Tine Demoor, & Wendy Fonseca Aguilar.

Special thanks to Dr. Nicholas (Nick) Lukas, who was the mentor I always wanted, and needed, during my graduate career. He helped me shape a passion and energy for Science into a project I am ecstatically proud to share. Susan (Sue) Morris, "the Super Mom," made many daunting days survivable with immense emotional and technical support. Kudos to Bryan Petersen, "Big Brah," who introduced me to the Lab and kept me going with many heart-to-hearts late at night whilst data crunching. High fives to Matthew (Matt) Schaller, "Fund/Fount of Knowledge," who put up sitting next to me and thus my constant poking, both theoretical and literal. Giant hugs to Michelle Reed, my "Big Sis/Buddy in Crime," for everything Lab and Life related, especially for being my dance partner at conferences.

Additionally, without the technical assistance of various individuals, my research would have not been possible. I extend warm, heartfelt thanks to Pamela Lincoln and Andrew Rasky for mouse genotyping, Lisa Johnson for histological slide preparation, Robin Kunkel for electron micrograph preparation and Figure 5.1 design, and Judith Connett for her manuscript editing expertise. Additionally, I am eternally grateful for all the assistance I received from the University of Michigan Flow Cytometry and the Microscopy Imaging and Analysis Core Facilities.

### Thesis Committee Extraordinaire:

Many thanks to Cory Hogaboam, David Lombard, Diane Robins, and Michele Swanson, whose critical input and advice pushed me to be a better scientist.

### The University of Michigan Medical Scientist Training Program:

A giant round of gratitude to Ron Koenig and the O.C. for making my 21<sup>st</sup> birthday so memorable with an acceptance into the UM MSTP, and for believing in my potential. Warm thanks to Ellen Elkin, Hilkka Ketola, and Laurie Koivupalo, for their emotional and logistical assistance throughout the MD and PhD years.

### The Graduate Program in Molecular and Cellular Pathology:

A humble nod to Nick Lukacs, Laura Hessler, Zaneta Nikolovska-Coleska, and Laura Labut for creating a learning environment that promotes the growth of meager graduate students into the Leaders and the Best. Special kudos to Laura Labut, for her friendship and graceful management of my MCP-related crises.

### Friends, Near and Far:

Outstanding awe and thanks goes out to my MSTP cohort, who has accompanied me in one way or another on this crazy journey: Steve Allen, Meg Allison, Albert Chen, Paul Christine, Zishaan Farooqui, John Greco, Alex Holtz, Viren Patel, Biswa Ramani, Anirban Sahu, Nadia Sebastian, & Saran Srinivasan. High fives to the friendships I have made at Michigan: Andrew Bradley, Kate Brieger, Alexis Carulli, Shirley Chen, Ravi Chopra, Cailin Collins, Andrew Freddo, Mangala Iyengar, Dan Reiss, Ethan Sperry, Dan Ursu, & Heiko Yang. Special thanks to my buddy Mohammad Dar and my sister Ashley Dunfee, who helped me survive some of the toughest lows. Hugs upon hugs to my Cornell buddies for keeping me sane with letters and phone calls: Erin and David Doxtader, Mariana Giron, Giselle Guron, Ingrid Kiehl, John Nellikunnel, Adrienne and Brian Pedraza, Laura Transue, & Dan Walsh. To my best friends since kindergarten, Amanda Bellucco and Carly Smith, who have supported and loved me from a far with Skype sessions, cards, and care packages.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
LIST OF FIGURESvii
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF APPENDICESx
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxi
ABSTRACT
CHAPTER 1: Introduction
D
Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)
Virology & mechanisms of immune evasion
Epidemiology & health burden
Clinical manifestation & diagnosis
Etiology of RSV hospitalization & severe infection
I reatment, prophylaxis, and vaccination
Primary immune response to RSV (in mice & men)
Histopathology11
Detection of RSV by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) 11
Innate cytokine production & immune cell recruitment
Pulmonary DCs: inducers of innate & adaptive immunity
Immaturity of the infant immune system
RSV-induced protective vs. pathologic immunity
Autophagy as an antiviral immune defense
Autophagosomes: initiation to maturation
Role of autophagy in human disease
Host autophagy during infection by intracellular pathogens
Autophagic regulation of immune cell function
Modulation of inflammation by autophagy
Interactions between ER-stress, autophagy, & viruses
Sirtuin 1: a regulator of immune responses
Pro-survival role of SIRT1 during stress responses
Pleiotropic effects of SIRT1 on age-related diseases

SIRT1 regulates immune cell differentiation and activation
Summary of rationale and thesis aims
CHAPTER 2: Materials & Methods
CHAPTER 3: SIRT1 regulates DC activation & autophagy-mediated processes
Sirt1 is significantly upregulated in DCs during RSV infection
SIRT1 promotes efficient DC activation and autophagosome formation
DCs from <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice have altered cytokine production and autophagy in response to RSV
APC function is not SIRT1-dependent
Summary
CHAPTER 4: SIRT1 promotes the development of efficient antiviral immune responses during RSV infection
Systemic inhibition of SIRT1 augments RSV-induced lung pathology72
<i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice experience exacerbated lung pathology and delayed resolution of inflammation following RSV infection
SIRT1 does not alter RSV gene expression within DCs
Summary
CHAPTER 5: Discussion, Conclusions, & Future Directions 81
SIRT1 promotes DC-mediated antiviral immunity and limits RSV-induced pathology
Ongoing and Future Studies
APPENDICES
BIBLIOGRAPHY

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Human respiratory syncytial virus
Figure 1.2: The life cycle of an autophagosome
Figure 1.3: Sirtuin 1 – complex roles, many targets
Figure 3.1: Sirt1 is upregulated in a mouse model of RSV infection
Figure 3.2: RSV-infected DCs greatly upregulate <i>Sirt1</i>
Figure 3.3: Modulation of SIRT1 activity affects DC cytokine production
Figure 3.4: Inhibition of SIRT1 attenuates autophagy in RSV-infected DCs
Figure 3.5: Repressed autophagy and autophagy-dependent innate cytokine production in <i>Sirt1</i> siRNA-treated BMDCs
Figure 3.6: Characterization of <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> mice
Figure 3.7: Cytokine production is attenuated in <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> DCs during RSV infection
Figure 3.8: <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> DCs form fewer autophagosomes in response to starvation or RSV infection
Figure 3.9: Ultrastructural analysis of BMDCs from <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> mice during stress conditions
Figure 3.10: BMDCs from <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice express more activated caspase 3 during stress conditions
Figure 3.11: The deficiency of SIRT1 does not alter cell survival during RSV infection 68
Figure 3.12: SIRT1 does not influence the expression of DC maturation markers
Figure 3.13: T cell co-stimulation is not dependent on SIRT1
Figure 3.14: Sirt1-deficient DCs retain the capacity to present antigen to T cells

Figure 4.1: Systemic SIRT1 inhibition augments RSV-induced lung pathology73
Figure 4.2: RSV-infected <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice develop a pro-inflammatory lung immune environment by 2 dpi
Figure 4.3: Increased inflammatory infiltrates and mucus production in airways of RSV- infected <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice
Figure 4.4: <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice suffer from exacerbated RSV-induced lung pathology at 8 dpi
Figure 4.5: Mucus and pathological cytokines persist in the lungs of RSV-infected <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> at 12 dpi
Figure 4.6: RSV-infected CD11c <sup>+</sup> alveolar macrophages from <i>Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre</i> <sup>+</sup> mice are proficient at inflammatory cytokine production
Figure 4.7: SIRT1 does not alter DC-specific RSV gene expression levels
Figure 5.1: Sirtuin 1 promotes effective antiviral adaptive immune responses by driving DC activation and autophagy

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Properties and functions of mammalian sirtuins.	33
Table 2.1: PCR settings for homemade Sirt1 exon 4 primers.	49
Table 2.2: Antibodies and ladders used for immunoblotting	54
Table 2.3: Antibodies for mouse flow cytometry and flow sorting	56

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: TNFα-stimulated NFκB-dependent IL-6 production is amplified in the presence of a SIRT1 inhibitor
Appendix 2: <i>Sirt1-</i> deficient BMDCs have attenuated proteins levels of LC3 in response to RSV infection
Appendix 3: <i>Sirt1-</i> deficient DCs undergo greater levels of ER stress upon RSV infection or Tunicamycin treatment compared to <i>Sirt1-</i> proficient DCs

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

(A)EC
AHRAirway hyperreactivity
APCAntigen presenting cell
ATGAutophagy
BALBronchial-alveolar lavage
CTL Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DPI
EAE Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
HPI Hours post-infection
IFNInterferon
IL Interleukin
KOKnockout
LDLNLung draining lymph node
LRTILower respiratory tract infection
MHCMajor histocompatibility complex
NLR
RLR
SIRTSirtuin
SLESystemic lupus erythematous
SNPSmall nuclear polymorphism
TCR
Th cells
TLR
Tregs
UPR Unfolded protein response
WTWild-type

## ABSTRACT

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is the leading cause of lower respiratory tract disease in children, and a significant source of morbidity and mortality among those susceptible, including infants, the elderly, and those with chronic lung diseases. Severe RSV infection during infancy is highly correlated with asthmatic symptoms later in life, suggesting a chronic alteration of the pulmonary immune environment even after viral clearance. Within the airways, dendritic cells (DCs) drive innate and adaptive immune responses to pathogens through the production of proinflammatory cytokines and the activation of T cell responses. Autophagy, a pathway that sequesters intracellular material within double-walled vesicles for degradation by lysosomes, enhances Toll-like receptor-dependent activation, cytokine production, and antigen presenting cell function within RSV-infected DCs. Of interest, key proteins that orchestrate autophagosome formation are targeted by SIRT1, a NAD<sup>\*</sup>-dependent histone and protein deacetylase. SIRT1 impacts many areas of biology and pathophysiology, including immune function. However, the role of SIRT1 in DC biology and its subsequent impact on adaptive immunity has not been elucidated.

We have demonstrated that SIRT1 regulates DC activation and autophagy-mediated processes during RSV infection, and that the absence of SIRT1 activity alters the antiviral immune response through the regulation of innate cytokine production. Upon infection, SIRT1 inhibitor (EX-527)-treated DCs, *Sirt1* siRNA-treated DCs, or DCs from conditional knockout (*Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup>) mice failed to upregulate autophagy and cytokine production, but retained the capacity to present antigen to T cells. Additionally, RSV infection of *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> mice resulted in altered lung and lymph node cytokine responses, leading to exacerbated pathology. Overall, these studies highlight the essential role of SIRT1-mediated DC cytokine production in fine-tuning the antiviral adaptive immune response, and establish SIRT1 as a promising therapeutic target for the prevention of severe RSV-induced lung disease.

## CHAPTER 1: Introduction

Human respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), a non-segmented negative-sense singlestranded enveloped RNA virus of the Paramyxoviridae family, is a ubiquitous human pathogen. It was first isolated from chimpanzees in the 1950s and subsequently recovered from severely ill infants with lower respiratory tract (LRT) disease.<sup>1,2</sup> As the leading global cause of lower respiratory tract infection (LRTI) among infants and young children, RSV is also responsible for significant morbidity and mortality among the young, the elderly, the immunocompromised, and those with chronic respiratory diseases.<sup>3-5</sup> Treatment of RSV infection relies heavily on supportive care, and despite decades of research efforts, no effective pharmacologic therapies exist.<sup>6</sup> Even with the knowledge from extensive studies on epidemiology, clinical course, diagnostic techniques, and animal models, the immunobiology of severe RSV infection is not fully understood. Deeper questioning of this virus's effect on the immune system is highly warranted to bring about therapeutic strategies aimed at severe pathology prevention and viral vaccine development.

#### Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)

#### Virology & mechanisms of immune evasion

RSV's RNA genome of 10 genes encodes 11 proteins, including structural and envelope proteins. The viral envelope contains three transmembrane proteins: fusion (F) glycoprotein, G glycoprotein (G), and a small hydrophobic protein (SH). The G protein mediates host cell attachment while the F protein is responsible for fusion, cell entry, and the formation of the characteristic multinucleated epithelial cells, or syncytia.<sup>7</sup> Only the F and G proteins induce neutralizing antibodies, thereby making these proteins the most important determinants of viral pathogenicity.<sup>8,9</sup> Five structural proteins compromise the remainder of the viral genome: a large RNA polymerase protein (L), nucleoprotein (N), phosphoprotein (P), matrix protein (M), two matrix protein variants from alternate reading frames called transcription processivity factors (M2-1 and M2-2,) and two non-structural proteins (NS2, NS2). The M proteins assemble underneath the envelope, while the L, M2, N, and P proteins associate with the single-stranded RNA (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Human respiratory syncytial virus. ssRNA genome (A) and virion structure (B).<sup>10, 11</sup>

RSV-G binds glycosoaminoglycans present on the apical surface of target cells,<sup>12, 13</sup> while the F protein binds nucleolin, mediating the fusion to the host membrane and the release of nucleocapsid into the host cytoplasm.<sup>14, 15</sup> Upon entry, the L protein initiates transcription (3' to 5') of the negative-sense RNA.<sup>16-18</sup> Consequently, subgenomic mRNAs are produced, with relative protein abundance determined by proximity to the 3' end of the viral genomic RNA.<sup>16</sup> During virion assembly, the nucleocapsid localizes at the host's plasma membrane, which now expresses viral envelope proteins. New virions bud off of the apical surface of polarized alveolar epithelial cells, forming clusters of long, fragile filaments that extend from the cell surface.<sup>19</sup>

RSV primarily targets respiratory epithelial cells, particularly those that are ciliated, as well as the intraepithelial immune cells lining the airways.<sup>20</sup> In contrast to influenza virus, RSV induces scant cytopathology,<sup>20-22</sup> perhaps due to its ability to delay programmed cell death or apoptosis of host cells. RSV infection induces the upregulation of numerous genes encoding inhibitors of apoptosis, such as the Bcl-2 family member myeloid cell leukemia-1.<sup>23</sup> Other probably anti-apoptotic mechanisms employed by RSV include p53 inhibition via Akt/Mdm2-mediated p53 degradation<sup>24</sup> and increased levels of prosurvival sphingolipid SP1 via enhanced ceramidase/sphingosine kinase activity.<sup>23, 25</sup> Moreover, it has been shown that NS1, NS2, and SH RSV proteins facilitate viral replication, and thus higher viral titers, by suppressing premature apoptosis.<sup>26</sup>

RSV reinfections are common throughout life, suggesting that protective immunity is incomplete and short-lived.<sup>7</sup> This is likely in part due to the virus's numerous mechanisms to evade or sabotage the host immune response.<sup>27</sup> RSV-F protein binds Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), upregulating its surface expression and sensitizing respiratory epithelial cells to endotoxin.<sup>28</sup> Reports have shown an increase in the number of TLR4<sup>+</sup> peripheral blood monocytes in some infants with RSV bronchiolitis,<sup>29</sup> but the role of TLR4 *in vivo* is not clear.<sup>30</sup> RSV's NS1 and NS2 proteins have been shown to interfere with type I interferon (IFN) production, contributing to poor viral clearance and a skewed Th2 immune response.<sup>9</sup>

The G protein is heavily glycosylated, a modification that interferes with antibody recognition.<sup>31, 32</sup> RSV-G exists as both a full-length membrane-bound form and a truncated secreted form (RSV-Gs), the latter of which may act as a decoy for neutralizing antibodies.<sup>27</sup> In addition, the G protein contains a CX3C motif, which endows it with the ability to signal through the fractalkine CX3CR1 receptor and alter the chemotactic activity of leukocytes.<sup>33</sup> Whether this augments cellular recruitment to the lungs during RSV infection or inhibits the function of endogenous fractalkine is unclear.<sup>9</sup> Lastly, the conserved cysteine-rich region of RSV-Gs acts as a potent TLR antagonist *in vitro*, antagonizing TLR2, TLR4, and TLR9-mediated inflammatory cytokine production.<sup>34</sup>

Interestingly, studies suggest that RSV-G protein has greater potential than RSV-F protein to downregulate cellular responses. For example, sensitization of mice with recombinant vaccinia virus expressing the RSV G protein followed by subsequent RSV challenge primarily activated a Th2 response (allergy-like) with eosinophilia, while priming with RSV-F protein activated a Th1 response (antiviral) with lung inflammation.<sup>35</sup> Similarly, human RSV-G-specific T-cell lines produced interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-10 in response to RSV stimulation, whereas F-protein-specific T-cell lines produced Th1-dominated cytokines.<sup>36</sup>

The virology of RSV, in combination with the host's immune response and underlying health variables, contributes to the unique nature of RSV infection in the global human population. With no RSV vaccine available, it is vital to deeply ponder the epidemiologic, environmental, genetic, and immunologic risk factors that predispose individuals to severe RSV infection.

### Epidemiology & health burden

The single RSV serotype is classified according to the G protein subgroups A or B (RSV-A, RSV-B).<sup>37, 38</sup> As with other respiratory viral infections, the prevalence of each subgroup varies by region and season, with rates of viral infection and hospitalization peaking between mid-December and early February.<sup>39, 40</sup> No animal reservoirs exist, as humans are the only host for RSV, yet the reasons for the near absence of RSV between epidemics remain unclear.

RSV is a highly infectious, universal pathogen, such that every child experiences at least one RSV infection by the age of 2 years.<sup>41</sup> While infections usually pass in less than a week, they tend to be more severe in children aged 8 to 30 weeks.<sup>42</sup> It has been estimated that on an annual basis the virus causes about 34 million episodes of acute LRTI and nearly 4 million cases of severe acute LRTI requiring hospitalization.<sup>4</sup> Extrapolating from surveillance studies of laboratory-confirmed RSV infections to the entire US population, about two million children under 5 years of age require annual medical attention for RSV infection, with ~3% of them being hospitalized, another 25% of them being treated in emergency departments, and the remaining 73% being seen in pediatric practices.<sup>7</sup> Every year at least 66,000 deaths worldwide in children under 5 years of age can be attributed to severe RSV infection, most commonly in developing nations.<sup>4</sup>

Unfortunately, the total health burden of RSV disease is complicated by a strong relationship between infant hospitalization with RSV infection and the development of recurrent wheezing and allergic asthma later in life.<sup>43-48</sup> Studies involving Palivizumab, a monoclonal antibody to RSV-F protein that significantly reduces the severity of RSV bronchiolitis, further suggest a causal interaction between RSV infection and childhood asthma. Among cohorts of "high-sick" children, Palivizumab prevented hospitalization for RSV LRTI and decreased the incidence of less severe LRTI, thereby reducing the rate of physician-documented recurrent wheezing at the age of 3-4 years.<sup>49</sup> Similar findings have been reported where infants received prophylaxis with pooled immunoglobulins containing

high titers of RSV neutralizing antibodies.<sup>50</sup> Furthermore, data derived from mouse models of viral-induced chronic lung disease indicate lasting influences to the pulmonary immune milieu consistent with those observed in human asthmatics.<sup>51</sup> These complications of severe RSV infection suggest that the host antiviral immune response, as well as the immunemediated alteration of the pulmonary environment, facilitate the development of chronic airway disease.

Unusually, RSV reinfection is common among young children, with most experiencing a decrease in symptom severity upon recurrent exposure.<sup>52</sup> While there is a low incidence of LRT involvement upon reinfection in older children and adults, the immunocompromised (e.g. transplant patients) and the elderly have a higher risk of developing severe LRTI.<sup>3, 53</sup> Likewise, RSV greatly exacerbates baseline pulmonary dysfunction in patients with conditions such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).<sup>5</sup> Overall, RSV infection contributes to extensive morbidity and mortality in these adult populations.

#### Clinical manifestation & diagnosis

RSV symptoms range from mild upper respiratory tract illness or otitis media to severe, life-threatening LRTI. The most common form of LRTI in RSV-infected infants is bronchiolitis, although pneumonia and croup are also observed. LRT signs, which lead to a clinical diagnosis of bronchiolitis, include tachypnea, hyperinflation, retractions of the intercostal muscles, and inspiratory crackles and expiratory wheezing on auscultation. High fever is uncommon, while apnea may be observed in very young and premature infants.<sup>54</sup>

Diagnosis of acute bronchiolitis is clinical, based on the patient's presenting respiratory signs and symptoms, possibly accompanied by lethargy, irritability, and poor feeding. While chest X-rays may show hyperinflation and patchy atelectasis, helping to distinguish bronchiolitis from pneumonia, this tool is reserved for cases of diagnostic uncertainty. Pulse oximetry is recommended for all patients reporting to the emergency department. Rapid antigen testing is routinely used for guiding cohort assignments, but its results rarely alter management decisions.<sup>54</sup> Antigen detection by immunofluorescence and viral culture are common for confirming RSV infection, but similar methods are not available for all respiratory viruses. Hence, to investigate viral etiology for epidemiological studies, scientists use reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for RNA viruses and PCR for DNA viruses.<sup>7</sup>

### Etiology of RSV hospitalization & severe infection

The risk factors for RSV-related hospitalizations and disease severity can be broken down into host-related and virus-related. From the host's perspective, well-established risk factors for hospitalization include pre-term birth, congenital heart or lung disease, acquired immunodeficiencies, interstitial lung disease, neuromuscular disease, liver disease, and inborn errors of metabolism.<sup>7</sup> In spite of the aforementioned risk factors, at least half of all infants that report to the hospital with severe RSV infection are otherwise healthy.<sup>55, 56</sup> Within this group, the most frequent and consistent risks include young age (< 6 weeks to < 6 months), male sex, presence of other children in the household, daycare attendance, tobacco exposure, lower family income, and lack of breast feeding.<sup>7, 57</sup> Conversely, only two protective factors have been identified: Breast-feeding<sup>56, 58-61</sup> and higher circulating levels of maternally-derived neutralizing antibodies to RSV.<sup>62, 63</sup>

Aside from these environmental and health risk factors that contribute to hospitalization rates, many studies have identified a multitude of genetic susceptibility factors for severe RSV disease. Concordance studies between Danish monozygotic and dizygotic twin pairs revealed a modest (~20%) genetic contribution to the risk of hospitalization with RSV.<sup>64</sup> Furthermore, studies on the ethnic background of RSV-infected US infants have shown that children of Native Alaskan or American Indian heritage are far more frequently hospitalized in comparison to the general US infant population,<sup>65, 66</sup> while African ancestry was found to be protective against severe bronchiolitis compared to European ancestry.<sup>55, 67</sup> Genetic risk factors are further supported by the finding that during the same season a single RSV strain can cause variable severity of disease among the infected, ranging from mild rhinitis to severe LRTI.<sup>64</sup>

Analysis of 347 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from hospitalized RSVinfected children identified the risk of severe RSV disease was predominantly associated with innate immune genes, including VDR (vitamin D receptor), *IFNA5* (interferon  $\alpha$ 5), *NOS2A*  (inducible nitric oxide synthase), and *FCER1A* (high-affinity IgE receptor  $\alpha$ -subunit).<sup>68</sup> Further studies identified additional immune gene SNPs associated with RSV disease severity in preterm infants, such as *IFNG* (interferon gamma; risk enhancing), *TGFBR1* (transforming growth factor beta receptor 1; protective), and *NFKBIA* (nuclear factor kappa-B 1A; protective).<sup>69</sup> Surprisingly, polymorphisms in *IL1RN* (IL-1 receptor antagonist) were protective among preterm infants, but disease enhancing among full-term infants.<sup>69</sup> Examination of the *TLR4* gene has identified the overrepresentation of two SNP variants among high-risk infants hospitalized with RSV compared to control infants,<sup>70</sup> though these findings are not always consistent.<sup>68, 71</sup> These data demonstrate that immunologically relevant receptor and signaling molecule genes contribute to host susceptibility to severe RSV LRTI.

Additionally, SNPs within the promoter- and coding-regions of critical cytokines may be associated with an increased risk of severe RSV disease. The role of Th2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, in the immunopathology of human RSV infection is controversial since some studies have found an association between excessive Th2 cytokine secretion and disease severity,<sup>72,73</sup> while others have reported little or no detection of Th2 cytokines.74-76 Several studies reported overrepresentation of common SNPs within the IL4 gene, IL-4 promoter, and the IL-4 receptor alpha chain, among RSV-infected hospitalized infants in comparison to healthy controls.<sup>77-80</sup> One well-studied locus on human chromosome 5 (5q31) has been identified as a potential modifier of RSV disease severity.<sup>80</sup> This locus contains a cluster of cytokine genes, including the Th2 cytokine genes IL4, IL5, and IL13, as well as IFN regulatory factor 1 (IRF1), granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (CSF2), and T-cell transcription factor-7 (TCF7). The highest infant hospitalization odds-risk ratio involved several SNPs across the IL-4 and IL-13 genes, among patients with no known risk factors for RSV disease.<sup>80</sup> Future studies should investigate potential correlations between these haplotype-associated gene polymorphisms and RSVinduced cytokine production.

Lastly, SNPs within the genes of chemotactic cytokines have been studied in terms of risk for severe disease, since immune cells infiltrate the airways during RSV infection. For example, IL-8 attracts neutrophils, and the chemokines RANTES/CCL5 and MIP-1 $\alpha$ /CCL3 recruit basophils, eosinophils, monocytes and T cells. While a polymorphism within

the *IL8* promoter region was found to be overrepresented in infants hospitalized with severe RSV LRTI,<sup>81-84</sup> subsequent studies did not find significant associations with known SNPs within the *IL8* and IL-8 receptor genes.<sup>85, 86</sup> However, evidence does support an increased risk among carriers of SNPs within *CCL5*<sup>87-89</sup> and its receptor, *CCR5*.<sup>72</sup>

Viral factors contributing to the risk of severe RSV disease include viral load, viral subgroup, and the presence of co-infection. There is some controversy over the extent viral load correlates with disease severity, but studies suggest it may be age stratified and dependent on other risk factors, such as co-infection with another respiratory virus (e.g. parainfluenza, influenza, adenovirus, or rhinovirus).<sup>90, 91</sup> Several human studies have shown RSV-A associated with higher disease severity compared to RSV-B, with the risk persisting after adjusting for age and other risk factors.<sup>37, 38, 67</sup> *In vitro* studies in primary airway epithelial cells (AECs) and epithelial cell lines demonstrate that "prototypic" RSV-A strains are better at inducing nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) activation and thus pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-8) than RSV-B strains, supporting the clinical observations that RSV-A isolates differ substantially in their infectivity, virulence, and immunopathogenicity.<sup>93-97</sup> Overall, these findings underline how viral characteristics interact with host susceptibility factors to dictate disease phenotype.

Taken together, the studies of risk factors contributing to RSV disease susceptibility, severity, and hospitalization highlight fascinating correlations with the RSV-induced immune response. However, most risk factor-disease relationships require investigation in much larger patient populations, so that significance can be attributed to the appropriate environmental, genetic, or viral risk factor involved in RSV pathology.

#### Treatment, prophylaxis, and vaccination

Management of acute bronchiolitis upon hospital admission largely consists of supportive care, such as nasal suction, nasogastric or intravenous fluids, supplemental oxygen, and nasogastric feeding. While it is common practice to administer bronchodilators ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  adrenergics, anticholinergics, and nebulized epinephrine), there is no conclusive evidence that these positively impact disease outcome.<sup>54</sup> Likewise, there is a lack of evidence

for the use of inhaled or systemic corticosteroids in treating severe bronchiolitis.<sup>98</sup> One study showed that endogenous cortisol production during severe RSV bronchiolitis actually suppressed cytokines necessary for mediating antiviral responses,<sup>99</sup> suggesting that systemic corticosteroid treatment may not be advisable in severe RSV disease. Additionally, inhaled corticosteroids during the acute phase of RSV infection did not show a preventative effect on post-infection wheezing.<sup>100</sup>

The use of ribavirin, a FDA-approved antiviral agent used in nebulizer form to treat infants and children with severe bronchiolitis, is disputed. Meta-analysis indicates it may be effective in reducing duration of ventilation and length of hospitalization, but the studies have been too small in size and too variable to be conclusive.<sup>101</sup> Current AAP guidelines do not recommend ribavirin's routine use due to these uncertain studies, the potential health risk for caregivers (i.e. aerosolization of drug during administration), and the high cost, but reserve its use in high-risk infants with severe disease.<sup>54</sup>

Palivizumab is a monoclonal antibody (RSV-F protein) prophylaxis for serious RSVinduced LRTI in high-risk infants and young children. The FDA-approved dose is five monthly doses of 15 mg/kg body weight at the beginning of the regional RSV season. There is an international agreement that a full course of the antibody should be given to premature infants with a gestation age <32 weeks, but there is considerable variation in US recommendations for use in infants at the gestational age of 32-35 weeks. While Palivizumab is effective in infants <35 weeks of age,<sup>102</sup> providing such a prophylaxis to a population that comprises 3-5% of all annual births would be cost prohibitive. Thus, it is generally reserved for <32 week-old premature infants and those born with cardiopulmonary complications.<sup>103</sup>

Despite these imperfect treatments and prophylaxis for severe RSV infection, they are still achievements given the absence of a RSV vaccine. Early attempts at vaccine development vividly demonstrated just how much the host immune response contributes to RSV pathogenesis. The first formalin-inactivated (FI) RSV vaccine (1960s) not only failed to provide antibody protection, but also primed the infant participants for enhanced disease upon natural infection, such that 80% of the vaccinees required hospitalization and two even died.<sup>62</sup> Initially, it was hypothesized, given the link between RSV and Th2-polarized wheezing, that the FI-RSV vaccine had induced a Th2 immune response, leading to eosinophilia and the upregulation of IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and possibly IL-10.<sup>104, 105</sup> Reexamination of post-mortem histological specimens found few eosinophils, and instead reported immune complex deposition and neutrophilia in the lungs.<sup>105, 106</sup>

The amplification of RSV disease post-FI-RSV vaccine administration has been reproduced in mouse, cotton rat, primate, and bovine models.<sup>107-110</sup> Thus, numerous alternative approaches to vaccine development are being tested, including live attenuated cold-passaged and temperature-sensitive mutants,<sup>111-113</sup> recombinant RSV virus with deletions of one or more virus proteins,<sup>114</sup> recombinant RSV expressing host cytokines in order to boost vaccine responses,<sup>115, 116</sup> vectored vaccines, and single virus protein subunit or peptide vaccines.<sup>117-119</sup> Likewise, a variety of adjuvants are being tested for their abilities to magnify the immunogenicity of vaccine preparations and to prevent vaccine-enhanced Th2-skewing, some of which include CpG oligonucleotides and other TLR ligands.<sup>120</sup> To date, many of these vaccines and adjuvants have been shown to be highly protective in mice, but few have progressed to human testing. At the time of writing, 18 RSV vaccines, adjuvants, or combination therapies are currently in clinical trial (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov</u>, search term: "RSV vaccine"). Therefore, a better understanding of how RSV interacts with the host, especially in terms of the aforementioned risk factors, must be achieved so that the road to RSV vaccine development is less replete with struggle.

#### Primary immune response to RSV (in mice & men)

Events during the first minutes and hours after viral infection are of paramount importance, not only in dictating the balance between viral replication and elimination but also in setting into motion the subsequent adaptive (acquired) immune response. In particular, cellular infiltrates and synthesized protein mediators must orchestrate a defense to clear the infection, while limiting injury to the surrounding healthy tissue. Knowledge of the early and late phases of RSV infection has been gained from animal studies and analysis of human respiratory secretions and autopsy specimens.

The most widely used animal models of RSV infection are inbred laboratory mouse strains, because of the ease of handling and housing, a wide variety of transgenic and knockout models, and the availability of reagents. However, they are semi-permissive hosts, requiring higher inoculum than humans to elicit symptomatic infection (10<sup>5</sup>-10<sup>7</sup> vs. 1000 PFU (plaque forming units)).<sup>121</sup> Their lung anatomy is much simpler and the clinical signs of illness in mice are rather nonspecific, such as weight loss, lethargy, and ruffled fur. While acute RSV infection can cause airway obstruction and airway hyperreactivity (AHR)<sup>122-125</sup> as in human infants, certain strains, such as C57BL/6J mice, do not induce AHR.<sup>93, 126</sup> Peak viral load in the lungs of mice is seen 4-5 days post-infection (dpi) but becomes undetectable by plaque assay 8 dpi.<sup>125, 127</sup>

#### Histopathology

RSV-induced lung pathology is characterized by bronchiolitis, mucosal and submucosal edema, epithelial cell (EC) desquamation, mucus hypersecretion, as well as monocyte and granulocyte infiltration.<sup>128</sup> The ECs, mucin, and immune cells along with the edema contribute to the dangerous obstruction of small airways, especially in infants. While the sloughing of ECs is generally considered to reflect necrosis, markers of apoptosis are abundant in RSV-infected epithelium.<sup>129, 130</sup> The cellular infiltrate, consisting mostly of alveolar macrophages and recruited monocytes, is generally peribronchiolar and often extending into the alveoli, while neutrophils are localized to the submucosa.<sup>128</sup>

#### Detection of RSV by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)

Host-viral interactions are initiated via host recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). This recognition occurs through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that are expressed on a wide array of innate immune cells including alveolar epithelial cells (AECs), dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and neutrophils. Several PRR families, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), and NOD-like receptors (NLRs), are involved in viral detection. TLRs are present on the cell membrane and in endosomes, while RIG-I helicases and NLRs are intracellular microbial sensors. The engagement of PRRs by PAMPs results in the activation of multiple signaling pathways and transcription factors such as NFkB and members of the interferon regulatory factor (IRF) family, which regulate the expression of inflammatory, immune, and antiviral genes that facilitate viral eradication.<sup>131</sup>

Membrane-bound TLRs implicated in the detection of RSV include TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, and TLR7.<sup>131</sup> TLR2 is expressed in heterodimeric complexes with TLR1 and TLR6 on the cell surface of immune cells and AECs, and recognizes a complex array of proteins (bacterial and viral).<sup>132-135</sup> While relatively little is known about TLR2 in the context of RSV infection, knock mouse studies have shown that RSV-induced TLR2/6 signaling promotes the production of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFa), IL-6, CCL2, and CCL5.136, 137 On the other hand, TLR4, which forms as a homodimer on cell surfaces, was the first PRR identified to play a role in RSV detection.<sup>138</sup> RSV-F protein ligation by TLR4/CD14 stimulates NFKB-mediated innate cytokine production.<sup>138</sup> In AECs, RSV-induced TLR4signaling increases TLR4 surface expression and stimulates production of IL-6 and IL-8.28, 139 Mice harboring a null mutation in the Tlr4 gene failed to induce IL-6 production in response to RSV, and exhibited reduced NK cell trafficking and function, such as decreased IL-12 production and impaired viral clearance compared to controls.<sup>138, 140</sup> Two human gene polymorphisms within the extracellular domain of TLR4 have been correlated with increased risk of severe RSV bronchiolitis, especially among high-risk infants.<sup>70, 141</sup> Experiments using human bronchial ECs expressing one of the SNPs found reduced translocation efficiency of TLR4 to the cell surface, resulting in decreased NFKB-driven cytokine production and type I IFNs in response to stimulation.<sup>142</sup> Conversely, in another study, TLR4 expression on blood monocytes was positively correlated with disease severity.<sup>29</sup>

TLR3 and TLR7 are expressed within intracellular compartments such as endosomes, where they detect double-stranded (ds) or single-stranded (ss) viral RNA, respectively.<sup>131</sup> Upon ligation of the dsRNA RSV replication intermediate, TLR3 recruits the adaptor protein TRIF, which activates IRF-3/NFκB driven production of IFNβ and the chemokines CCL5, IL-8, and CXCL10.<sup>143</sup> RSV infection has been shown to upregulate TLR3 expression in human lung fibroblasts and epithelial cells.<sup>143, 144</sup> While TLR3 did not affect viral clearance in mouse models of RSV infection, it is important in modulating an antiviral Th1 immune response.<sup>145</sup> *Tlr3* knockout (KO) mice developed a Th2-biased immune response upon RSV challenge, resulting in increased IL-5 and IL-13 production, mucus secretion, and eosinophil infiltration into the airways.<sup>145</sup> Similarly, TLR7 detects ssRNA, thus activating NFκB and IRF-7 signaling in a MyD88-dependent manner to mount host responses that minimize immunopathology. RSV-infected *Tlr7*-deficient mice experienced increased IL-4 production within the airways, in addition to IL-13 and IL-17, which promote AEC mucus secretion.<sup>146, 147</sup> Interestingly, DCs derived from *Tlr7*-deficient mice preferentially produced the Th17-promoting cytokine IL-23 at the expense of the Th1-promoting cytokine IL-12, likely causing the elevated Th17 response upon RSV infection.<sup>146</sup>

RLRs, expressed by cells such ECs and DCs, are intracellular PRRs that detect RSVderived RNA upon direct cell fusion. Retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) binds 5' triphosphate moieties on RNA, while melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA-5) preferentially recognizes long, stable dsRNA.131 These RLRs bind viral RNA with a conserved DEAD box RNA-binding helicase domain, followed by interaction of two Nterminal caspase-recruitment domains (CARDs) with the CARD domain of the mitochondrial membrane protein "IFNβ promoter stimulator 1" (IPS-1).<sup>148</sup> This interaction leads to dimer formation and subsequent activation of IKK $\alpha/\beta$ -dependent NF $\kappa$ B signaling and TBK-1-dependent phosphorylation of IRF-3 and IRF-7, which trigger transcription of type I IFNs.<sup>149</sup> RSV-infected *Ips1*-deficient mice, which are unable to signal via RLRs, produced very little IFNB, and exhibited a Th1 phenotype with heightened airway neutrophilia and reduced viral clearance.<sup>150</sup> RSV bronchiolitis has been shown to upregulate gene expression of several PRRs in infants, especially RIGI, compared to those with non-RSV-induced bronchiolitis. Additionally, these RSV-infected infants demonstrated a positive correlation between RIGI mRNA levels and viral load.<sup>151</sup> Finally, RSV NS1/2 proteins antagonize RLR signaling by blocking the interaction of RIG-I with IPS-1.152,153

NLRs are specialized intracellular cytoplasmic sensors that recognize a wide array of different PAMPS, including intracellular bacterial cell products and bacterial or viral nucleic acids.<sup>131</sup> One NLR implicated in RSV detection is NLRP3, yet the exact mechanism of interaction is unknown. Upon activation, NLRP3 recruits the adaptor protein ASC, forming large multi-protein complexes called inflammasomes, and leading to the processing and activation of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 through the cysteine protease caspase-1.<sup>154-156</sup> In one study, RSV infection in mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages induced TLR2/MyD88-dependent upregulation of pro-*Il1b* and *Nlrp3* genes.<sup>157</sup> When another NLR, NOD2, recognizes RSV RNA, it rapidly translocates to the mitochondrial surface to interact with

IPS-1, modulating IRF-3/NFκB-dependent IFN production.<sup>131</sup> The importance of NOD2 in RSV detection is evidenced by impaired viral clearance, increased weight loss, increased proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine production, and greater lung immunopathology in RSV-infected *Nod2*-deficient mice.<sup>158</sup> All together, these studies on TLRs, RLRs, and NODs illustrate the importance of PRRs in early detection of RSV and the development of robust innate immune responses to infection.

#### Innate cytokine production & immune cell recruitment

Upon RSV infection, AECs signal their distress by secreting a wide variety of proteins, most of which have been detected in lung tissue or bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of RSV-infected mice.<sup>7</sup> These cytokines and chemokines include: KC/CXCL1, MIG/CXCL9, IP-10/CXCL10, fractalkine/CX3CL1, MCP-1/CCL2, MIP-1 $\alpha$ /CCL3, MIP-1 $\beta$ /CCL4, RANTES/CCL5, IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ / $\beta$ , and IFN $\alpha$ / $\beta$ .<sup>121, 159, 160</sup> In addition, resident alveolar macrophages are a key source of CCL3, CCL5, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IFN $\alpha$  in mouse models of RSV infection.<sup>161-163</sup> Proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF $\alpha$  upregulate the expression of adhesion molecules, thereby facilitating the retention of recruited immune cells and promoting their activation. Levels of these innate proteins increase early during mouse infection, with BAL concentrations peaking at 24-48 hours post-infection.<sup>124, 125</sup> Concentrations of IL-6 in the BAL positively correlate with viral load and disease severity, suggesting it may promote pathology at the later stages of infection.<sup>125</sup> Controversy also surrounds the role of TNF $\alpha$  in the clearance of RSV, as there are indications that it contributes to viral clearance during the early stages of infection but promotes lung immunopathology later on.<sup>164-166</sup>

During the initial phase of RSV infection, the rich, rapidly induced mixture of innate proteins attracts an army of immune cells into the airways. In mice, neutrophils are recruited as early as 24 hours post-infection (hpi),<sup>95, 116, 122, 125, 167-169</sup> although the kinetics and magnitude of the response are RSV- and mouse-dependent.<sup>170</sup> Natural killer (NK) cells play a critical role in viral clearance during the early phase of RSV infection, with levels rising -2 dpi, peaking -3-4 dpi, and becoming undetectable by 8 dpi in mice.<sup>104, 116, 171, 172</sup> Macrophages are always the major cell type in the BAL of mice, and may be further upregulated by RSV infection, but the timing of recruitment varies by study.<sup>169</sup> In contrast, eosinophils generally represent a minor yet significant component of recruited immune cells in response to RSV,<sup>168, 173-175</sup> although some studies report no significant differences in their numbers between RSV-infected and control animals.<sup>20, 176, 177</sup>

While there is an early transient rise in neutrophils in RSV-infected mice, their recruitment is a predominant aspect of severe human RSV infection, making up 75-85% of the BAL.<sup>178, 179</sup> In a study on RSV-infected, mechanically ventilated infants, neutrophil numbers rose within the first few days of intubation and declined thereafter.<sup>178</sup> However, there were lower numbers of recruited neutrophils in the BAL fluid of pre-term infants in comparison to full-term infants. More variability has been seen in monocyte and lymphocyte proportions, perhaps due to differences in the time of sampling relative to the onset of symptoms.<sup>178, 179</sup> Eosinophils are detectable (<1% of BAL) in a minority of RSV-infected infants, although one study reported a subset of infants exhibiting asthma-attack-like characteristics, with ~3% eosinophils in BAL fluid.<sup>180</sup>

In RSV-infected mice, CD4<sup>+</sup> T "helper" lymphocyte recruitment begins early and plateaus ~4 dpi, while cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell numbers rise sharply around day 4.<sup>104, 116, 161, 169</sup> Numbers of both T cell subsets begin to decline ~8 dpi, but remain elevated in the lung through 20 dpi.<sup>7</sup> Lymphocyte recruitment coincides with a second peak in the production of certain chemokines, including eotaxin, CCL3, and CCL5.<sup>124, 125, 160</sup> At the peak of inflammation ~7 dpi, a dense peribronchiolar and perivascular infiltrate of macrophages, lymphocytes, and some neutrophils is present.<sup>124, 181, 182</sup> While T cells constitute a small fraction of BAL cells from severe RSV-infected infants (~2%), a significant increase in RSV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells does occur in comparison to uninfected controls.<sup>179, 183</sup> Interestingly, significant numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were reported in the alveolar infiltrate of an infant with non-fatal RSV,<sup>128</sup> suggesting a protective function of these cells, yet a second study of 9 fatal cases of RSV revealed a near absence of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells on autopsy.<sup>184</sup>

Impressive numbers of dendritic cells (DCs) are recruited to respiratory mucosal sites of both RSV-infected mice and humans. An increase of monocyte-derived, "conventional" DCs (cDCs) and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) occurs in the lungs and lung-draining lymph nodes (LDLN) of RSV-infected mice.<sup>185-187</sup> Similarly, a large influx of DCs is noted in nasal washes of RSV-infected infants, with decreases in both DC subsets in peripheral blood compared to healthy controls.<sup>188, 189</sup> These antigen-presenting cells (APCs) play an indispensable role in educating T cell maturation and differentiation, and in dictating the resultant immune environment within the lungs. However, under certain circumstances, DCs may be responsible for the inappropriate induction of aberrant Th2-skewed responses to RSV, implicating these APCs as unfortunate mediators of RSV immunopathology.

### Pulmonary DCs: inducers of innate & adaptive immunity

The lungs are continuously exposed to foreign threats, such as microbes, organic and inorganic dusts, man-made pollutants, as well as invading pathogens. As a result, a network of DCs serves to recognize these foreigners, promote immune tolerance to innocuous particles, and activate the adaptive immune response in the case of pathogens. While AECs and macrophages express PRRs, and can direct innate immunity through the production of inflammatory cytokines, DCs are special in that they transport pathogen-derived antigens to LDLN.<sup>190</sup> Once here, these sentinel DCs stimulate naïve and RSV-reactive memory T cells through antigen-presentation, co-stimulation, and cytokine production. Effector CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells then migrate to the lungs and clear virally-infected cells.<sup>191</sup> Thus, pulmonary DCs serve both the innate and adaptive arms of immunity.

At steady state, three distinct DC subsets reside in the lungs, all of which perform unique tasks upon viral infection. CD11c<sup>high</sup> CD103<sup>+</sup> Langerin<sup>+</sup> intraepithelial DCs, which express the E-cadherin-binding integrin CD103 in mice (CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs), intercalate with the epithelial lining of the respiratory tract and project their cellular processes into the airway lumen. CD11c<sup>high</sup> B220<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs, expressing the integrin CD11b (CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs), reside immediately below the basement membrane in the lamina propria. CD11b<sup>+</sup> and CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs are characterized as monocyte-derived/"conventional" DCs (cDCs), and correspond to the mDC1 (CD11c<sup>+</sup> CD1c<sup>+</sup>) and mDC2 (CD11c<sup>+</sup> CD141<sup>+</sup>) human subsets, respectively. Thirdly, CD11c<sup>dim</sup> CD11b<sup>-</sup> SiglecH<sup>+</sup> plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) are found at steady state conditions, though their precise anatomical location is unknown. When the lung is challenged with a foreign invader, such as RSV, additional CD11b<sup>+</sup> monocyte-derived cDCs (inflammatory DCs) are recruited into the conducting airways and lung parenchyma. These DCs are characterized by the surface expression of CD11b, CD11c, Fc epsilon receptor (FcERI), and the transiently expressed monocytic marker Ly6C.<sup>191</sup>

DCs reside in a functionally immature state in the periphery of the lung, but are poised to detect PAMPs such as viral nucleic acids and proteins. All lung DC subsets are capable of being infected by RSV *in vitro*,<sup>192, 193</sup> which results in their rapid maturation and the upregulation of both MHC class proteins and the co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80, CD83 and CD86.<sup>185, 194</sup> UV-inactivated virus failed to stimulate DC maturation in several *in vitro* studies,<sup>195, 196</sup> suggesting that a replicative virus is necessary for complete activation. Once infected, human monocyte-derived CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs produce the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12, TNFα, and IFNγ, and chemokines such as CCL2, CCL3, CCL5, CXCL8, and CXCL10.<sup>197, 198</sup> Additionally, RSV-infected mouse bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) produce IFNα and IFNβ, which are required for the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules.<sup>199</sup> Both human and mouse pDCs produce high levels of IFNα following *in vitro* RSV infection. <sup>193, 196</sup>

Upon RSV infection, the specialized immune functions of each DC subtype likely originate from maturation-induced differential PRR expression, surface protein expression, antigen processing, and T cell stimulation. The upregulation of surface expression of chemokine receptors CCR6 (ligands: CCL20, β-defensin) and CCR7 (ligands: CCL19, CCL21) on cDCs enables their transport of viral RNA and protein to LDLN for T cell presentation.<sup>191, 200</sup> Migration kinetics differ by cDC subset, as numbers of CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs within the lungs decrease rapidly in the first 24 hpi, while the influx of inflammatory DCs results in an increased number of CD11b+ DCs in the lungs by 7 dpi.<sup>201</sup> On the other hand, pDC numbers peak by 3 dpi and decrease below baseline by 8 dpi.<sup>185</sup> CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs are particularly efficient at the uptake of apoptotic epithelial cells, given their intimate proximity to the epithelium, and aided by their selective expression of TLR3, CD36, and the C-type lectin Clec9A.<sup>202</sup> These migratory CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs are more potent in stimulating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells through cross-presentation of antigens, natural (viruses)<sup>202</sup> and inorganic (labeled beads).<sup>203</sup> In contrast, CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs selectively express TLR2 and TLR7,<sup>202</sup> and are major producers of chemokines that attract effector cells to the lungs during infection.<sup>204, 205</sup> CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs preferentially activate CD4+ T cells in the context of severe influenza infection<sup>206</sup> whereas

directly infected CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs indicate proficiency in priming CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses.<sup>207, 208</sup> Less is known about DC specialization during RSV infection, although *ex vivo* co-culture experiments suggest that RSV-infected CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs and CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs process RSV antigen equally as well, and are capable of stimulating both CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.<sup>201</sup>

Despite the induction of DC maturation and the production of inflammatory innate cytokines, RSV reduces the capacity of DCs to stimulate naïve T cells and induce their proliferation.<sup>185, 193, 195, 209</sup> In one model, suppression of T cell activation is mediated by an unidentified soluble factor produced by RSV-infected DCs, in a dose-dependent manner, independently of IL-10, TGFB, or T regulatory cells (Tregs).<sup>195, 210</sup> This effect may be due to ligation of a combination of receptors to IFNa, IL-10 and IL-28.<sup>210</sup> In a second model, RSV infection of DCs disrupts proper immune synapse formation between DCs and naïve T cells, such that T cells fail to polarize their Golgi to the cell surface, resulting in impaired T cell stimulation and proliferation.<sup>209</sup> Studies have shown that these T cells subsequently entered an anergic state, becoming nonresponsive to proliferation signals such as IL-2 and anti-CD3 antibody treatment and producing decreased levels of IL-2, IL-4, IFNy, and TNFa.<sup>15, 195, 210</sup> This phenomenon was only observed in co-cultures where the DCs were infected with replication-competent virus, as naïve T cells cultured with DCs incubated with UVirradiated RSV showed no proliferation defects.<sup>15</sup> Similarly, memory T cells stimulated with RSV-infected DCs showed no defects in effector cytokine production or proliferation, demonstrating that RSV only interferes with naïve T cell stimulation.<sup>211</sup> Thus, perhaps a defect in the DC-T cell interaction contributes to less robust primary responses to RSV, increasing the likelihood of severe LRTI.

#### Immaturity of the infant immune system

While the immune system of neonates and young infants is capable of producing adult-like responses under certain conditions, most often there are quantitative or functional deficiencies in their innate and adaptive immune responses. Macrophage cytokine production is often attenuated in neonates and children as compared to adults, in part due to diminished expression or upregulation of PRRs. Neonatal DCs are reduced in frequency and differ in subset distribution, compared to adult DCs. These DCs show signs of poor antigen presentation and T cell stimulation, because of decreased expression of MHC molecules, costimulatory molecules, and inflammatory cytokines, particularly IL-12p70.<sup>212</sup>

Interestingly, neonatal T cells display extraordinary plasticity, ranging from unresponsive to stimuli that normally elicit strong adult T cell activity to highly reactive under the appropriate stimuli. For the most part, however, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are diminished in their capacity to produce both Th1 and Th2 cytokines especially IFNγ, which does not reach adult levels until around adolescence.<sup>213-215</sup> However, Th2 skewing is not clearly shown in human infections despite this low IFNγ production,<sup>212</sup> although it is observed in neonatal mouse and human responses to environmental allergens.<sup>216</sup> Overall, neonates are capable of mature cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) responses to virus.<sup>212</sup>

Neonatal B cell antibody production is often delayed in onset, decreased in peak titers, and diminished in duration.<sup>217, 218</sup> Additionally, infant B cells undergo little somatic hypermutation after antigen encounter,<sup>219</sup> resulting in an antibody repertoire that displays lower affinity and decreased heterogeneity.<sup>212</sup> After about the age of 2 years, most severe RSV LRTI is restricted to the immunocompromised, highlighting the immaturity of the immune system as a key factor in the frequency of LRTI in infants during primary RSV infection.

#### RSV-induced protective vs. pathologic immunity

Induction of antiviral immunity is a double-edge sword. On one side, a virus, particularly if cytopathogenic, must be rapidly cleared. Yet on the flip side, exuberant inflammatory immune responses can damage tissue, leading to systemic illness or local organ damage. Lung DCs can set in motion protective or pathologic RSV-induced immune responses depending on the cytokines they produce and their antigen-presenting interactions with T cells. The aforementioned DC subsets must work in synergy to promote efficient, swift viral clearance with minimal injury to by-standing tissue. Alas, studies point out pathological roles for certain DC subsets and T cells, highlighting the complexity of the immune response to RSV infection.

Although pDCs are poor APCs,<sup>196</sup> studies suggest that they are critical sources of IFNα, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and chemokines upon exposure to RSV. RSV-infected human pDCs isolated from peripheral blood secrete innate cytokines and large amounts of

IFN $\alpha$ .<sup>193</sup> In RSV-infected mice, a rise in pDC numbers appears to be protective, while depletion of pDCs prior to RSV infection results in increased viral replication, prolonged AHR, enhanced lung inflammation, and mucus hypersecretion.<sup>185, 196</sup> Additionally, T cells restimulated with anti-CD3 from infected, pDC-depleted mice produced increased mRNA and protein levels of Th2-associated cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, as well as the Th1 cytokine IFN $\gamma$ .<sup>185, 196</sup> This suggests that pDCs may play a role in regulating Th2-associated responses. However, as poor stimulators of T-cell proliferation and their specialized production of IFN $\alpha$ , pDCs seem best oriented to an early antiviral response than toward the induction of an adaptive during RSV infection.

As pulmonary cDCs are better equipped at stimulating CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during RSV infection, their role in mounting effective antiviral Th1 responses is key to successful viral clearance.<sup>190</sup> Viral reduction and the eventual eradication of RSV infection depends on the actions of activated T cells, however it is evident that both T cell subsets contribute to immunopathology.<sup>182</sup> <sup>220, 221</sup> Clinical illness was significantly reduced after the depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during RSV infection in mice, and was essentially absent after depletion of both T cell subsets.<sup>182</sup> In another study, transfer of RSV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) to RSV-infected animals resulted in rapid, yet dose-dependent viral clearance, but led to the development of increased lung pathology.<sup>220, 221</sup> Interestingly, while passive transfer of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells was associated with pronounced eosinophilia.<sup>220</sup> These data support the dual roles of T cells in viral clearance and pulmonary damage during RSV infection.

Alas, evidence suggests that some cDC subsets may contribute to the production of Th2 responses and lung immunopathology during RSV infection in mice. Mouse and human infant studies note an influx of monocyte-derived CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDCs into the airways and LDLN during RSV infection,<sup>185, 189, 199</sup> which may contribute to overall inflammation and AHR in both RSV and subsequent allergen challenges.<sup>187, 205, 222</sup> Blocking migration of CD11b<sup>+</sup> cDCs to the lungs or LDLN protected mice against RSV-induced immunopathology, resulting in more robust Th1 responses and enhanced viral clearance<sup>200, 223</sup> Similarly, the addition of monocyte-derived DCs increased Th2 responses and lung pathology RSV-infected mice.<sup>223-225</sup> Thus, the presence and relative number of cDCs within the lungs may direct pathological responses to RSV.

Given the dual capacity of DCs to promote and hinder antiviral innate and adaptive immune responses during RSV infection, questions emerge surrounding the intracellular mechanisms responsible for dictating DC function. From transporting viral antigen to LDLN, to the production of innate cytokines, DCs depend on RSV recognition via TLRs. One process that facilitates delivery of antigen to the endosomal TLRs (TLR3, TLR7) is macroautophagy, whereby cytosolic contents are enveloped in a double-walled membrane and delivered to endosomes. By utilizing a conserved pathway involved in cellular equilibrium to efficiently deliver intracellular pathogen-derived nucleic acids and proteins to endosomal compartments, DCs can promptly produce the necessary cytokines and stimulate reactive T cells via MHC-II presentation. Ultimately, DCs direct effective viral clearance, and reestablish immune system homeostasis.

#### Autophagy as an antiviral immune defense

Autophagy is an ancient intracellular membrane trafficking pathway whereby cytoplasmic material is sequestered within double-walled vesicles, which degrade upon fusion with lysosomes. Autophagy evolved as a mechanism by which unicellular organisms could survive periods of nutrient scarcity by reabsorbing macromolecules from autophagocytosed organelles and proteins.<sup>226</sup> Overall, autophagy maintains cellular metabolic equilibrium and promotes cell survival during physiological (aging, differentiation) and pathological (infection, degeneration, cancer) stress conditions.<sup>227</sup> Specifically, the molecular machinery of autophagosome formation plays critical roles in innate immunity, including the clearance of cytoplasmic pathogens, delivery of viral antigen to endosomal TLRs, and the loading of antigen onto MHC molecules for T-cell presentation.<sup>228-230</sup> Likewise, autophagy modulates immune cell function and inflammatory responses.<sup>231</sup> Lastly, signaling sensors of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, which activate the unfolded protein response (UPR) during pathogenic insult, can also activate autophagic flux in an attempt to restore cellular homeostasis via removal of damaged organelles (ER-phagy, mitophagy) and unfolded/misfolded proteins.<sup>232</sup> Collectively, the data suggest important immunomodulatory

roles for autophagy during viral infection, whereby it promotes innate immune responses, such as APC function in DCs,<sup>233</sup> as well as adaptive immune responses, such as T cell development and activation.<sup>234</sup>

#### Autophagosomes: initiation to maturation

The process of autophagosome formation is highly conserved among eukaryotic organisms, and the pathway was first elucidated in yeast studies.<sup>226</sup> A family of autophagyrelated (Atg) genes orchestrates the initiation, elongation/closure, and maturation of autophagosomes (Figure 1.2). Autophagy is initiated during starvation upon the inhibition of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and the activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), which phosphorylates Atg1/ULK1 (yeast/human) and causes the translocation of the Atg1/ULK1 complex to the ER.235, 236 While the primary source of autophagosomal membrane is thought to be the ER, some studies suggest that the membrane precursor can be from the mitochondria, the Golgi apparatus, the nuclear membrane, or even the plasma membrane.<sup>237</sup> The phosphorylated Atg1/ULK1 complex, serving as an initiation scaffold, activates the VPS34-containing class III phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K) complex located on the ER surface (VPS34-PI3K), which includes the class III PI3K VPS34, VPS15, Atg14/ATG14L, and Atg6/Beclin-1.<sup>235, 238</sup> The VPS34-PI3K complex then produces phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate (PIP3), which recruits DFCP1 and Atg18/WIPI family proteins that initiate the extension of source membrane into preautophagosomal structures termed omegasomes.<sup>239, 240</sup>

The elongation and closure of this double-walled membrane is dependent on two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems. One involves creation of the ATG5-ATG12 conjugate through actions of the E1-like ATG7 and the E2-like ATG10. This conjugate then forms a 2:2:2 complex with ATG16L1 on the outer membrane of autophagic precursors.<sup>241, 242</sup> Since the ATG5-ATG5-ATG16L1 complex dissociates from the membrane upon closure, its protein members are frequently used as markers for early autophagosome formation.<sup>243</sup> The second conjugation system, which requires ATG7 and the E2-like ATG3, cleaves and conjugates Atg8/LC3 with phosphatidylethanolamine (PE). The PE-conjugated Atg8 homologs, which in mammals are LC3A/B/C, GABARAP, GABARAPL1/2/3 (hereafter
referred to as LC3), are incorporated into the inner and outer membranes of the developing autophagosome.<sup>243</sup> As LC3-II (conjugated LC3) stably associates with completed autophagosomes, it is commonly used in microscopic analysis of autophagy progression.<sup>244</sup> Finally, the closed autophagosome matures upon fusion with acidic lysosomal compartments via the recruitment of the SNARE protein Syntaxin 17.<sup>245</sup> The hydrolase-rich environment within the now-formed autolysosome degrades the autophagosome contents, as well as the inner autophagosomal membrane.<sup>226, 245, 246</sup>



Figure 1.2: The life cycle of an autophagosome. (A) mTOR and AMPK regulate autophagy induction in mammals. In the presence of a stimulus, such as nutrient starvation or pathogen infection, ULK1 is phosphorylated and activates the VPS34-PI3K complex, which contains Beclin-1. These activated autophagy proteins associate with precursor membrane, often from the ER, to form an isolation membrane around general cytoplasmic content or cargo targeted to the phagophore by SLRs. (B) Elongation and shaping of the autophagosome are controlled by two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems producing: (1) ATG5/12/16L complexes and (2) PE-conjugated LC3-II, which is incorporated into both inner and outer autophagosomal membranes. Upon autophagosome closure, ATG5/12/16L and LC3 (delipidated by ATG4) are recycled. (C) Autophagic cargo, along with the inner membrane, is degraded upon maturation as the autophagosome fuses with an acidified lysosome.<sup>228, 247</sup>

#### Involvement of autophagy in cellular homeostasis

The physiologic functions of autophagy include: providing a cell-autonomous source of macromolecules and energy during times of cellular metabolic crisis or nutritional deprivation, prevention of cell death and senescence due to the accumulation of faulty organelles and large protein aggregates,<sup>248</sup> and serving as a cell death modality.<sup>249</sup> All cells rely on constitutive autophagy to carry out basal housekeeping, including removal of organelles, such as depolarized mitochondria, damaged from regular wear and tear.<sup>250</sup> Autophagy is also necessary for normal development, as in the case of hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) maintenance and function.<sup>251</sup> However, when these day-to-day activities do not proceed as a result of dysregulated or dysfunctional autophagy, disease phenotypes emerge.<sup>252</sup> In addition, studies have found intersections between autophagy and immunity.<sup>252</sup>

Upon nutrient starvation, several events need to occur before autophagosome initiation can proceed. In the resting state, TAK1-binding proteins (TABs) 2 and 3 bind Beclin-1 and repress its activity.<sup>253, 254</sup> However, during starvation, ULK1-mediated activation of VPS34-PI3K is accomplished by the phosphorylation and release of Beclin-1 from its TAB inhibitors. BECN1-regulated autophagy protein 1 (AMBRA1), also activated by ULK1, along with Beclin-1, recruits E3 ubiquitin ligase TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6). TRAF6 then ubiquitinates and stabilizes Beclin-1 and ULK1,<sup>255, 256</sup> enabling the progression of autophagosome formation.

The requirement for autophagy in nutrient homeostasis is dramatically recognized in *Atg5<sup>-/-</sup>* or *Atg7<sup>-/-</sup>* neonatal mice. Although pups are born with few physical defects and in predicted Mendelian ratios, these autophagy-defective mice die within 24 hours after birth.<sup>257, 258</sup> Force-feeding can prolong survival, and analysis of metabolites confirms that these neonates suffer from systemic amino-acid deficiency and decreased glucose levels.<sup>257, 258</sup> Interestingly, in cultured wild-type (WT) hepatocytes, protein degradation increases by 3% total protein/hour upon starvation, with most of the increase attributable to autophagy.<sup>257, 259</sup> Therefore, under periods of acute starvation, autophagy is an indispensable stress response capable of temporarily restoring energy balance until nutrients are once again plentiful.

Sensing nutritional deficiency due to competition by microbial invasion is likely one ancestral danger signal that eukaryotes used to detect and eliminate pathogens through autophagy. In support of this concept, signaling downstream of amino acid starvation has been associated with antimicrobial autophagy in response to bacterial<sup>260</sup> and viral infection<sup>261</sup> in modern day immune cells. Other immune-sensing systems, such as PRR signaling upon recognition of PAMPs and damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMPs), also integrate with autophagy. For example, TLR4 signaling leads to ubiquitylation of Atg1/Beclin-1 by the TRAF6,<sup>262</sup> releasing Beclin-1 from its inhibitor Bcl-2. TRAF6 also activates ULK1 through ubiquitylation<sup>255</sup> and thereby controls two key pathways that lead to autophagy. DAMPs, such as DNA complexes,<sup>263</sup> ATP,<sup>264</sup> and high-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1),<sup>265</sup> also activate autophagy. HMGB1 de-represses Beclin-1 by displacing Bcl-2, and can also activate autophagy extracellularly by interacting with its cell surface receptor RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end products).<sup>265</sup> Signaling through the IL-1 receptor<sup>266</sup> and the IFN $\gamma$  receptor<sup>267-269</sup> by IL-1 and IFN $\gamma$  also trigger autophagy in macrophages through interaction with TRAF6 or Beclin-1, respectively. In contrast, the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-13 can inhibit autophagy under certain circumstances.<sup>268</sup>, <sup>270, 271</sup> These examples illustrate the complex integration of autophagy with PRR and cytokine receptor signaling.

## Role of autophagy in human disease

Autophagy and autophagy genes have been implicated in a broad spectrum of human health issues including neurodegeneration,<sup>272-274</sup> cancer,<sup>275, 276</sup> and inflammation and immunity.<sup>241</sup> Two groups have identified novel mutations in *WDR45/WIP14*, a mammalian homologue of yeast Atg18, in patients with SENDA (static encephalopathy of childhood with neurodegeneration in adulthood).<sup>277, 278</sup> In lymphoblastoid cell lines derived from SENDA patients, researchers noted a severe reduction in WIP14 protein expression and the accumulation of aberrant autophagic ATG9A<sup>+</sup>LC3<sup>+</sup> (early stage) structures.<sup>278</sup> Amongst the many genes implicated in Parkinson's disease pathogenesis, a progressive neurodegenerative disorder, *PARK2/Parkin* and *PARK6/PINK1* lead to autosomal recessive or spontaneous juvenile-onset Parkinson's disease.<sup>279, 280</sup> PINK1 is a mitochondria-associated protein kinase that acts upstream of Parkin, an E3 ligase implicated in selective autophagy of mitochondria, or mitophagy.<sup>281, 282</sup> Consistent with this finding, excessive mitochondrial damage has been linked to Parkinson's disease,<sup>283</sup> suggesting that at least some forms of Parkinson's disease are caused by the lack of autophagy to clear these accumulated, defective organelles.

A connection between autophagy and cancer has long been proposed. Early on in cancer development, autophagy likely plays a preventive role, but once a tumor develops, the cancer cells usurp autophagy for their own cytoprotection.<sup>284, 285</sup> A key role for autophagy in controlling the unregulated cell growth of tumor development has been shown through studies of *Atg1/BECN1*. The protein Atg1/Beclin-1 interacts with the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2, which prevents Bax-dependent release of mitochondrial cytochrome c.<sup>286</sup> Patients with a monoallelic deletion of *BECN1* have an increased predisposition for human breast, ovarian, prostate, and colorectal cancers, as well as a poorer prognosis.<sup>252</sup> Mutations in other autophagy proteins, such as ATG5 and UVRAG, are also correlated with the development of human cancers.<sup>252</sup>

Finally, given the evidence in support of cells applying autophagic machinery to promote antimicrobial responses, it is of no surprise that immune-mediated diseases have also been associated with defective autophagy function. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) on non-synonymous SNPs have linked ATG16L1 variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease, 287, 288 a major type of inflammatory bowel disease that can affect any portion of the digestive tract. The ATG16L1 protein possesses a C-terminal WD repeat domain, within which or immediately upstream lies the Crohn's disease-associated mutation, T300A (Ala197Thr). However, studies have shown that this WD domain is not essential for ATG16L1's autophagic activity.241, 289, 290 While the exact contribution of the ATG16L1 T300A mutation to human Crohn's disease pathogenesis has yet to be clarified, Atg1611 mutant mouse studies suggest some possibilities. Atg16l1-deficient macrophages produced increased levels of the inflammatory cytokine IL-1ß and IL-18 upon lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation.<sup>290</sup> On the other hand, Atg16l1 hypomorphic mice exhibited aberrant granule formation and ER stress in Paneth cells, which produce antimicrobial products and constitute a cardinal component of the intestinal stem cell niche.<sup>291</sup> Another report stated that ATG16L1 possesses an immunosuppressive role during intestinal bacterial infection.<sup>292</sup> Apart from ATG16L, other autophagy-related proteins, including IRGM (immunity-related GTPase M) protein,<sup>293, 294</sup> NOD2,<sup>295, 296</sup> autophagy-targeting factor SMURF1,<sup>297</sup> and ULK1<sup>298</sup> are reported to contribute to Crohn's disease. However, as some of these proteins hold other biological roles outside of promoting autophagy, it remains uncertain whether they relate to Crohn's disease pathogenesis via autophagy modulation.<sup>252</sup> Interestingly, population genetic analyses have also linked an IRGM gene variant (IRGM-261T) with

susceptibility to tuberculosis<sup>299</sup> and *IRGM* polymorphisms to systemic lupus erythematous (SLE).<sup>300</sup> Moreover, GWASs have linked *ATG5* variants with the development of asthma<sup>301, 302</sup> and a greater risk of SLE.<sup>303, 304</sup> Thus, autophagy shows clinical relevance as a result of various genetic connections to neurodegenerative, cancerous, immunological, and inflammatory disorders.

## Host autophagy during infection by intracellular pathogens

The antimicrobial functions of autophagy provide a series of barriers against invading microorganisms. This includes the process of xenophagy, the selective degradation of intracellular pathogens in double-membrane autophagosomes.<sup>305</sup> Secondly, LC3-associated phagocytosis (LAP), which engages autophagic machinery, aids in expediting the degradation of bacterium and other extracellular objects such as TLR-ligand-coated particles.<sup>306</sup> LAP phagosomes are matured through the autophagic pathway, using Beclin-1-VPS34 complexes and LC3 conjugation, resulting in robust phagolysosomes.<sup>306-308</sup> Thirdly, a group of autophagic adaptors, known as sequestosome-1 receptors (SLRs), bind ubiquitinated bacteria and deliver them to autophagosomes via interactions with inner membrane-bound LC3.<sup>309-312</sup> Lastly, autophagy-associated factors can directly bind target microbial proteins. For example, ATG5 binds the *Shigella spp.* surface protein, VirG,<sup>313</sup> and along with ubiquitylation and SLR activity,<sup>309, 314</sup> herds the bacteria to autophagosomes for elimination.

Bacteria may also counteract or seize control over host autophagic machinery for their own benefit, highlighting the importance of autophagy in antibacterial defense. These inhibitory mechanisms include the expression of proteins that interfere with autophagosomal targeting, formation, or maturation. For example, *Listeria* proteins AktA and InIK interfere with host ubiquitin tags,<sup>310, 315</sup> while *Shigella* protein IcsB masks bacterial epitopes,<sup>316</sup> all of which assist the bacteria in evading recognition by autophagic machinery. *Salmonella* spp. deubiquitinase SseL cleaves off ubiquitin tags to thwart SLR-mediated targeting to nascent autophagosomes.<sup>317</sup> Some bacteria directly "attack" autophagy proteins, such as the *Legionella* virulence factor RavZ, which causes irreversible deconjugation of Atg8 homologs.<sup>318</sup> Lastly, captured *Listeria* blocks autophagosomal acidification, and thus maturation, via the pore-forming protein listeriolysin O.<sup>319</sup> Likewise, host autophagy is important in curbing viral load, given the number of viral proteins that interfere with or utilize autophagic machinery for their own replication. The herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) virulence factor ICP34.5,<sup>320</sup> influenza virus M2 protein,<sup>321</sup> HIV protein Nef,<sup>322</sup> murine γ-herpesvirus 68 M11 (BCL2 homologue),<sup>323</sup> and KSHV vBcl-2<sup>324</sup> all target Beclin-1 to either block autophagy or inhibit autophagosomal maturation via lysosomal fusion. HIV-1 Nef, hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS3, and measles virus Mev3 interact with IRGM, which has consequences yet to be investigated.<sup>325</sup> Interestingly, some viruses utilize the autophagosomal machinery to optimize their yield, including HCV, Dengue virus, poliovirus, Coxsackie B virus, and HIV.<sup>326</sup> For example, poliovirus tethers together autophagosomes, which serve as scaffolds for RNA replication and contribute to virion egress once viral particles within the cell reach a threshold level.<sup>327</sup>

## Autophagic regulation of immune cell function

Autophagy functions as a bulk transporter of proteins from the cytoplasm into the lumen of antigen-processing compartments. As such, autophagy facilitates several aspects of DC maturation in response to pathogen detection. One, the process helps load cytosolic peptides onto MHC-I and MHC-II proteins, which are subsequently presented to CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, respectively. Second, the delivery of cytoplasmic contents to endosomal TLRs enables surveillance of the intracellular environment, thereby facilitating the upregulation of innate cytokine production, MHC-I/II expression, and co-stimulatory molecule expression that are vital to T cell activation during antigen presentation. The process of autophagy may be especially critical to the immediate detection of RSV, since the virus enters cells via nonreceptor-mediated endosomes.<sup>7</sup>

A deficiency of autophagy in DCs can result in altered antigen-presentation in the context of MHC-I/II, leading to pathological T cell responses. In autophagy-deficient mice, both positive and negative selection of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells but not CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were affected.<sup>328</sup> Researchers transplanted *Atg5*-deficient thymi into WT mice, causing an infiltration of autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into multiple organs and the induction of autoimmune colitis.<sup>328</sup> This suggests that autophagy-enhanced MHC class II presentation has a role in thymic T cell selection. Other studies have shown that autophagy-dependent antigen presentation is

defective in DCs from patients with Crohn's disease carrying the *ATG16L1* or *NOD2* disease risk variants.<sup>329</sup> With regard to viral infection, DC presentation of the Epstein Barr virus (EBV)-encoded nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA1), a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell epitope found in healthy EBV carriers, requires autophagy.<sup>330, 331</sup> Studies by our laboratory have demonstrated that DCs upregulate autophagosome formation upon RSV detection, and that autophagy facilitates DC maturation, cytokine production, and antigen presentation, and is thus required to stimulate IFN $\gamma$  from RSV-reactive T cells.<sup>233</sup> The contribution of autophagy to MHC-I cross presentation is not fully understood, but it may contribute to the delivery of proteasome-degraded peptides to MHC-I-containing compartments.<sup>332, 333</sup> Of note, inhibition of *ATG16L* and *IRGM* expression in human DCs leads to hyperstable interactions with T cells and increases T cell activation.<sup>334</sup> Thus, while autophagy initially promotes antigen processing, at later stages it may help downregulate the response, such as through the disassembly of immunological synapses.<sup>334</sup>

In addition to sequestering viral peptides for presentation to T cells, the transport of viral nucleic acids to endosomal TLRs via autophagy induces pro-inflammatory cytokine production in response to infection. This was first established in pDCs, where ATG5 was necessary to enhance TLR7-dependent IFNa production in response to vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV).335 Human pDC studies also demonstrated an autophagy-dependent IFNa production in response to HIV-1<sup>336</sup> and the paramyxovirus Simian virus 5.<sup>337</sup> Interestingly, macrophages or DCs treated with TLR ligands were reported to upregulate autophagosome formation, suggesting cooperation between TLRs and autophagic proteins in response to PAMPs. The upregulation of autophagy in macrophages was noted in response to agonists of TLR1/2, TLR3, TLR4, or TLR7.338 Treatment of M. tuberculosis-infected macrophages with TLR4 or TLR7 ligands increased bacterial killing, suggesting that TLR-induced autophagy promotes intracellular pathogen clearance.<sup>338</sup> The upregulation of autophagy in advance of microbial invasion promotes the expression and the prompt delivery of antimicrobial peptides to lysosomes, and autophagosomal proteins to forming phagophores, thereby expediting the eventual acidification of pathogen-laden autophagosomes.<sup>339-341</sup> Therefore, enhanced recruitment of autophagy in response to TLR signaling positively modulates DC antigen presentation and cytokine production in response to antimicrobial infection.<sup>342, 343</sup>

Aside from its role in APC function, autophagy affects both the homeostasis and activity of effector cells involved in adaptive immunity, including T cells and B cells. After exiting the thymus, naïve T cells rely on autophagy and mitochondrial content reduction for their maturation.<sup>344</sup> Calcium ions sequestered in ER-like structures have been observed in *ATG7*-deficient T cells, suggesting the necessity of autophagy for ER maintenance.<sup>345</sup> Autophagy is also pro-survival in activated T cells by counteracting the pro-apoptotic function of CD95 (FAS) and CD95L (FASL), which are upregulated by TCR (T cell receptor) stimulation.<sup>346</sup> While autophagy may not be important for the survival of most mature B cells,<sup>347</sup> lymphoid precursor stages are affected by the absence of autophagy.<sup>348</sup> Interestingly, the lack of autophagy leads to excessive immunoglobulin secretion by plasma cells, indicating the importance of ER maintenance during conditions of high secretory demand.<sup>349</sup> Autophagy is also important for the preservation of the bone marrow plasma cell pool, which is relevant for long-lived humoral immunity.<sup>349</sup> Overall, autophagy plays crucial functions in both innate and adaptive immunity via influences on immune cell function.

## Modulation of inflammation by autophagy

The recognition of autophagy's anti-inflammatory functions stemmed from the observed increase in IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 production in *Atg16l1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice with Crohn's disease. <sup>298, 300</sup> Several convergent reports show that autophagy has a negative role in inflammasome activation,<sup>350, 351</sup> likely explaining the observed cytokine profile in *Atg16l1*-deficient mice. Under sterile conditions, autophagy clears the cytoplasm of debris, protein aggregates, and defective organelles that could endogenously activate inflammasomes. Yet if autophagy is blocked, this leads to the accumulation of depolarized mitochondria, which leak inflammasome agonists such as mitDNA and reactive oxygen species (ROS). <sup>350, 351</sup> Studies with *Atg5*<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages have demonstrated how ROS in autophagy-defective cells activates both the inflammasome and the calpain pathways (protease which cleaves pro-IL-1 $\alpha$ ) that lead to the excess production of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-1 $\alpha$ , respectively. In the context of *M. tuberculosis* infection, this excess of IL-1 $\alpha$  leads to magnified and prolonged Th17 cell responses, which contribute to lung tissue damage in mice.<sup>352</sup> However, during influenza A viral infection, the removal of damaged mitochondria is not passive. A NOS2-receptor-

interacting serine/threonine protein kinase 2 (RIPK2) pathway activates ULK1 to maintain or increase mitophagy, thereby reducing the set point of inflammasomal activation.<sup>353</sup> Importantly, autophagy may downregulate prolonged inflammasome activity by removing aggregated inflammasomal components.<sup>256</sup> Lastly, autophagy factors can degrade proinflammatory signaling factors, such as BCL-10 complexes<sup>354</sup> to reduce NFκB activation in antigen-activated T cells.<sup>355</sup> Therefore, basal autophagy protects cells from inadvertent inflammation via the elimination of microorganisms and endogenous irritants.

## Interactions between ER-stress, autophagy, & viruses

Secreted and transmembrane proteins fold and mature in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). However, ER homeostasis can be perturbed by physiological and pathological insults such as high protein demand, viral infections, environmental toxins, inflammatory cytokines, and mutant protein expression, all of which lead to the accumulation of mis- and unfolded proteins. Three ER-bound proteins monitor conditions in the ER lumen, sensing whether there is an insufficiency in protein folding capacity or a depletion of ER calcium gradient: inositol-requiring protein 1 $\alpha$  (IRE1 $\alpha$ ), activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), and protein kinase-like ER kinase (PERK). These trigger the unfolded protein response (UPR), an adaptive response aimed at restoring ER balance by three mechanisms: transcription of genes to increase folding capacity, transient reduction in protein translation, and ER-associated degradation (ERAD). In the case of unresolvable, chronic ER stress, the UPR initiates programmed cell death.<sup>356, 357</sup>

ERAD easily removes and degrades accumulated, soluble proteins via the proteasome, but its capacity is overwhelmed by protein aggregates and damaged organelles that often result during ER stress. <sup>358</sup> In such cases, the UPR has been shown to activate autophagy to mediate cellular survival.<sup>358-360</sup> For example neuroblastoma cells treated with ER stressors markedly induced the formation of autophagosomes, as assessed by microscopy, while inhibiting autophagy rendered cells vulnerable to upregulated ER stress.<sup>359</sup> Most recently, a microarray analysis of colon cancer cells subjected to ER stress showed the transcriptional upregulation of autophagy receptor genes SQSTMI/p62, NRI, and BNIP3L/NIX.<sup>358</sup> SQSTMI/p62 and NBR1 are ubiquitin-binding proteins with an LC3

interacting region (LIR), which targets ubiquitinated substrates to the autophagosome.<sup>361, 362</sup> BNIP3L/NIX is an adapter for the removal of damaged/depolarized mitochondria,<sup>363</sup> so the data indicate a role for mitophagy in protecting cells during ER stress by limiting apoptosis. IRE1 $\alpha$ , the most conserved, sole branch in lower eukaryotes,<sup>364</sup> is consistently observed as a major regulator of this UPR-induced autophagic response.<sup>358, 359</sup> Of note, IRE1 $\alpha$ 's ribonuclease activity unconventionally splices an intron from mRNA encoding XBP1, which is translated into XBP1s, a transcription factor that mediates downstream IRE1 $\alpha$  signaling.<sup>356</sup>

Viruses cause ER disequilibrium as well as hijack the UPR to their advantage, in congruence with their ability to commandeer the autophagy pathway. For example, HCV, poliovirus, human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), and HSV-I strictly depend on the ER for viral assembly and budding,<sup>365</sup> and thus are able to perturb host ER replication complexes, and ER membrane for source-membrane.<sup>366</sup> Viral proteins can induce ER stress via their competition for ER-mediated glycosylation, such as during influenza A virus, hepatitis virus, and Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) infection.<sup>367-369</sup> In addition, the depolarization of ER-calcium differentials by viral viroporin proteins, such as the rotavirus NSP4 protein<sup>370</sup> and picornavirus 2B protein,<sup>371</sup> can trigger ER stress. Recently, RSV infection has been shown to induce IRE-1 $\alpha$  and ATF6 signaling, while IRE-1 $\alpha$  inhibition enhanced viral replication.<sup>372</sup>

As discussed, autophagy is critical in maintaining cellular equilibrium and mediating stressor-induced inflammatory and immune responses, such as during RSV infection. The fascinating relationships between autophagy, the UPR, and viral immunity are further intertwined when sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), a histone/protein deacetylase, is considered. Researchers have reported that three ATG proteins (ATG5, ATG7, ATG8/LC3) are deacetylated and activated by SIRT1.<sup>373</sup> Therefore, given the significance of DCs in dictating robust antiviral immune responses, and autophagy's crucial role in trafficking viral antigens to endosomal PAMPs, the exploration of SIRT1 activity within DCs is exceptionally warranted to better understand RSV-induced immunity.

### Sirtuin 1: a regulator of immune responses

Sirtuins (SIRTs) are mammalian homologues to the yeast protein Sir2,<sup>374</sup> and were originally described as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD<sup>+</sup>)-dependent type III

histone deacetylases (HDACs). The deacetylation reaction converts NAD<sup>+</sup> into nicotinamide (NAM), a feedback inhibitor, and generates 2'-O-acetyl-ADP-ribose and a deacetylated protein substrate.<sup>375</sup> However, several sirtuins are now known to perform additional catalytic functions, including deacylation, demalonylation, and desuccinylation (Table 1.1). Phylogenetic analysis reveals that the 7 mammalian sirtuins can be divided into four classes: Class I, SIRT1-SIRT3; Class II, SIRT4; Class III, SIRT5; and finally Class IV, SIRT6-7.<sup>374</sup> While all sirtuins share a ~30 kDa core deacetylase domain, their N- and C-termini vary as well as their subcellular localization, protein targets, and regulatory functions (Table 1.1).

SIRT	Class	Localization	Activity	Examples of Targets	Example Regulatory Functions
SIRT1	Ι	Nucleus Cytosol	Deacetylation	PGC1α, FOXOs, p53, NFκB, HIF1α	Cancer, metabolism, inflammation, neurological
SIRT2	Ι	Nucleus Cytosol	Deacetylation	Tubulin, PEPCK, FOXO1, PAR3	Cell cycle, cancer, myelination
SIRT3	Ι	Mitochondria	Deacetylation Decrotonylation	LCAD, HMGCS2, GDH, SOD2, OXPHOS complexes	FA oxidation, antioxidant defense
SIRT4	II	Mitochondria	ADP- ribosylation Deacetylation	GDH, ΡΡΑRα, NFκB, MCD, Caspase 3/7	FA oxidation suppression, insulin secretion
SIRT5	III	Nucleus Mitochondria Cytosol	Desuccinylation Demalonylation Deglutarylation	CPS1, SOD1, HMGCS2, SDH	Urea cycle, neurological
SIRT6	IV	Nucleus Cytosol	ADP- ribosylation Deacetylation Deacylation	H3K9, H3K56, CtIP, GCN5, PARP1	Metabolism, inflammation, genome stability
SIRT7	IV	Nucleolus	Deacetylation	р53, Н3К18, РАF53, NPM1, GABP-в1	Ribosomal DNA transcription

Table 1.1: Properties and functions of mammalian sirtuins. CPS1, carbamoyl phosphate synthetase 1; CtIP, CtBP-interacting protein; FOXO, forkhead box O; GABP- $\beta$ 1, GA binding protein  $\beta$ 1 subunit; GCN5, histone acetyltransferase GCN5; GDH, glutamate dehydrogenase; HIF1 $\alpha$ , hypoxiainducible factor 1 $\alpha$ ; HMGCS2, 3-hydroxy- 3-methylglutaryl CoA synthase 2; LCAD, long-chain acyl CoA dehydrogenase; MCD, malonyl CoA decarboxylase; NF $\kappa$ B, nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B; NPM1, nucleolar phosphoprotein B23; OXPHOS, oxidative phosphorylation; PAF53, polymerase-associated factor 53; PAR3, partitioning defective 3 homologue; PARP1, poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase 1; PEPCK, phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase; PGC1 $\alpha$ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\gamma$  co-activator 1 $\alpha$ ; PPAR $\alpha$ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha; SDH, succinate dehydrogenase; SOD1,2, superoxide dismutase 1,2. <sup>376-378</sup> The most studied sirtuin, SIRT1, was first noted to deacetylate histones, but thereafter shown to possess a wide array of targets, including p53 and NFKB.<sup>379</sup> It is a ubiquitous protein in the body, and expressed in neurons, heart, liver, kidney, blood and spleen, for example. SIRT1 impacts many areas of biology and pathophysiology (Figure 1.3). Like autophagy, it is induced in terms of expression and activity by nutrient deficiency,<sup>380</sup> critical during cell stress survival,<sup>381-383</sup> and implicated in various human health disorders.<sup>384-<sup>386</sup> In addition, recent studies have shown SIRT1 to regulate aspects of ER stress, including the UPR.<sup>387-389</sup> While SIRT1 influences immunity by regulating processes such as lymphocyte activation, T-cell proliferation and differentiation, and macrophage cytokine secretion,<sup>390</sup> its role in DCs is not well understood. This knowledge gap regarding the role of SIRT1 in DC function, and subsequent antiviral immune responses, prompted the studies discussed in this dissertation. Given the central role SIRT1 plays in numerous pathways, and therefore various disease processes, much effort has been directed at developing SIRT1 activators and inhibitors.</sup>



Figure 1.3: Sirtuin 1 – complex roles, many targets. SIRT1 interacts with a plethora of pathways and health-relevant processes including: genomic stability, stress responses, cellular development, metabolism, circadian rhythm, cardiovascular disease, cancer, neurodegeneration, anxiety control, inflammation, and immunity. <sup>377, 390-393</sup>

## Pro-survival role of SIRT1 during stress responses

During cellular disturbances-including starvation, hypoxia, ER stress, genomic stress, oxidation, and inflammation-SIRT1 expression and activity are upregulated to facilitate the activation of necessary pro-survival pathways. The breadth of SIRT1 targets contributes to the complexity of the protein's role during different stress conditions, as in the case of autophagy induction. SIRT1 interaction with components of the autophagosomal machinery has been shown by co-immunoprecipitation of SIRT1 with ATG proteins.<sup>373</sup> Interestingly, global Sirt1-1- mice resemble Atq5-1- (autophagy defective) mice in phenotype, including the accumulation of damaged organelles in the cytoplasm, disruption of energy homeostasis, and early perinatal mortality.<sup>373</sup> Aside from direct deacetylation, SIRT1 can indirectly activate autophagy. For example, SIRT1 negatively regulates mTOR, which represses autophagy during nutrient-rich conditions, through the TSC1/2 complex.<sup>394</sup> Studies have also shown that SIRT1 mediates mTOR repression and autophagy formation during oxidative stress in embryonic stem cells.<sup>382</sup> In addition, nutrient surveillance by SIRT1 is dependent on various FOXO transcription factors, which sense insulin signaling and regulate longevity in lower organisms.<sup>377, 379</sup> For example, SIRT1 deacetylation of FOXO mediates starvation-induced autophagy in cardiomyocytes.<sup>390</sup> Lastly, SIRT1 promotes autophagy in response to toxins, such as in the case of fluoride-induced ER stress in ameloblasts.383

Under hypoxic conditions, SIRT1 induces hypoxia-inducible factor  $2\alpha$  (HIF2 $\alpha$ ) activity by direct deacetylation to promote cell survival.<sup>395</sup> However, SIRT1 inhibits the related factor HIF1 $\alpha$  by deacetylating at K674, blocking its association with p300, and thus limiting cell proliferation during hypoxia.<sup>396</sup> Furthermore, SIRT1 differentially regulates the transcriptional activities of HIF1 $\alpha$  and HIF2 $\alpha$  in a cancer cell-type dependent manner.<sup>397</sup> Together, these physiological responses illustrate how changing levels of NAD<sup>+</sup> and related metabolites during hypoxia can regulate cellular responses through SIRT1 to preserve energy homeostasis.

In an effort to preserve cell function, SIRT1 can also coordinate multiple stress response pathways simultaneously. Following a heat or protein aggregation challenge, SIRT1 promotes transcription of heat shock response (HSR) genes via direct deacetylation of heat shock factor protein 1 (Hsf1).<sup>398</sup> Yeast studies have shown that the HSR and the UPR participate in a stress response network,<sup>399, 400</sup> and subsequent work has shown that activation of the HSR by the UPR is facilitated by Sir2 (yeast homolog of SIRT1).<sup>401</sup> Specifically, Sir2 was essential for HSR- and UPR-induced Hsf1 activation, and excess Sir2 compensated for UPR-dependent Hsf1 activation in UPR-defective yeast strains.<sup>401</sup> Likewise, while Sir2 was upregulated by the UPR, it also served as negative feedback to prevent the deadly consequences of chronic UPR.<sup>401</sup> Congruently, SIRT1 has been associated with the UPR in mammalian models, whereby it deacetylates XBP1s<sup>387</sup> to curb UPR-induced cell apoptosis and ER-stress mediated liver dysfunction.<sup>388, 389</sup>

While much research since SIRT1's discovery has been focused on its non-histone targets, the significance of SIRT1 in mediating genomic stability is well evidenced during hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell (HSPC) maintenance. Using bone marrow specific *Sirt1*-ablated mice, researchers observed aberrant HSPC expansion under 5-Fluorouracil-induced hematopoietic stress, which was associated with genomic instability, the accumulation of DNA damage, and the eventual loss of long-term progenitor populations. Likewise, SIRT1 was shown to bind the *Hox9* gene and deacetylate H4K16, thus promoting polycomb-specific repressive histone modifications. Together, these findings demonstrate two interconnected roles for SIRT1 in HSPC homeostasis, both via epigenetic regulation of a key developmental gene and by promoting genomic stability in adult stem cells.<sup>402</sup>

Additionally, SIRT1 possesses antioxidant and anti-inflammatory functions. For example, SIRT1-targeted DNA repair factor KU70 promotes survival by preventing BCL-2 associated X protein (BAX) from entering the mitochondria to activate oxidative stress-induced apoptosis.<sup>403</sup> SIRT1 deacetylation of FOXO1, FOXO3, and FOXO4 induces cell cycle arrest and resistance, while inhibiting apoptosis, during oxidative stress.<sup>404-406</sup> In starved mouse astrocytes, SIRT1 upregulation increased the expression of antioxidant enzymes (superoxide dismutase, catalase) in a FOXO4-dependent manner and suppressed the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines.<sup>407</sup> Interestingly, while SIRT1 activity rises during acute inflammation, the protein plays dual regulatory roles. The deacetylation of the RelA/p65 subunit of NF $\kappa$ B<sup>408</sup> by SIRT1 leads to the transcriptional repression of NF $\kappa$ B-activated inflammatory cytokine expression,<sup>409</sup> while SIRT1 concurrently stimulates anti-

inflammatory gene expression by targeting RelB.<sup>409</sup> In contrast, SIRT1 activity diminishes during prolonged inflammation, which may explain the steady hyperactivation of NF $\kappa$ B in chronic inflammatory diseases such as obesity, atherosclerosis, diabetes, and COPD.<sup>410</sup>

## Pleiotropic effects of SIRT1 on age-related diseases

As of now, there are few identified *SIRT1* polymorphisms associated with human disease, all of which are related to metabolism. Three *SIRT1* SNPs has been associated with differences in whole-body energy expenditure in Finnish subjects.<sup>411</sup> Recently, a study reported a link between *SIRT1* gene polymorphisms and obesity in children.<sup>385</sup> Finally, multiple family members affected by type 2 diabetes were found to carry a SIRT1-L107P point mutation, which contributed to insulin resistance and the overproduction of inflammatory mediators by pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells implicated in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes.<sup>384</sup> Nonetheless, given its central role in a plethora of cellular processes, SIRT1 has an intricate, two-sided association with cardiovascular health, cancer, and neurodegeneration, in addition to metabolic disease.

The maintenance of relatively constant blood glucose concentration is essential to provide fuel to tissues, which is regulated through various processes, including intestinal glucose uptake, hepatic glucose output and uptake, and utilization and storage in peripheral tissues.<sup>376</sup> Intriguingly, SIRT1 can suppress hepatic glucose production by deacetylating CREB-regulated transcription co-activator 2 (CRTC2), but can also stimulate gluconeogenic transcriptional programs via activation of FOXO1 and PGC1 $\alpha$ .<sup>412-414</sup> Despite this duality, SIRT1 may serve as an insulin sensitizer, as SIRT1 activation protects mice from dietinduced and genetic insulin resistance.<sup>415, 416</sup> Moreover, SIRT1 can inhibit glycolysis via activation of PGC1 $\alpha$ ,<sup>414</sup> and increase mitochondrial oxidative metabolism via inhibition of HIF1 $\alpha$ .<sup>417</sup> Lastly, SIRT1 promotes insulin secretion from pancreatic β-cells by transcriptional repression of mitochondrial uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2).<sup>418</sup>

Lipid homeostasis is likewise influenced by SIRT1 activity. The key transcription factor controlling genes involved in lipid synthesis, liver X receptor (LXR), is activated via SIRT1 deacetylation,<sup>419</sup> contributing to cholesterol metabolism. SIRT1 inhibits adipogenesis and enhances fat mobilization through lipolysis by suppressing the activity of PPARy.<sup>420</sup>

Aside from inhibiting glycolysis, SIRT1-mediated PGC1 $\alpha$  activation transcriptionally stimulates fatty acid uptake and/or  $\beta$ -oxidation.<sup>421</sup> In support of this, SIRT1 activation protects mice from diet-induced obesity by increasing fatty acid oxidation,<sup>422</sup> while *Sirt1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice are susceptible to hepatic steatosis under standard and high-fat diets.<sup>421, 423</sup>

Strong evidence exists in favor of SIRT1's cardioprotective properties. Overexpression of *Sirt1* is beneficial in both cardiac myocytes and in vascular cells,<sup>424-428</sup> and studies suggest that many of the positive effects of Resveratrol (details forthcoming in chemical modulator section), such as upregulation of antioxidant enzymes, are SIRT1dependent.<sup>429</sup> Likewise, *SIRT1* overexpression in cultured endothelial cells decreased the expression and activity of tissue factor (initiator of coagulation), via NFκB-inhibition.<sup>430</sup> Another SIRT1 activator, SRT1720, significantly reduced the number of ischemic foci and attenuated inflammatory gene activation in the hearts of mice fed a high-fat diet.<sup>431</sup> However, while a study reported that 2.5- to 7.5-fold *Sirt1* overexpression reduced agedependent cardiac dysfunction in mice, 12.5-fold overexpression increased cardiomyopathy and oxidative stress.<sup>424</sup>

SIRT1 has a fascinating yin-yang relationship with different types of cancers, serving as both an oncogene and tumor suppressor. On one hand, SIRT1 can be seen as a tumor promoter as it deacetylates p53, a tumor suppressor, leading to the inhibition of apoptosis in injured cells.<sup>432</sup> SIRT1 is significantly elevated in human prostate cancer, leukemia, primary colon cancer, and all non-melanoma skin cancers, among others.<sup>433-435</sup> Thus, higher SIRT1 levels may hamper p53-dependent cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in response to DNA damage and oxidative stress, two contributing factors to oncogenic mutations. SIRT1's oncogenic effect may also be attributed to loss of function in SIRT1's inhibitor, DBC1, as deletions in DBC1 in breast cell lines increase the risk for tumorigenesis.<sup>436</sup> Lastly, loss of global H4K16 acetylation combined with H4K20 tri-methylation is a hallmark of human cancers.<sup>437</sup> SIRT1 deacetylates H4K16 and H3K9 at promoters of several tumor suppressor genes, thereby recruiting methyltransferases and promoting gene silencing.<sup>438, 439</sup>

On the other hand, SIRT1 is often decreased in chronic inflammation, which is a risk factor for certain cancers. Downregulated *SIRT1* expression has been reported in human glioblastoma, bladder carcinoma, prostate carcinoma, ovarian cancer, and hepatic

carcinoma.<sup>438</sup> SIRT1 antitumor activity is supported by the fact that *SIRT1* deficiency hampers DNA repair, which can lead to severe genetic instability. Likewise, as mentioned, SIRT1 promotes mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation, which upsets tumor cells' reliance on glycolysis, known as the Warburg effect. Mutations in the tumor suppressor BRCA1 reduce *SIRT1* expression, thus increasing the risk for breast, ovarian, fallopian, and prostrate cancer in humans.<sup>440</sup> *Survivin*, an oncogene expressed in most cancer cell types, is repressed at the promoter by SIRT1-mediated deacetylation of H3K9. SIRT1 also blocks nuclear translocation of the oncogenic protein  $\beta$ -catenin, such that *Sirt1* overexpression in a mouse model of colon cancer significantly reduced tumor formation and morbidity.<sup>441</sup> Thus, the contribution of SIRT1 to cancer development is dependent on other cellular parameters, at both the genomic and epigenetic levels.

Finally, SIRT1 has shown beneficial roles in multiple models of neuropathology, primarily by deacetylating protein targets that protect against neurodegeneration.<sup>442</sup> Patients with Alzheimer's disease have lower *SIRT1* gene expression, which correlates with the accumulation of neurofibrillary tau tangles.<sup>443</sup> Evidence from *in vitro* and animal models indicates that increased SIRT1 activity, by genetic or chemical means, may be protective against Parkinson's disease by reducing  $\alpha$ -synuclein-mediated toxicity.<sup>444, 445</sup> Three different mouse models have shown that SIRT1 can also protect against Huntington's disease by activating PGC1 $\alpha$  to prevent huntingtin-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and to reduce protein aggregation.<sup>446</sup> Even in a mouse model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE), SIRT1 activation may prevent neuronal damage and long-term dysfunction.<sup>447</sup> Despite the duality of SIRT1 activity in human pathologies, its beneficial role in preventing autoimmune demyelination and neurodegeneration is quite robust.

## SIRT1 regulates immune cell differentiation and activation

The significance of SIRT1, especially with regards to immune function, is highlighted by studies in *Sirt1*-null mice. These *Sirt1* mutants are smaller and harbor notable developmental defects of the retina and heart, with most dying postnatally.<sup>448</sup> Younger *Sirt1*-<sup>1-</sup> mice are prone to eyelid inflammation, while mice 2 years of age present with increased anti-nuclear antigen antibodies in the sera, deposits of IgM and IgG immune complexes in the

liver and kidney, and exhibit a SLE-like phenotype.<sup>449, 450</sup> SIRT1-based therapies and various KO mouse models have helped delineate the role of SIRT1 in innate and adaptive immune responses, including those during infection and pulmonary disease. However, while studies have begun to elucidate the roles of SIRT1 in macrophages and T cells, much less is known about this protein's role in DCs.

The majority of SIRT1 functions observed in the immune system arise from the regulation of NFκB and AP-1 pathways. The NFκB pathway is a central signaling node in inflammatory cytokine stimulation and lymphocyte activation. As previously stated, SIRT1 deacetylation of the p65 subunit at K310 leads to reduced NFκB transcriptional activity.<sup>408</sup> Not surprisingly, p65 transcription positively feedbacks onto SIRT1, resulting in increased mRNA levels.<sup>451</sup> Activator protein 1 (AP-1, dimeric complex of JUN and FOS) transcriptional activity has an essential role in immune response activation, particularly in T cells, and is also targeted by SIRT1 deacetylation.<sup>450</sup>

Macrophages, the most abundant innate immune cell type, are a main source of proinflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-1 in response to infection and inflammation. SIRT1's inhibitory role on NF $\kappa$ B signaling has an essential role in suppressing the proinflammatory phenotype of macrophages.<sup>406, 452</sup> For example, the ablation of *Sirt1* in macrophages, using a myeloid cell-specific *Sirt1* KO mouse, rendered NF $\kappa$ B hyperacetylated and resulted in increased transcriptional activation of proinflammatory target genes.<sup>409</sup> Interestingly, XBP1s is critical for IFN $\beta$  production in macrophages.<sup>453</sup> Given that SIRT1 inhibits XBP1s,<sup>387</sup> the suppression of the UPR in macrophages may serve to inhibit the activation of at least part of innate immune response.

Far less has been reported about the role of SIRT1 within DCs, which herald the presence of a foreign invader and initiate the adaptive immune response via cytokine production and antigen-presentation to T cells. However, the data suggests that SIRT1 programs DCs to promote inflammatory immune responses.<sup>454, 455</sup> One study examined DC-specific *Sirt1* KO mice and observed no changes in DC maturation, differentiation, or development compared to WT DCs; however, these *Sirt1<sup>-/-</sup>* DCs produced higher levels inflammatory cytokines upon TLR stimulation.<sup>454</sup> Moreover, these DC-specific *Sirt1* KO mice exercise upon TLR stimulation.<sup>454</sup> Moreover, these DC-specific *Sirt1* KO mice were resistant to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)-induced EAE, exhibiting

a significant reduction in central nervous system (CNS) pathology, much fewer Th17 and Th1 cellular infiltrates, and a significant increase in Treg cell populations.<sup>454</sup> A second study demonstrated that the lack of SIRT1 in DCs reduced macrophage and eosinophil lung infiltration in a murine model of OVA-induced airway disease.<sup>455</sup> The data suggest that SIRT1 repressed PPARγ activity within DCs, thereby promoting their maturation and pro-Th2 skewing activity. Accordingly, mice treated with pharmacological SIRT1 inhibitors had reduced Th2 responses and were protected against allergic airway inflammation.<sup>455</sup>

The role of SIRT1 in the adaptive immune response has been primarily focused on the activation and differentiation of T cells. SIRT1 protein levels are dramatically elevated in anergic T cells, compared to activated T cells or mature, naïve T cells.<sup>450</sup> Sirt1-null mice do not harbor aberrant T or B cell numbers as compared to WT littermates, indicating that SIRT1 may not be critical for these cells' development.<sup>390</sup> However, T cells from Sirt1-null mice are hyperproliferative and activated without CD28 co-stimulation; TCR stimulation alone leads to as much proliferation in Sirt1-1- T cells as TCR/CD28 co-stimulation. 450, 456 In addition, T cells isolated from OVA-sensitized Sirt1-null mice proliferate more upon OVA re-exposure and produce more IL-2, IFNy, and IL-5.450 This T cell hyperactivation results from the loss of suppression of NFKB and AP-1 transcriptional activity,<sup>450</sup> as well as a lack of SIRT1-dependent inhibition of BCLAF1, a BCL-2 binding protein required for T cell activation.<sup>456</sup> IL-2 provides a crucial signal for maintaining the viability and proliferation of activated CD25<sup>+</sup> T cells by suppressing FOXO1, 3, and 4 to prevent apoptosis.<sup>457</sup> Additionally, data reveals that IL-2 can suppress *Sirt1* transcription by sequestering FOXO3a to the cytoplasm, thereby reversing T cell tolerance, which is characteristic of T cell anergy.<sup>458</sup> This may explain the aforementioned hyperproliferation and activation of Sirt1-<sup>1-</sup>T cells, and the greater mRNA and protein expression of SIRT1 in anergic T cells.<sup>450, 456</sup>

SIRT1 is implicated in the differentiation of activated T cells, although the specific mechanisms are not as clear. One group reported how ATF-like (BATF) directly suppresses the transcription of *Sirt1*, and demonstrated that *Batf<sup>-/-</sup>* CD8<sup>+</sup> cells had lower acetylation at the TBET promoter and lower *Ifng*, *Ifngr1*, and *Il12rb2* expression.<sup>459</sup> Conversely, *Sirt1<sup>-/-</sup>* CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells produced more IL-5 and IFNγ protein upon *in vitro* stimulation. SIRT1 may inhibit the differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into inflammatory Th17 cells and the expansion

of Tregs by suppressing STAT3 activity.<sup>460, 461</sup> Moreover, SIRT1 is a negative regulator of Treg function via FOXP3 deacetylation, whereby hyperacetylation stabilizes the FOXP3 protein and enhances Treg suppressive activity.<sup>462, 463</sup> In agreement, *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-Foxp3-Cre*<sup>+</sup> mice exhibited prolonged survival of MHC-mismatched cardiac allografts, while effector T cell responses were unaffected.<sup>462</sup> Likewise, administration of a SIRT1 activator in a mouse model of autoimmune uveoretinitis suppressed numbers of retinal infiltrating T helper cells, with a greater reduction in Tregs as compared to Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells.<sup>464</sup> Overall, SIRT1's regulation of NFκB, AP-1, and STAT3 points to SIRT1 being a suppressor of pro-inflammatory T cell responses.

#### SIRT1 and anti-microbial immune responses

Similar to autophagy, SIRT1 is called upon during cellular stress to reestablish cellular homeostasis. As all sirtuins require NAD<sup>+</sup> for activity, their function is tightly linked to the metabolic status of the cell. Therefore, a stress such as bacterial or viral infection will upset the cell's energy balance, leading to the activation of sirtuin transcription and activity. Given that many of SIRT1's functions, including glycolysis inhibition and fatty acid oxidation, are contrary to what an actively replicating virus desires, SIRT1 may be an evolutionary antiviral defense. In fact, the *E. coli* sirtuin homologue, CobB, has been reported as a host defense mechanism against bacteriophages, whereby knockdown of *CobB* promoted phage plaque size and overexpression of *CobB* reduced phage titers.<sup>465</sup> Furthermore, all seven human sirtuins have recently been shown to have broad-range antiviral properties against both DNA and RNA viruses.<sup>465</sup>

In particular, the importance of SIRT1 during antiviral defense is underlined by the ways in which various viruses highjack the deacetylase. While SIRT1 has been shown to restrict viral replication of HCMV, HSV, adenovirus type 5 (Ad5), and H1N1,<sup>465</sup> HIV and hepatitis B virus (HBV) leverage SIRT1 activity to their advantage. The HIV Tat protein facilitates elongation of mRNA transcription, and once the transcripts are completed, Tat is recycled via SIRT1 deacetylation to allow for continued HIV genomic replication.<sup>466</sup> Conversely, Tat binds the catalytic domain of SIRT1, blocking its ability to deacetylate and inhibit NFKB. Interestingly, HIV has two NFKB binding sites, such that with Tat-induced

SIRT1 suppression, transcriptional activity of both NF $\kappa$ B-responsive genes and HIV-specific genes are enhanced.<sup>467</sup> During HBV infection of human cell lines, SIRT1 physically associates with the viral DNA template; as SIRT1 is upregulated in expression and activity, so is viral replication.<sup>468</sup> The HBV X protein blocks SIRT1 so it cannot repress the activity of  $\beta$ -catenin, known to promote the development of HBV-induced hepatocellular carcinoma.<sup>469</sup>

In contrast to SIRT1's involvement in viral infection, less is known about the role of SIRT1 in host defense against bacteria. One study, utilizing SIRT1 activators, SIRT1 inhibitors, and a myeloid-specific *Sirt1* KO mouse (*Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-LysM-Cre*), reported that SIRT1 has little influence on macrophage and neutrophil antimicrobial functions.<sup>470</sup> Likewise, myeloid *Sirt1* expression did not alter mortality in gram-negative toxin-induced shock or gram-positive bacteremia.<sup>470</sup> Thus, while SIRT1 serves to repress macrophage-induced inflammation,<sup>409</sup> it does not alter the intrinsic anti-bacterial characteristics of this innate immune cell.

## Modulation of SIRT1 activity: natural and synthetic compounds

The activity and expression of SIRT1 are tightly regulated at many levels—from general mechanisms, such as substrate availability, tissue and subcellular localization, to gene-specific regulatory mechanisms, such as activation of transcription factors, regulation by microRNA, post-translational modification, and protein-protein interaction. SIRT1's activity is closely controlled by the availability of NAD<sup>+</sup>, a required co-factor, and nicotinamide (NAM), a by-product of catalysis that serves as an endogenous inhibitor.<sup>471</sup> Another axis of regulation is the positive feedback between SIRT1 and AMP-activated kinase (AMPK), which upon sensing a rise in the intracellular AMP/ATP ratio facilitates gene transcription to increase ATP generation.<sup>472, 473</sup> AMPK activation also increases the intracellular NAD+/NADH ratio, leading to sirtuin activation.<sup>474</sup> Moreover, SIRT1 deacetylates LKB1, an activator of AMPK, thus further promoting its own activity.<sup>475</sup> In terms of SIRT1 expression, multiple transcription factors regulate SIRT1 mRNA levels, including p53, FOXO3a, E2F1, and c-Myc, in response to stimuli such as growth factors, cell cycle conditions, and apoptotic signals.<sup>380, 476, 477</sup> As previously noted, many of these transcription factors are also deacetylated by SIRT1, providing a feedback mechanism in the

regulation of SIRT1 expression. In addition, SIRT1 expression can be post-transcriptionally regulated by microRNA; miR-34a and miR-199 have been reported to suppress SIRT1 in prostate cancer lines and cardiomyocytes, respectively.<sup>478, 479</sup> Posttranslational modifications, such as phosphorylation by c-Jun N-terminal kinases 1 and 2 (JNK 1, 2), alter SIRT1 localization, activity, and stability.<sup>480, 481</sup> Finally, protein regulators influence SIRT1 activity via physical interaction, such as the active regulator of SIRT1 (AROS)<sup>482</sup> and the neuronal protein necidin,<sup>483</sup> which serve as enhancers, or DBC1, which inhibits SIRT1 by binding to the core catalytic domain.<sup>436</sup>

Given the prospective therapeutic benefits of promoting or blocking SIRT1 activity under different conditions, researchers have been enthusiastically studying SIRT1 modulators. Resveratrol (SIRT1 EC<sub>1.5</sub> = 46.2  $\mu$ M),<sup>416</sup> a polyphenol naturally occurring in the grape *Vitis vinifera*,<sup>484</sup> was initially identified as a sirtuin activator and subsequently shown to expand lifespan in yeast.<sup>485</sup> Although Resveratrol can promote the activity of SIRT1, it is still inconclusive and hotly debated whether the effects are direct or indirect, such as via AMPKdependent mechanisms.<sup>486</sup> Resveratrol also targets numerous other enzymes and acts as a powerful antioxidant on its own, making its effects difficult to interpret.<sup>487</sup> Structurally unrelated imidazothiazole-containing SIRT1 activators with increased potency have been synthesized by Sirtris Pharmaceuticals, including SRT1460, SRT1720, SRT2104, SRT2183, and SRT2530; however, like Resveratrol, there remains much dispute over their biological actions.<sup>488, 489</sup>

Regardless of these controversies over mechanism, SIRT1 activators have been confirmed to have numerous health benefits in various species.<sup>377</sup> For example, Resveratrol, SRT1460, SRT1720, and SRT2183 have been reported to improve insulin sensitivity, lower blood glucose, and increase mitochondrial capacity in diet-induced and genetically obese mice.<sup>416</sup> Likewise, SRT1720, the most potent and specific of the Sirtris compounds (SIRT1  $EC_{1.5} = 0.16 \mu$ M, SIRT2  $EC_{1.5} = 37 \mu$ M, SIRT3  $EC_{1.5} > 300 \mu$ M),<sup>416</sup> was shown to extend lifespan of adult mice on a high-fat diet, in addition to decreasing obesity health risks.<sup>431</sup> Recently, pulmonary studies utilizing SRT1720 have shown how SIRT1 activation protects against emphysema in a mouse model of COPD <sup>490</sup> and allergen-induced inflammation in a mouse model of asthma.<sup>491</sup> Importantly, SRT2104 and SRT2379 are currently in human clinical trials to study their effects during sepsis and diabetes (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov</u>).

Unlike the controversy-laden field of SIRT1 activators, there is more clarity with regards to SIRT1 inhibitors. Among them, Sirtinol was the first compound reported to inhibit the activity of sirtuins (SIRT1 IC<sub>50</sub>=131  $\mu$ M, SIRT2 IC<sub>50</sub>=46  $\mu$ M).<sup>492, 493</sup> Newer, Sirtinol-related inhibitors with far greater potency, such as Salermide (SIRT1 IC<sub>50</sub>= 43  $\mu$ M), have been developed.<sup>494</sup> NAM and NAM-related analogues serve as adequate inhibitors *in vitro* by occupying the NAM subpocket of the NAD+ binding site. Yet, with an IC<sub>50</sub> of ~85  $\mu$ M towards SIRT1, and a concentration of <1  $\mu$ M in mammalian serum, NAM is less likely to impair SIRT1 *in vivo*.<sup>495-497</sup> Additional subclasses of SIRT1 inhibitors include Cambinol (SIRT1 IC<sub>50</sub> = 56  $\mu$ M, SIRT2 IC<sub>50</sub> = 59  $\mu$ M).<sup>498</sup> Tenovin-6 (SIRT1 IC<sub>50</sub> = 20  $\mu$ M).<sup>499</sup> and Suramin (SIRT1 IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.3  $\mu$ M, SIRT2 IC<sub>50</sub> = 1.2  $\mu$ M).<sup>499</sup> However, the indole-based EX-527 is one of the most potent and selective SIRT1 inhibitors today (IC<sub>50</sub> = 38nM), with negligible potency against SIRT2 (IC<sub>50</sub> =19.6  $\mu$ M) or SIRT3 (IC<sub>50</sub> = 48.7  $\mu$ M), and no activity against class I/II HDACs.<sup>500</sup> EX-527 preferentially binds SIRT1 while it is in complex with the yet-to-be-released 2'-O-acetyl-ADP-ribose, locking the deacetylase in a "closed" state.<sup>375</sup>

Originally, the impetus for developing potent sirtuin inhibitors stemmed from a desire to modulate cell survival and proliferation. Several studies have reported the benefits of SIRT1 pharmacological inhibition in the setting of cancer.<sup>501, 502</sup> In fact, Cambinol was first developed as a potential antitumor drug<sup>498</sup> and later discovered to display anti-inflammatory properties *in vivo*.<sup>503</sup> Although contrasting to SIRT1's reported anti-inflammatory roles, SIRT1 inhibitors have been successfully used in animal models to treat certain inflammatory disorders.<sup>503-506</sup> For example, administration of Sirtinol or Cambinol has been shown to reduce allergic airway inflammation and Th2 cytokine responses.<sup>455, 507</sup>

## Summary of rationale and thesis aims

The ubiquitous human pathogen RSV predominantly causes mild respiratory tract infection. Nonetheless, RSV infection remains the leading global cause of LRTI in children, and a source of significant morbidity and mortality among the vulnerable including infants, the elderly, and those with chronic respiratory diseases. Infants hospitalized with a severe RSV infection are at a greater risk for developing allergic asthma and recurrent wheezing later in life, suggesting that a chronic alteration of the pulmonary immune environment ensues even after successful viral clearance.

Activated pulmonary DCs drive innate and adaptive immune responses to viral pathogens through the production of proinflammatory cytokines and the activation of T cell responses in LDLNs. Detection of viral antigens by DCs requires signaling through endosomal TLRs. As RSV enters the host cell cytosol directly through membrane fusion, an alternate antigen delivery is necessary to reach these endosomal compartments. Our lab and others have shown that DCs rely on autophagy to mediate TLR-dependent activation, cytokine production, and effective APC function.

Autophagy is a conserved intracellular membrane trafficking pathway whereby cytoplasmic material is sequestered within double-walled vesicles and degraded upon fusion with lysosomes. This process maintains cellular metabolic equilibrium and promotes cell survival during physiological and pathological stress conditions. Within APCs, autophagy facilitates TLR signaling and MHC molecule peptide loading through delivery of viral antigens to acidified endosomes.

Interestingly, key proteins that orchestrate autophagosome formation are targeted by SIRT1, a NAD<sup>+</sup>-dependent histone and protein deacetylase. SIRT1 impacts many areas of biology and pathophysiology, and several *Sirt1* variants have been linked to human metabolic disorders. Importantly, SIRT1 diversely regulates immune function, such as lymphocyte activation, proliferation, and differentiation, and macrophage cytokine secretion. However, the role of SIRT1 in DC biology and its subsequent impact on adaptive immunity has not been elucidated.

The major aims of this dissertation were to determine (a) whether SIRT1 regulated DC activation and autophagy-mediated processes during RSV infection (Chapter 3) and (b) whether the absence of SIRT1 activity altered the antiviral immune response (Chapter 4). To address these questions, SIRT1 within DCs was chemically and genetically targeted and the effects were examined in a mouse model of RSV infection. Results demonstrate that RSVinfected DCs lacking functional SIRT1 failed to appropriately upregulate autophagy and cytokine production, while retaining the capacity to stimulate T cells and present antigen. Likewise, DC-specific *Sirt1* knockout mice (*Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup>) exhibited exacerbated, prolonged RSV-induced lung pathology, highlighting the essential role of SIRT1-mediated DC cytokine production in fine-tuning the antiviral adaptive immune response. Altogether, these findings expand our understanding of the innate immune response during RSV infection and identify SIRT1 as a potential therapeutic target for the treatment and prevention of severe viral-induced lung pathology.

# CHAPTER 2: Materials & Methods

#### Chemicals and reagents

Bafilomycin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX), EX-527 (SIRT1 Inhibitor III, Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany), SRT1720 (Calbiochem), and Tunicamycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) were reconstituted in DMSO and diluted in culture medium for *in* vitro work. Based on previous reports,<sup>375, 500</sup> we chose a 1 µM EX-527 dose in vitro, with no significant changes in DC cytokine production at greater concentrations. We observed comparable viability in control and EX-527-treated cells by flow cytometry (Live/Dead Fixable Yellow, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and exclusion dye stain (Trypan Blue). For *in vivo* experiments, mice received daily intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections of 100  $\mu$ L (1 mg/kg) EX-527 reconstituted in DMSO and diluted in normal saline; controls received DMSOsaline. Dose response assays revealed that administrating 10 mg/kg EX-527 to RSV-infected mice caused a rebound in Sirt1 and a reversal of the phenotype observed at the 1 mg/kg EX-527 dose. 3-methyladenine (3-MA, Sigma-Aldrich) and recombinant mouse TNF $\alpha$  (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) were reconstituted in PBS + 0.1% BSA and used at 10  $\mu$ M or 10 ng/mL, respectively. Imiquimod (R837, InvivoGen, San Diego, CA) was reconstituted in endotoxin-free water and used at 1 μg/mL. Ovalbumin (Sigma-Aldrich) was reconstituted in PBS to a stock concentration of 2 mg/mL. RPMI 1640 (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) and HAM-F12 (Life Technologies) media were used for cell culturing. To induce amino acid starvation, the cell culture medium was exchanged with HBSS (Life Technologies).

#### Cell lines

MLE-12 and LA4 cells were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA). MLE-12 cells were maintained in HITES medium, a supplemented RPMI 1640-based medium (1X insulin transferrin selenium-X, 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin, 100 U/ml penicillin, 10 nM  $\beta$ estradiol, 10 nM hydrocortisone, 2% FBS). LA4 cells were cultured in HAM-F12 medium supplemented with 1% Pen/Strep + 10% FCS.

## Mice

C57BL/6J (BL6), B6.Cg-Tg(TcraTcrb)425Cbn/J (OT-II), B6;129-Sirt1tm1Ygu/J (Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>), and C57BL/6J-Tg(Itgax-cre,-EGFP)4097Ach/J (CD11c-Cre-GFP) mice were purchased at 6–7 weeks of age from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). Sirt1<sup>ff</sup> mice, in which two loxP sites flank Sirt1 exon 4, were crossed to CD11c-Cre-GFP transgene mice. As the Sirt1<sup>ff</sup> mice were on a mixed C57BL/6J;129 background, we backcrossed the Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre progeny to a C57BL/6J background for 6 generations. The resultant Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre+ mice harbor CD11c<sup>high</sup> cells producing a truncated, catalytically inactive SIRT1, mimicking a Sirt1-null genotype.<sup>448</sup> All breeding took place in-house at the University of Michigan (Ann Arbor, MI). Animal work protocols were reviewed and approved by the University of Michigan University Committee on Care and Use of Animals.

Deletion of exon 4 was verified by DNA analysis. Day 10 BMDCs were cultured from *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre* mice, and their DNA was extracted, purified, PCR amplified, and separated by 2% agarose gel. Excision was assessed by the presence of an excision band using primers flanking the *Sirt1* exon 4 excision site, according to the Jackson Labs genotyping protocol (Forward = 5'-AGGCGGATTTCTGAGTTCGA, Reverse = 5'-CGTCCCTTGTAATGTTTCCC). The absence of *Sirt1* exon 4 was verified using homemade SYBR primers flanking the interior of the exon (Forward: 5'-TGAGCTGGGTGTGGTGGCG, Reverse: 5'-ATTCAATAGCCACATGCAGTCACA).

1 cycle	94°C	3 min	
	94°C	30 sec	
25 cycles	56°C	30 sec	
	72°C	30 sec	
1 cycle	72°C	2 min	
1 cycle	4°C	Indefinite	

Table 2.1: PCR settings for homemade Sirt1 exon 4 primers.

#### Respiratory syncytial virus

The RSV strain 2-20, kindly provided by Dr. Martin Moore (Emory University, Atlanta, GA), was originally isolated from a severely ill RSV-infected infant.<sup>95</sup> Line 19 RSV (antigenic subgroup A), originally obtained from a sick infant at the University of Michigan Hospital System, was shown in animal models to mimic human infection by eliciting airway mucus production upon inoculation with 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> PFU (plaque forming units) RSV.<sup>93</sup> RSV strains were propagated in our laboratory in HEp-2 cells (ATCC). Mice were infected intratracheally (i.t.) via tongue-pull with 1.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> RSV.

## Lung histology

Serial 6 µm sections were obtained from paraffin-embedded, 10% formalin-fixed left lungs stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Intracytoplasmic and luminal mucin was assessed by periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) stain. 5 sections were analyzed per mouse lung, with 2 lung slices/section/mouse to select representative slides. PAS-stained slides were blindly scored for goblet cell hyperplasia by light microscopy. The following scoring system was used: 1, absent; 2, staining in multiple airways; 3, staining in multiple airways with mucus plugging; 4, severe mucus plugging in multiple airways.

#### BMDC culture

Bone marrow–derived DCs (BMDCs) were isolated from whole bone marrow of naïve C57BL/6 mice, *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> mice, or littermate controls. Bone marrow cells were seeded into tissue culture flasks containing RPMI 1640–based complete medium (10% FCS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 1% glutamate (Life Technologies), 1% Na Pyruvate (Life Technologies), 1% non-essential amino acids (Life Technologies), 50  $\mu$ M  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol) supplemented with 15 ng murine GM-CSF/mL (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) at 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, 37°C. C57BL/6 mouse-derived cells were fed on days 3 and 5 and harvested on day 7, a time point by which cells were ≥85% CD11b<sup>+</sup> CD11c<sup>+</sup> BMDCs by flow cytometric analysis. Cells derived from the *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*± mice were cultured for 10 days (fed on days 3, 5, and 7) to achieve high Cre activity.

#### AEC culture

Alveolar epithelial cells (AECs) were isolated from whole lungs of naïve mice. Lungs were digested in Dispase (BD Biosciences), filtered through 25 µm mesh, and depleted of immune cells through labeling with biotinylated antibodies to CD16/32 and CD45 (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA), followed by labeling with anti-biotin microbeads and passage through a MACS column (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). Depleted cell suspensions were adherence-purified overnight in DMEM-based complete media, and non-adherent cells cultured for 4 days in complete media within fibronectin-coated wells, yielding ≥90% ecadherin positive cells. Cultures were RSV-infected at 1:1 MOI.

#### Lymph node re-stimulation and protein quantification

Lymph nodes were isolated by mechanical disruption, cultured, and then restimulated with RSV for 48 h before collecting supernatants for protein analysis on a Bio-Plex Suspension Array System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Custom kits containing antibody-coated beads for mouse IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, IL-17a, and IFN $\gamma$  were used to assay cytokine concentration (Bio-Rad). Results are reported as fold difference over concentrations in control or unstimulated cells.

## Stimulation of whole cell populations from mouse spleen

Total cell populations (APCs, T cell, etc.) were isolated from minced spleens from  $Sirt1^{pf}-CD11c-Cre\pm$  mice. Once minced, spleens were forced through a 100 µm nylon strainer. After red blood cell (RBC) lysis, single cell suspensions were plated at 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> in 24-well culture plates and stimulated with 2 µg/mL of anti-CD3 (eBioscience). After 72 h, cell supernatants were collected and analyzed by Bio-Plex, as described under "LN re-stimulation and protein quantification."

## CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell isolation and DC-T cell co-culture

RSV-responsive CD4+ T cells were isolated from mediastinal LN of BL6 mice 8 dpi. Ovalbumin (OVA)-responsive T lymphocytes were isolated from minced spleens from OT-II transgenic mice. LN or minced spleens were forced through a 100 µm nylon strainer and underwent RBC lysis. Then, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were isolated via magnetic bead selection: negative selection protocol for CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells; positive selection for CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells to eliminate residual APCs (Miltenyi Biotec).  $5 \ge 10^5$  T were plated per well in 96-well culture plates, on top of  $5 \ge 10^4$  DCs treated 2 h previously with 1:1 MOI RSV, and where indicated pre-treated with 10  $\mu$ M EX-527 for 30 min prior to infection. In experiments conducted with OT-II T cells, DCs were treated with 200  $\mu$ g/mL whole OVA for 4 h prior to co-culture with OT-II T cells. Co-cultures were collected after 24 h for mRNA analysis, or after 48 h for supernatant cytokine analysis by Bioplex, as described under "LN re-stimulation and protein quantification."

#### Quantitative PCR

RNA was extracted as per Trizol reagent protocol (Life Technologies) or per Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit protocol (Hilden, Germany), and 5-10 µg were reverse transcribed into cDNA. mRNA was determined using pre-developed Life Technologies primer/probe sets, TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix (Life Technologies) or SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Life Technologies), and analyzed using an ABI Prism 7500 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Transcription levels of Muc5ac, Gob5, Ifnb, and RSV-G, RSV-F, and RSV-N were assessed using custom SYBR primers, as previously described.<sup>160</sup> Xbp1s and Xbp1us were assessed with the following custom mouse-specific primers: Xbp1sF: 5'-CTGAGTCCGAATCAGGTGCAG; Xbp1s/usR: 5'-SYBR GTCCATGGGAAGATGTTCTGG; Xbp1usF: 5'-CAGCACTCAGACTATGTGCA. The cycling threshold value of the endogenous control gene, Gapdh, was subtracted from the cycling threshold ( $\Delta C_T$ ). Expression of target genes is presented as fold change ( $\Delta$ ) values relative to an uninfected, untreated, or wild-type (WT) control group (2-AACT), assigned an arbitrary value of 1.

## Transfection and RNA interference

Small interfering RNAs (Dharmocon, Lafayette, CO: L-049440-00-0005, siSIRT1; D-001810-10-05, siControl) were introduced via electroporation at 20  $\mu$ M/sample according to manufacturer's instructions with an Amaxa Nucleofector Kit and Nucleofector

II Device (LonzaCologene, Cologne, Germany). Transfection efficacy was verified by qPCR, demonstrating 75-96% decrease in *Sirt1* expression. Viability of cells after 48 h post-transfection, while maintained in DC growth medium, was  $\geq$ 80% and not different from the transfection control cells. 48 h post-transfection, the DCs were infected with RSV for 2 h.

### Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting

Treated BMDCs were washed with PBS and treated with RIPA Lysis Buffer (#9806, Cell Signaling Technology) supplemented with PMSF (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 min on ice, vortexed for 1 min at 15-min mark. After maximum centrifugation for 10 min, the supernatant was saved as whole cell lysate (WCL, input) and for immunoprecipitation (IP). For IP, cell lysates were mixed with acetyl-Lysine antibodies (#9441) at 4°C overnight followed by the addition of Protein A-Sepharose 4B beads (1:100 Life Technologies) for 2 h at 4°C. Immune complexes were washed 3x with lysis buffer. After boiling in NuPAGE LDS Buffer and Reducing Agent (Life Technologies), samples were run on NuPAGE precast gels (Life Technologies) and transferred to nitrocellulose by an iBlot Dry Transfer System (Life Technologies). Membranes were blocked with 5% milk or BSA (Sigma-Aldrich) in 1x TBST (10x TBS (Corning, Manassas, MA) + 0.1% Tween) at RT, incubated with the indicated 1° antibodies overnight at 4°C (Table 2.2), washed 3x in TBST, and finally incubated with the appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated 2° antibodies for 1-2 h RT (Table 2.2). Bands were visualized by chemiluminesence (SuperSignal West Femto, Life Technologies) on a Bio-Rad Imager. As necessary, blots were stripped with Restore Stripping Buffer (Life Technologies). Captured gel images were inverted and saved as .tif files using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad). To calculate mean intensity of fluorescence (MIF), images were opened in Adobe Photoshop CS 6.0, transformed into gray scale, and rotated to level the bands. Using an identical marquee box, bands were sequentially selected to record the MIF off the histogram function. Mean background was calculated as the MIF of the area immediately below each band. Background was subtracted from each respective MIF value, and the corrected values are reported as ratios over  $\beta$ -actin or whole ATG protein.

Reagent	Company and Catalog #	Dilution
Acetylated-Lysine polyclonal Ab	Cell Signaling, #9441	1:100
Acetylated-Lysine rabbit mAb (HRP conjugate)	Cell Signaling, #6952	1:1000
β-actin anti-mouse mAb	Sigma-Aldrich A2228	1:5000
Sirt1 rabbit anti-mouse mAb	Cell Signaling, #3931	1:500
Atg-5 Rabbit mAb	Cell Signaling, #8540	1:1000
Atg-7 Rabbit mAb	Cell Signaling, #2631	1:1000
LC3A/B Rabbit polyclonal Ab	Cell Signaling, #4108	1:500
Goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP (2°)	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-2031	1:50,000
Goat anti-rabbit IgG-HRP (2º)	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-2004	1:2000
Anti-biotin, HRP-linked Ab	Cell Signaling, #7075	1:50,000
Biotinylated Protein Ladder	Cell Signaling, #7727	
EZ-Run pre-stained <i>Rec</i> Protein Ladder	Fischer Scientific, #BP3603500	

Table 2.2: Antibodies and ladders used for immunoblotting.

## Confocal microscopy

*LC3 staining*: BMDCs were cultured as described, and then plated in Lab-Tek chamber slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Cells were treated as indicated, washed in PBS, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min, and then blocked for 1 h at room temperature (RT) in PBS + 5% normal goat serum + 0.1% Tween-20. Cells were subsequently incubated with 1° antibody rabbit polyclonal anti-LC3B (NB600-1384, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO) for 2 h at 37°C, and then incubated with 2° antibody goat anti-rabbit Alexafluor 568 (A11011, Life Technologies). ProLong Gold antifade reagent plus DAPI (Life Technologies) was added before the cells were imaged on a Nikon A1 Confocal Laser Microscope system under oil immersion, using NIS Elements acquisition software (Nikon Instruments). The number of LC3 puncta/cell was counted in at least 15 cells/sample/condition/experiment. Images were converted to B&W in Adobe Photoshop to easily distinguish background staining from actual puncta.

*Caspase-3 staining*: After 2 h of HBSS-induced starvation or RSV-infection, 2 drops/mL of Caspase 3/7 Green ReadyProbe (Life Technologies) were added to each Lab-Tek. Cells were washed, fixed, and incubated with ProLong Gold, as described above.

#### Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

Cells were spun down into a gelatin capsule with a clinical centrifuge. Cell pellets were fixed in 4% gluteraldehyde in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.4) at 4°C for 1 h. The cell pellets were washed 2x in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer, postfixed with 2% Osmium tetroxide for 1 h on ice and then rinsed 2x with 0.1M cacodylate buffer. The fixed cell pellets were dehydrated through an ethanol (ETOH) dilution series up to 100% ETOH and then immersed in propylene oxide (PO) for 10 min 2x. Next, pellets were infiltrated in a 1:3 (1 h), 1:1 (2 h), and finally 3:1 (overnight) eponate resin: PO mixture while rotating at RT, and subsequently embedded in 100% Eponate resin in gelatin capsules and allowed to harden in a 65°C oven overnight. After hardening, tissue blocks were ultra-thin-sectioned at a 70 nm thickness and placed on 200 mesh copper grids. Grids were counterstained with saturated uranyl acetate and lead citrate and then viewed on a Philips CM-100 electron microscope. 5 grids, ~ 15-20 cells/grid, were studied per treatment.

#### Flow cytometry

Right lungs of control and RSV-infected mice were digested enzymatically in RPMI-1640 complete media containing 1 mg/mL Collagenase A (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN) and 30 µg/mL DNase I (Sigma). BMDCs were washed from culture treatment. Cells were incubated with Live/Dead Fixable Yellow (Life Technologies) for 30 min on ice, blocked with anti-CD16/CD32 for 20 min RT with gentle shaking, and stained for 20 min RT with gentle shaking with appropriate antibodies as indicated in Table 2.3. Flow-Count Fluorospheres (Beckman Coulter, Pasedena, CA) were added right before flow cytometry to quantify absolute cell counts. Data were collected on a BD Biosciences LSR II flow cytometer and on a BD Biosciences FACS Aria, and analyzed using FlowJo software (Treestar Inc, Ashland, OR).

## Sorted pulmonary cell populations

Pulmonary CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs, CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs, and alveolar macrophages were isolated from lungs/bronchi of *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*± mice by enzymatic digestion as previously published.<sup>225</sup> Briefly, minced tissue was incubated in RPMI-1640 with 200 µg/mL Liberase TM (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN) and 200 U/ml DNase I (Sigma-Aldrich) for 45 min at 37°C, drawn through an 18-gauge needle/10cc syringe, and filtered through 40 µm nylon mesh. The cell suspension was enriched for CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells using anti-mouse CD11c<sup>+</sup> microbeads and magnetic column separation (Miltenyi Biotec); stained with anti-CD11b, anti-CD103, and anti-SigF antibodies (Table 2.3, Lung Sort); and finally sorted with an iCyt Synergy 3200 cell sorter (iCyt, Champaign, IL).

Antibody	Conjugate	Company	Catalog #	Dilution	Purpose
Ly6C	PE	BioLegend	128008	1:400	Lung Sort
CD103	APC	BioLegend	121414	1:200	Lung Sort
MHCII	Alexa Fluor 700	BioLegend	107622	1:1000	Lung Sort
CD11c	APC-Cy7	BioLegend	117324	1:200	Lung Sort BMDC Sort
CD11b	eFluor 450	eBioscience	48-0112-82	1:400	Lung Sort BMDC Sort
CD3	PE	BDPharmigen	553063	1:200	Lung Sort
B220	PerCP-Cy5.5	BDPharmigen	552771	1:200	Lung Sort
CD19	APC	BioLegend	115512	1:200	Lung Sort
CD4	APC-Cy7	BioLegend	100414	1:200	Lung Sort
CD8a	Pac Blue	BioLegend	100725	1:200	Lung Sort
ILR5α	PE	BDPharmigen	555902	1:200	Lung Sort
Ly6G	PE-Cy7	BDPharmigen	560601	1:400	Lung Sort
Siglec-F (SigF)	PE	BDPharmigen	552126	1:200	Lung Sort
CD11b	PerCP-Cy5.5	BDPharmigen	550993	1:200	Splenic Sort
CD11c	APC	BDPharmigen	550261	1:200	Splenic Sort
CD4	PE-Cy7	BDPharmigen	552775	1:200	Splenic Sort
CD8	Alexa 700	eBioscience	56-0081-82	1:200	Splenic Sort
B220	APC-Cy7	BioLegend	103224	1:200	Splenic Sort
CD115	PE	eBioscience	12-1152-83	1:200	Splenic Sort
CD40	PE	BDPharmigen	553791	1:200	BMDC Sort
CD80	PerCP-Cy5.5	BioLegend	104722	1:200	BMDC Sort
CD86	PE-Cy7	BioLegend	105014	1:200	BMDC Sort
MHCII	APC	eBioscience	17-5321-82	1:1000	BMDC Sort
CD16/32		BioLegend	101302	1:200	All
Live/Dead		Life Technologies	L-34968	1:2000	All

Table 2.3: Antibodies for mouse flow cytometry and flow sorting.

## Cell apoptosis assay

The extent of necrosis and apoptosis in RSV-infected *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre* BMDCs was determined using Annexin-V-APC and propidium iodide (PI). BMDCs were infected 1:1 with RSV 2-20 for 2 h in a 96-well culture plate. After thorough washing, cells were incubated with Annexin-V-APC (1:200) for 15 min at 25 °C in the dark, washed, incubated under the same conditions with PI (1:200), and assessed immediately on a BD Biosciences LSR II flow cytometer. Raw data was analyzed as described above. Viable cells are negative for both PI and Annexin-V; early stage apoptotic cells are positive for Annexin-V and negative for PI; necrotic cells were positive for PI and negative for Annexin-V; late stage apoptotic cells are positive for both Annexin-V and PI. Readings were recorded as mean fluorescence intensity (MFI).

#### Statistics

All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data were evaluated and graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism software. Statistical significance was assessed by one-way ANOVA, followed by Newman–Keuls post-test. Significant differences were regarded as p  $\leq$ 0.05.

# CHAPTER 3: SIRT1 regulates DC activation & autophagy-mediated processes

### Sirt1 is significantly upregulated in DCs during RSV infection

In Chapter 1, we described the importance of SIRT1 immune function and several studies studying SIRT1 in the context of pulmonary disease. To determine whether *Sirt1* regulates RSV-induced disease, *Sirt1* mRNA levels were measured in RSV-infected C57BL/6J WT mice. Maximal *Sirt1* expression was observed 4 days post-infection (dpi) in lung tissue, coinciding with peak viral load (Figure 3.1).<sup>7</sup>



Figure 3.1: Sirt1 is upregulated in a mouse model of RSV infection. Lung mRNA expression of Sirt1 in RSV-infected WT BL6 mice was obtained using qPCR and compared with naive controls. Values represent mean  $\pm$ SEM, 5 mice per group.

We next assessed whether there were cell-specific differences in *Sirt1* expression. *Sirt1* mRNA levels were examined in: mouse BMDCs; primary mouse pulmonary DC subsets; primary mouse alveolar macrophages; human monocyte-derived DCs; two immortalized pulmonary epithelial cell lines, MLE and LA4; and primary mouse AECs (Figure 3.2A-E). While all cell populations showed increased *Sirt1* expression over untreated controls, the DCs had the highest increase (BMDCs ~400-fold; pulmonary DCs and hDCs: ~4-fold). Additionally, *Foxo3* expression rose in sync with *Sirt1* in RSV-infected DCs, supporting SIRT1's roles in cellular metabolism and stress response (Figure 3.2A). Due to the central role of DCs in directing immune responses, these cells became the focus of our studies.


Figure 3.2: RSV-infected DCs greatly upregulate Sirt1. mRNA expression of Sirt1 and Foxo3 in WT BL6 BMDCs, primary WT BL6 pulmonary DCs and alveolar macrophages, human monocytederived DCs, MLE cells, LA4 cells, and primary WT BL6 mouse AECs, as analyzed by qPCR and compared to untreated controls. Data are representative of at least 2 independent experiments, with at least 3 replicates/group. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05.

### SIRT1 promotes efficient DC activation and autophagosome formation

Our laboratory has previously demonstrated that efficient TLR-dependent DC maturation and innate cytokine production in response to RSV depend on autophagy.<sup>233</sup> Given the reported relationship between SIRT1 and autophagy proteins,<sup>373</sup> DC activation upon RSV infection was assessed in the presence of SIRT1 inhibition compared to autophagy inhibition. Cultured BMDCs infected for 2 hours in the presence of the SIRT1 inhibitor EX-527 or 3-methyladenine (3-MA), an autophagy inhibitor, expressed lower levels of inflammatory cytokine genes compared to RSV-infected BMDCs (Figure 3.3A). These studies also demonstrated a significant reduction in cytokine production within EX-527 or 3-MA treated DCs stimulated with imiquimod, a TLR7 agonist (Figure 3.3B). Additionally, SRT1720, a SIRT1 activator, caused a modest increase in cytokine production in RSV-infected BMDCs (Figure 3.3C). Thus, SIRT1 is necessary for endosomal TLR stimulation and efficient DC cytokine production and autophagy in response to RSV infection.



Figure 3.3: Modulation of SIRT1 activity affects DC cytokine production. (A) WT BMDCs cultured from BL6 mice were treated with DMSO, 1  $\mu$ M EX-527, or 10  $\mu$ M 3-MA for 30 min before being infected with Line 19 RSV (1:1 MOI) for 24 h. Cytokine gene expression was determined by qPCR. (B) WT BL6 BMDCs were pre-treated as in (A), and then stimulated for 4 h with 1  $\mu$ g/mL imiquimod. (C) WT BL6 BMDCs were treated with 10  $\mu$ M SRT1720 for 30 min before infection as in (A). Cytokine protein concentrations (B, C) were measured by Bio-Plex assay. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments, at least 3 replicates/group. Values represent mean ± SEM. For (A, B) stars indicate significance vs. black treatment bars. \*p < 0.05. \*\*p < 0.01. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

The aforementioned results obtained using EX-527 and 3-MA prompted experiments to determine whether SIRT1 was necessary for efficient autophagy in DCs. Cultured BMDCs were treated with EX-527, infected with RSV for 2 hours, and immunostained for LC3 (ATG8), a key marker for autophagosomes. Confocal staining for LC3 revealed an increase in autophagosomes during RSV infection, supporting previous reports from our lab (Figure 3.4A).<sup>225, 233</sup> However, EX-527 treatment of RSV-infected BMDCs dramatically reduced the number of autophagosomes compared to infected control cells (Figure 3.4A, B). In addition, the EX-527-treated, RSV-infected cells did not have an activated morphology, i.e. the formation of dendrite-like projections. On the other hand, SRT1720-treated, RSV-infected BMDCs had similar numbers of autophagosomes as RSV-infected controls, suggesting SIRT1 activation may reach a threshold in the presence of a viral stimulus (Figure 3.4A, B).



Figure 3.4: Inhibition of SIRT1 attenuates autophagy in RSV-infected DCs. (A) Number of autophagosomes in WT BL6 BMDCs by 2 h post-RSV 2-20 infection (R)  $\pm 1 \mu$ M EX-527 (E) or  $\pm 10 \mu$ M SRT1720 (S) was assessed by punctate LC3 staining and confocal microscopy (scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m); data was quantified in (B) compared to respective controls. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments, 3 replicates/group. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*p < 0.01. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

To further explore SIRT1's promotion of autophagy, DCs were depleted of SIRT1 using *Sirt1*-specific siRNA. Examination by confocal microscopy demonstrated that, in presence of *Sirt1* siRNA, fewer autophagosomes were found in RSV-infected BMDCs (Figure 3.5A, B). Additionally, *Sirt1* knockdown significantly downregulated *Ifnb* expression during RSV infection and reduced the levels of other innate cytokines, *Il1b* and *Ccl5* (Figure 3.5C). Overall, these results illustrate that SIRT1 is crucial for effective autophagy-dependent DC-activation using both pharmacological and siRNA knockdown approaches.



Figure 3.5: Repressed autophagy and autophagy-dependent innate cytokine production in *Sirt1* siRNA-treated BMDCs. (A) WT BL6 BMDCs were transfected by electroporation with appropriate siRNA 48 h prior to RSV 2-20 infection (MOI 1:1). 2 h later, autophagosomes were observed by confocal microscopy, and quantified in (B). Scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m. (C) Innate cytokine gene expression assessed by qPCR in WT BL6 BMDCs 24 h post-RSV infection. Cells were transfected with control or *Sirt1*-specific siRNA 48 h prior to infection. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments, 3 replicates/group. Values represent mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05. \*\*p < 0.01. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

# DCs from Sirt1<sup>f/f</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice have altered cytokine production and autophagy in response to RSV

To investigate the role of *Sirt1* within DCs during RSV-induced responses in a more physiologic setting, we generated conditional knockout mice (*Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*), where the Cre<sup>+</sup> progeny express catalytically inactive SIRT1 in CD11c<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells. We verified *Sirt1* excision in Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs (Figure 3.6A). We also observed no baseline differences in the number of pulmonary immune cell subtypes from naive *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre* mice or in splenic cell subsets from RSV-infected *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre* mice (Figure 3.6B-D).



Figure 3.6: Characterization of Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre mice. (A) DNA from Day 10 BMDCs cultured from DC-Sirt1 KO mice was extracted, purified, PCR amplified, and finally separated by 2% agarose gel. The top row illustrates the expected excision band created using primers flanking the Sirt1 exon 4 excision site in Cre<sup>+</sup> mice and the absence of this excision band in Cre<sup>-</sup> mice. Note the negligible amount of Sirt1 exon 4 DNA in Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs. Data representative of >5 independent samples. (B, C) Total numbers of pulmonary immune cell populations obtained from collagenase-digested lungs of 3 naive WT BL6, 3 Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>-</sup>, or 3 Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice, as determined by flow cytometry. (D) Flow cytometric analysis of the total numbers of DC and T-cell populations isolated from the spleens of Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre mice 8 dpi, 5 mice/genotype.

As shown in Figure 3.7A, RSV-infected CD11b<sup>+</sup> pulmonary DCs isolated from *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> mice showed reduced cytokine gene expression compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> controls. Similarly, Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs did not upregulate inflammatory cytokine genes in response to RSV, in contrast to Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs (Figure 3.7B). Moreover, TLR7-stimulated Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs produced significantly less cytokine as compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs (Figure 3.7C). This data further supports the hypothesis that SIRT1 is essential for robust TLRmediated DC cytokine production during RSV infection.





Figure 3.7: Cytokine production is attenuated in Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> DCs during RSV infection. (A) CD11b<sup>+</sup> DCs were flow sorted from lungs of naive Cre<sup>-</sup> or Cre<sup>+</sup> mice prior to ex vivo RSV infection. (A-B) Innate cytokine gene expression 24 h post-RSV 2-20 (MOI 1:1) infection was obtained by qPCR. (C) BMDCs stimulated for 4 h with 1  $\mu$ g/mL imiquimod (TLR7 agonist). Cytokine



With regard to autophagosome numbers, *Sirt1*-deficient BMDCs had significantly attenuated punctate LC3 staining during HBSS starvation-induced autophagy, compared to their littermate controls (Figure 3.8A, B). While the Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs showed an increase in LC3 puncta after RSV infection, the number of autophagosomes was significantly reduced compared to infected Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs (Figure 3.8A, B). Interestingly, *Atg8/Map1lc3b* mRNA expression was upregulated in Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs, but downregulated in Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs during RSV infection, suggesting that SIRT activity may also promote autophagy at the transcriptional level (Figure 3.8C). Therefore, these data provide genetic evidence of our

previous observations and further indicate that *Sirt1*-deficient DCs harbor defects in their ability to mount productive anti-RSV responses.



Figure 3.8: Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> DCs form fewer autophagosomes in response to starvation or RSV infection. (A) Number of autophagosomes in Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs 2 h after no treatment, HBSS treatment (starvation medium), or RSV 2-20 infection (MOI 1:1), as assessed by LC3 immunostain and confocal microscopy. Data from (A) quantified in (B) as compared to media-only controls. Scale bar = 10  $\mu$ m. (C) Atg8 gene expression 24 h post-RSV 2-20 (MOI 1:1) infection obtained by qPCR. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments. Values represent mean ± SEM, 3 replicates/group. \*p < 0.05. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

Recently it has been reported that LC3 can be recruited to other membranes, including single-membrane vesicles, in a process known as LC3-associated phagocytosis (LAP).<sup>508</sup> While LAP and autophagy both produce punctate LC3 immunostaining, a key distinguishing ultrastructural feature between these processes is the formation of a single versus double-walled vesicle.<sup>244</sup> To verify that the *Sirt1*-deficient DCs were not forming autophagosomes, starved or RSV-infected Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs were examined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Double-walled and single-walled membranes were observed in Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs at baseline, after starvation, and after RSV infection, whereas double-walled autophagosomes or autolysosomes were undetected in *Sirt1*-deficient BMDCs under the same conditions (Figure 3.9). These TEM data validate the confocal microscopy data that the formation of autophagosomes was severely impaired in Cre<sup>+</sup> DCs.



Figure 3.9: Ultrastructural analysis of BMDCs from Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre mice during stress conditions. Representative TEM images of Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs, which were untreated (media only), starved with HBSS medium, or infected with RSV 2-20 for 2 h. Scale bar = 100 nm. Note the double-membranes in the insets (Cre<sup>-</sup> panel). Thick arrowheads indicate autophagosomes. The star indicates the initiation of an autophagosome, with an isolation membrane beginning to encompass cytosolic material. Thin arrowheads indicate single-membrane vacuoles, some containing cellular material. 5 grids, ~ 15-20 cells/grid, were studied per treatment.

Interestingly, several autophagosome-engulfed mitochondria were observed in RSVinfected Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs (Figure 3.9). The absence of mitophagy in the Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs in the presence of RSV was striking, given the necessity of eliminating damaged mitochondria.<sup>253,</sup> <sup>353</sup> As cell death is a common response to unresolved cell stress, studies to visualize mitochondrial-caspase activation were performed. During nutrient starvation or RSV infection, Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs contained greater staining for active caspase 3/7, an early indication of apoptosis, suggesting that the cells were destined for cell death (Figure 3.10). However, cell analysis by flow cytometry revealed equal proportions of Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs destined for death after RSV infection (Figure 3.11). Thus, while *Sirt1*-deficient DCs appear to respond negatively to nutritional or viral stress, their survival is not altered.



Figure 3.10: BMDCs from Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice express more activated caspase 3 during stress conditions. Caspase 3/7 staining in Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> BMDCs 2 h after no treatment (media only), HBSS treatment (starvation medium), or RSV 2-20 infection (MOI 1:1), visualized by confocal microscopy. Scale bar = 50  $\mu$ m. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments.



Figure 3.11: The deficiency of SIRT1 does not alter cell survival during RSV infection. Annexin-PI flow cytometric analysis of cell death in BMDCs isolated from  $Sirt1^{ff}-CD11c-Cre$  mice 24 h after RSV 2-20 infection (MOI 1:1). Data are representative of 2 independent experiments. Values represent MFI fractions  $\pm$  SEM, 3 replicates/group. No significance between groups. See Chapter 2 for detailed characterization of these death stages.

### APC function is not SIRT1-dependent

Attenuation of cytokine production and autophagy in the absence of functional SIRT1 prompted APC function studies. As described in Chapter 1, DCs promote adaptive immune responses by stimulating naïve and RSV-reactive memory T cells in the LN via cytokine production, co-stimulation, and antigen presentation. Flow cytometric studies were used to examine SIRT1's affect on the expression of DC maturation markers (CD40, CD80, CD86), which serve as co-stimulatory proteins for T cell activation. BMDCs from *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre±* mice equally upregulated the expression of these surface proteins in response to RSV (Figure 3.12). Thus, while SIRT1 significantly affects DC cytokine production during viral infection, it is not necessary for APC co-stimulatory marker expression.



Figure 3.12: SIRT1 does not influence the DC expression of maturation markers. Surface maturation (co-stimulatory) marker expression by Cre- or Cre+ BMDCs, isolated from Sirt1ff-CD11c-Cre mice, as measured by flow cytometry 24 h after RSV 2-20 infection (MOI 1:1). Data representative of 4 independent experiments. Values = MFI ± SEM, 3 replicates/group. Stars indicate significance compared to respective naïve controls. \*\*p < 0.01.

This observed proficiency in DC co-stimulatory marker expression was tested *in vitro*. Whole splenic cell isolates from *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*± mice, containing a mixture of

APCs and T cells, were stimulated with an antibody against CD3, a T cell co-receptor necessary for transmitting activation signals. In this manner, we could observe the costimulatory function of the Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> splenic DCs in the presence of a strong TCR stimulus. Figure 3.13 shows no differences in T cell cytokine production between Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> splenic whole cell cultures. Therefore, SIRT1 is neither necessary for APC costimulatory marker expression nor for T cell co-stimulation.



Figure 3.13: T cell co-stimulation is not dependent on SIRT1. Cell cultures from whole spleen, prepared from  $Sirt1^{\beta f_-}$  $CD11c-Cre\pm$  mice, were stimulated with 2 µg/mL of anti-CD3 for 72 h. T cell cytokine concentrations were measured by Bio-Plex assay. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM, 5 independent mice per group. No significance between groups.

Finally, to directly evaluate the antigen presentation capacity of DCs that harbored dysfunctional SIRT1, co-cultures of DCs and T cells were performed. In the presence of the SIRT1 chemical inhibitor, EX-527, BL6 RSV-infected BMDCs retained the capacity to present viral antigen to RSV-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Figure 3.14A). To analyze the APC function in context of *Sirt1*-deficiency, *Sirt1*<sup>ff</sup>-*CD11c*-*Cre*± BMDCs were co-cultured with OVA-specific or RSV-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Despite some inconsistency in IL-4 production, T cells were equally stimulated regardless of the status of SIRT1 in DCs (Figure 3.14B, C). These data reveal that even in the absence of functional SIRT1, DCs are proficient at antigen presentation.



Figure 3.14: Sirt1-deficient DCs retain the capacity to present antigen to T cells. (A) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were purified from mediastinal LN of BL6 RSV-infected mice, 8 dpi. Cells were plated at a 10: 1 ratio over  $\pm$  EX-527-treated BMDCs, infected 2 h previously with 1:1 MOI RSV. (B) An equivalent experiment as in (A) using Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre $\pm$  BMDCs instead of EX-527. (C) Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre $\pm$  BMDCs were pulsed with whole OVA protein followed by the addition of 10:1 purified splenic OT-II CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Cytokine concentrations in culture supernatants were assayed at 48 h by Bio-Plex. Results are representative of at least two independent experiments. Unless indicated, stars represent significance as compared to T cell + OVA controls. \*p < 0.05. \*\*p < 0.01. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

### Summary

Chapter 3 focused primarily on SIRT1's influences on cellular processes that are critical for DC function during RSV infection. As antigen-presenting cells (APCs), DCs are responsible for T cell differentiation and maturation, and the T cell response in turn shapes the pulmonary immune environment. Activated DCs provide two signals required for successful T cell activation: antigen presentation via MHC molecules (to stimulate the TCR) and co-stimulatory marker presentation (to stimulate the T cell receptors CD28L and CD40). In the presence of TCR stimulation alone, T cells undergo apoptosis or enter an inactivated state called anergy.<sup>509</sup> DC-specific cytokines provide a third instructive signal to activated T cells, fine-tuning the adaptive immune response to the invasive pathogen.

EX-527-inhibited and *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> DCs displayed a unique, altered phenotype, which included attenuated cytokine production and autophagy in the setting of undisrupted antigen presentation and T cell co-stimulation. These findings suggest that SIRT1 enhances autophagy-dependent cytokine production in DCs, but does not influence the essential APC signals necessary for effective T cell activation. Likewise, this suggests that SIRT1 is necessary but not sufficient for autophagy, as some autophagosomes were still detectable in SIRT1-inhibited or *Sirt1*-deficient DCs. In contrast, our laboratory has previously shown that inhibition or knockdown of autophagy in RSV-infected DCs prevents DC maturation, decreases cytokine production, and disrupts antigen presentation.<sup>233</sup>

Given that cytokines provide critical communication signals between effector cells and APCs, we hypothesized that this observed deficiency in DC cytokine production would alter the overall immune response *in vivo*. To more thoroughly understand the impact of DC-specific *Sirt1* dysfunction on both innate and adaptive immunity, we performed studies (described next in Chapter 4) using a mouse model of RSV infection.

## CHAPTER 4:

## SIRT1 promotes the development of efficient antiviral immune responses during RSV infection

### Systemic inhibition of SIRT1 augments RSV-induced lung pathology

To test whether Sirt1 modulated the outcome of RSV infection, C57BL/6J WT mice were infected with RSV on day 0, and received daily intraperitoneal injections of EX-527 (1 mg/kg), a SIRT1-selective chemical inhibitor. At 8 dpi, a time point that corresponds to maximum lung pathology,<sup>42</sup> the animals were sacrificed to assess pathological parameters. Histological examination of lung sections from RSV-infected mice revealed greater peribronchial inflammation (Figure 4.1A) and goblet cell hyperplasia (Figure 4.1B) in EX-527treated, RSV-infected lungs than in infected controls. Gene expression analysis revealed similar upregulation of mucus-related genes, Muc5ac and Gob5, in response to RSV infection regardless of EX-527 treatment (Figure 4.1C). There were significant increases in the expression of Ifng, Il5, and Il10 in the EX-527-treated, RSV-infected mice compared to control RSV-infected mice (Figure 4.1D). The increased mRNA levels of RSV proteins in the EX-527-treated, RSV-infected animals suggested that viral clearance was reduced in the absence of functional SIRT1 (Figure 4.1E). RSV-restimulated lymph nodes from the EX-527-treated, RSV-infected mice produced significantly higher levels of the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 than RSV-infected controls (Figure 4.1F), with no differences in IL-17a or IFNy production. Therefore, this in vivo study demonstrates that systemic SIRT1 inhibition exacerbates RSV-induced lung pathology and alters the cytokine milieu within the lungs and lymph nodes, suggesting that SIRT1 promotes efficient antiviral immune responses.





Figure 4.1: Systemic SIRT1 inhibition augments RSV-induced lung pathology. (A) Representative lung histology from naive and infected (Line 19 RSV) mice treated with DMSO-saline control or EX-527 (8 dpi) stained with hematoxylin and PAS. Arrows = goblet cells. Scale bar = 100  $\mu$ m. (B) Histological mucus scores as assessed from lung sections of control and experimental groups 8 dpi. Stars indicate significance compared to naïve and EX-527 control mucus scores. Lung mRNA expression of (C) mucus-associated genes *Muc5ac* and *Gob5*, (D) cytokine genes, and (E) viral protein transcript 8 dpi was obtained by qPCR, compared with naive controls. Note naïve and EX-527 controls were not statistically different. (F) LDLNs from each treatment group were restimulated for 48 h in culture with RSV. Cytokine concentrations were assayed by Bio-Plex. Data are representative of 3 independent experiments. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM, 5 mice/group. \*p < 0.05. \*\*p < 0.01. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

# Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice experience exacerbated lung pathology and delayed resolution of inflammation following RSV infection

During the first three days of RSV infection the host response is dominated by innate immunity. This response includes the activation of resident DCs, the secretion of early inflammatory mediators, and the recruitment of Natural Killer cells and neutrophils.<sup>42</sup> Since DC influx begins as soon as 2 dpi,<sup>186</sup> we used this time point to analyze early immune responses to RSV in *Sirt1<sup>#f</sup>-CD11c-Cre* mice. There were significant increases in lung mRNA levels of potentially pathogenic cytokines *Il13, Il17a*, and *Il10* in Cre<sup>+</sup> mice compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> mice (Figure 4.2). Additionally, crucial innate cytokines, including *Il6, Il12p40*, and *Tnfa*, were downregulated in the lungs of Cre<sup>+</sup> mice post-infection, recapitulating our *in vitro* observations in DC subsets. Overall, at 2 dpi, immune cells were infiltrating the lungs in similar proportions (Figure 4.3, top right).



Figure 4.2: RSV-infected Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice develop a pro-inflammatory lung immune environment by 2 dpi. Gene expression of lung cytokines 2 dpi with RSV 2-20 was obtained using qPCR and compared with naive controls. Data representative of 2 independent experiments, 3-5 mice/group, values = mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05.

To specifically examine the impact of *Sirt1* deletion in CD11c<sup>+</sup> APCs during the height of RSV-induced lung pathology, we analyzed *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> mice and littermate controls 8 dpi. Histological examination revealed that Cre<sup>+</sup> mice had increased levels of airway inflammation and goblet cell hyperplasia compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> controls (Figure 4.3, bottom left). RSV-infected Cre<sup>+</sup> mice expressed higher levels of pathogenic cytokine genes,



Figure 4.3: Increased inflammatory infiltrates and mucus production in airways of RSV-infected Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice. Representative lung histology from naive and RSV 2-20-infected Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre mice 2, 8, and 12 dpi stained with hematoxylin and PAS. Insets highlight goblet cell hyperplasia. Note the mucus plug occluding the Cre<sup>+</sup> airway 12 dpi. Scale bar = 100  $\mu$ m. Data representative of 2 independent experiments, 3-5 mice/group.

including *Il4, Il13,* and *Il17a* (Figure 4.4A), and mucus-related genes (Figure 4.4B). Histological mucus scoring correlated well with the mRNA expression data (Figure 4.4C). More RSV protein mRNA transcript in the lungs of Cre<sup>+</sup> mice as compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> mice once again suggested a reduction in viral clearance at 8 dpi (Figure 4.4D). Of interest, LDLN cultures prepared from RSV-infected Cre<sup>+</sup> mice secreted significantly greater amounts of IL-17a and IFN $\gamma$  upon restimulation with RSV than LDLN cultures from Cre<sup>-</sup> mice (Figure 4.4E).



Figure 4.4: Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice suffer from exacerbated RSV-induced lung pathology at 8 dpi. (A) mRNA expression of lung cytokines, (B) mucus-associated genes Muc5ac and Gob5, and (D) viral protein were obtained using qPCR and compared with naive controls. (C) Histological mucus scores as assessed from lung sections of Cre<sup>-</sup> and Cre<sup>+</sup> mice 8 dpi. (E) LDLNs from RSV-infected Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice 8 dpi were dissociated into a single-cell suspension and restimulated in culture with RSV 2-20. Cytokine concentrations were assayed by Bio-Plex. Data representative of 2 independent experiments, 3-5 mice/group, values = mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

Since the *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> animals showed a proinflammatory lung environment by 2 dpi and a heightened pathology at 8 dpi, the 12 dpi time point was assessed to investigate the resolution of the response. Cre<sup>+</sup> mice had significantly elevated mRNA levels of *Ifng, 1l4*, and *Il5*, coupled with three-fold higher *Gob5* expression in their lungs (Figure 4.5A, B). However, there were no significant differences in cytokines produced by LDLN harvested at 12 dpi and restimulated with RSV (Figure 4.5C). Despite viral elimination as 12 dpi, as indicated by the absence of RSV protein mRNA (data not shown), histological examination of the lungs from Cre<sup>+</sup> mice revealed prolonged, persistent pathology and inflammation (Figure 4.3, bottom right).





Figure 4.5: Mucus and pathological cytokines persist in the lungs of RSV-infected Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> at 12 dpi. mRNA expression of lung cytokines (A) and mucus-related genes (B) 12 dpi were obtained using qPCR and compared with naive controls. (C) LDLNs from RSV-infected Cre<sup>+</sup> and Cre<sup>-</sup> mice 12 dpi were dissociated into a single-cell suspension and restimulated in culture with RSV 2-

20. Supernatant cytokine concentrations were assayed by Bio-Plex. Values = mean  $\pm$  SEM, 5 mice/group. \*p < 0.05.

Alveolar macrophages are unique amongst other macrophages located throughout the body in that they express high levels of CD11c. To verify that the observed RSV immune responses were in fact due to DC-specific dysfunction, we sorted primary macrophages from the lungs of *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre* mice. Unlike the significant decrease in cytokine production in CD11b<sup>+</sup> pulmonary DCs upon RSV infection (Figure 3.7), alveolar macrophages were still able to efficiently upregulate inflammatory cytokines during *ex vivo* RSV stimulation (Figure 4.6). Therefore, *Sirt1-*deficiency in alveolar macrophages is likely not relevant in these *in vivo* experiments, especially given that DCs are the superior APCs responsible for mediating the resultant T cell response. Overall, the results of the conditional KO mouse studies parallel the results of our EX-527 studies, and support the concept that *Sirt1* in DCs promotes RSV-induced immunity while limiting lung pathology.



Figure 4.6: RSV-infected CD11c<sup>+</sup> alveolar macrophages from Sirt1<sup>f/f</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice are proficient at inflammatory cytokine production. CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages were flow sorted from lungs of naive Cre<sup>-</sup> or Cre<sup>+</sup> mice prior to ex vivo RSV infection. Innate cytokine gene expression 24 h post-RSV 2-20 (MOI 1:1) infection was obtained by qPCR. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM, 3 replicates/group, 5 mice/sort. \*p < 0.05.

### SIRT1 does not alter RSV gene expression within DCs

In the aforementioned mouse experiments, there were greater increases in viral transcript within the airways of EX-527-treated or DC-specific *Sirt1*-deficient mice over infected controls (Figure 4.1E, Figure 4.4D). This we attributed to a poorer immune response, which resulted in reduced viral clearance. As discussed in Chapter 1, a recent study has described SIRT1 as a viral restriction factor, capable of inhibiting replication of several

viruses.<sup>465</sup> While it may be possible that SIRT1 directly regulates viral processes in AECs, the primary replicative targets of RSV infection, DCs do not propagate RSV. Viral mRNA detection within DCs is quickly attenuated, suggesting viral particles do not have time to successfully form intact virions.<sup>225</sup> To determine whether SIRT1 dysfunction could alter RSV gene expression within DCs, RSV protein transcript was analyzed. Figure 4.7 demonstrates that deficiency of *Sirt1* expression (KO model) or activity (EX-527) did not significantly change the levels of detectable RSV protein mRNA in either pulmonary DCs or BMDCs. Therefore, these results strengthen our hypothesis that SIRT1 regulates DC function during RSV infection without direct influence over viral gene expression.



Figure 4.7: SIRT1 does not alter DC-specific RSV gene expression levels. (A) Pulmonary DCs and cultured BMDCs were isolated from *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*± mice, and infected with RSV 2-20 (1:1 MOI) for 24 h. (B) WT BMDCs cultured from BL6 mice were treated ±1  $\mu$ M EX-527 30 min before infection with Line 19 RSV (1:1 MOI) for 24 h. Cytokine gene expression was determined by qPCR. Data are representative of > 5 experiments. Values = mean ± SEM, 3 replicates/group, 5 mice/sort.

### Summary

Chapter 4 described how both global SIRT1 inhibition (using EX-527) and DCspecific *Sirt1*-deficiency translates to heightened and prolonged RSV-induced lung pathology. This data demonstrates that (a) SIRT1 dysfunction augments respiratory illness in RSV-infected mice and (b) SIRT1 plays a crucial antiviral role during the immune response to RSV infection. Moreover, these *in vivo* studies suggest that SIRT1 enables DC- directed immune responses important for efficient viral clearance, rapid resolution of pulmonary inflammation, and minimal damage to adjacent healthy tissue.

Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice displayed elevated viral gene expression levels in their lungs compared to Cre<sup>-</sup> animals, indicating either excessive viral replication or retention of viral antigens within DCs, likely due to a decrease in autophagy. As *Sirt1*-deficient DCs harbored no apparent defects in T cell activation, as discussed in Chapter 3, the lack of efficient viral resolution suggests that the miscommunication between the APCs and effector T cells is primarily a result of poor DC cytokine production. Therefore, while not necessary for T cell differentiation and maturation, DC-made cytokines are significant in instructing the adaptive immune response, which in the absence of functional SIRT1 within DCs was skewed towards a pathological Th2/Th17 response.

Interestingly, our results are contrary to the previous studies, which suggest SIRT1 programs DCs to promote pathological inflammatory immune responses.<sup>454, 455</sup> In one experiment, DC-specific *Sirt1* KO mice were resistant to chemically-induced EAE, exhibiting a significant reduction in central nervous system pathology, much fewer Th17 and Th1 cellular infiltrates, and a significant increase in Tregs.<sup>454</sup> Another study demonstrated that the lack of SIRT1 in DCs reduced innate immune cell infiltrates in the airways of mice during OVA-induced asthma.<sup>455</sup> The data suggest that SIRT1 promotes DC maturation and pro-Th2 skewing activity. Likewise, upon treatment with pharmacological SIRT1 inhibitors, these DC-specific *Sirt1* KO mice experienced reduced Th2 responses and were protected against allergic airway inflammation.<sup>455</sup> Of note, these contradictory results to our EX-527 study may be due to the differential specificity of the SIRT1 inhibitors. Overall, our RSV studies suggest that SIRT1 plays a differential role during infectious vs. noninfectious diseases.

## CHAPTER 5: Discussion, Conclusions, & Future Directions

As discussed in Chapter 1, adults often mistake an RSV infection for the common cold, most experiencing only mild upper respiratory tract symptoms. However, this highly infectious virus is the principle cause of LRTI among neonates and children, predisposing these young patients hospitalized by an RSV infection to develop recurrent wheezing and asthma later in life.<sup>3-5, 43-48</sup> Additionally, RSV contributes significantly to the morbidity and mortality among the elderly, the immunocompromised, and those living with pulmonary dysfunction, such as in the case of allergic asthma or COPD.<sup>3-5</sup> Overall, the complications of severe RSV infection suggest that the host antiviral immune response, and the subsequently altered pulmonary environment, facilitate the genesis and exacerbation of chronic airway disease. Alas, an effective, safe vaccine or an affordable, widely accessible treatment has yet to be synthesized. Therefore, studies aimed at further elucidating the RSV-host immune system interaction are imperative to the development of successful pharmacologic therapies.

The deacetylase SIRT1 is a ubiquitous protein that impacts numerous areas of biology and pathophysiology, including stress responses, development, metabolism, cardiovascular disease, cancer, neurodegeneration, inflammation, and immunity.<sup>377, 390-393</sup> While SIRT1 regulates immune responses such as lymphocyte activation, proliferation, differentiation, and macrophage cytokine secretion,<sup>390</sup> its role in DC biology has yet to be elucidated. Given the significance of DCs in dictating innate immunity and priming adaptive immune responses, the unknown function of SIRT1 in DCs prompted the studies described in Chapter 3 and 4. Our results shine new light on SIRT1's complex relationship with various cellular pathways (i.e. autophagy) and disease-related processes (i.e. respiratory viral infections).

## SIRT1 promotes DC-mediated antiviral immunity and limits RSVinduced pathology

Appropriately activated APCs are instrumental in achieving immune responses that effectively clear an infection while limiting injury to surrounding tissue. The studies addressed in this dissertation indicate that SIRT1 is necessary to promote DC activation and autophagy during RSV infection, and that in the absence of active SIRT1 within DCs, mice experience a pathological antiviral immune response. We have demonstrated the importance of SIRT1 in DC biology by three independent approaches: (1) chemical inhibition of SIRT1 with EX-527, (2) siRNA knockdown of Sirt1, and (3) genetic ablation of Sirt1 in DCs. Blocking Sirt1 by any of these methods resulted in attenuated cytokine production and inhibited autophagosome numbers within RSV-infected DCs. Additionally, global inhibition of SIRT1 (EX-527) and conditional (CD11c<sup>+</sup> cell-specific) Sirt1 deficiency in an RSV infection model led to the exacerbation of pulmonary pathology. These latter results suggest the adaptive immune response is skewed towards an allergic (Th2) phenotype in the setting of DC-specific Sirt1 deficiency. Furthermore, the decrease in viral clearance at 8 dpi may have contributed to the lack of resolution in pathology and inflammation at 12 dpi in Sirt 1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre<sup>+</sup> mice (Figure 4.5). Thus, these dissertation experiments are the first to characterize Sirt1 as having a beneficial impact on an antiviral response, and to link Sirt1 to autophagy and innate cytokine activation within virally infected DCs. As summarized in Figure 5.1, these functions of SIRT1 appear to have a significant role in directing the development of an efficient antiviral, minimally pathologic immune environment.



Figure 5.1: Sirtuin 1 promotes effective antiviral adaptive immune responses by driving DC activation and autophagy. Upon uptake of viral antigens, DCs upregulate *Sirt1* expression. SIRT1 contributes to the activation of autophagic processes within the DC, such as by deacetylating key ATG proteins, which indirectly promote APC function. Likewise, SIRT1 may directly promote DC function (not elucidated), given its broad involvement in many cellular pathways. Once activated, DCs produce innate cytokines, skewing T-cell differentiation toward an antiviral Th1 adaptive immune response, while suppressing pathologic Th2 and Th17 responses. As a result, SIRT1 within DCs dictates the development of an immune environment that efficiently clears the RSV and resolves the associated inflammation.

Previous work has revealed that SIRT1 can block immune and inflammatory processes, including cytokine production in APCs,<sup>390, 484</sup> likely due to its transcriptional repression of NFKB (RelA/p65) via deacetylation.<sup>408</sup> Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the ablation of Sirt1 in macrophages, using a myeloid cell-specific Sirt1 knockout (Mac-Sirt1 KO) mouse, rendered NFKB hyperacetylated and resulted in increased transcriptional activation of proinflammatory target genes, including Il6, Il12, Tnfa and Il1b.409 These researchers concluded that by targeting NFKB, SIRT1 acts as a brake on metabolically detrimental inflammatory cytokine production by macrophages in a model of diet-induced diabetes. However, during RSV infection, DCs depend on autophagy for the trafficking of viral components to mediate TLR-induced innate cytokine upregulation. As evidenced in Chapter 3, the lack of SIRT1 in DCs reduced critical cytokine production, including IFNB and IL-12, which we suggest contributed to a pathological Th2/Th17 immune response within the airways. Importantly, when DCs were stimulated with TNFa in the presence of EX-527, increased IL-6 production was observed (Appendix 1). Thus, lack of SIRT1 does not intrinsically impair cytokine gene transcription and secretion. This preliminary data also suggests that under certain stimuli, SIRT1-inhibited DCs do not rely on autophagymediated processes, and that instead, blockade of SIRT1 leads to cytokine production driven by increased NF $\kappa$ B acetylation. It would be interesting to explore gene expression and activity levels of the NFKB signaling pathway within Sirt1-deficient DCs during RSV infection. Corollary studies could also include the overexpression of NFKB pathway components in the context of RSV infection, to observe whether this would overcome attenuated cytokine production in Sirt1-deficient DCs. Two independent studies examining DC-specific Sirt1 KO mice have reported no changes in DC maturation, differentiation, or development as compared to WT DCs,<sup>454,510</sup> in agreement with our observations examining

co-stimulatory marker expression and DC immune populations (Figure 3.6, Figure 3.12). However, in contrast to our TLR7 agonist results, one of these studies demonstrated that *Sirt1*<sup>-/-</sup> DCs produced higher levels of cytokines upon TLR1, TLR4, or TLR3 stimulation.<sup>454</sup> Thus, our data indicate that SIRT1 has a unique role in modulating DC cytokine production in the context of a viral infection, such as RSV, that relies on autophagymediated PAMP delivery to endosomal TLRs.<sup>511</sup>

Sirt1-1- mice share phenotypic similarities with autophagy-defective Atg5-1- mice,373 highlighting the significance of these proteins' interactivity. Given that the lack of functional SIRT1 attenuated DC-specific autophagy (Figure 3.4, Figure 3.5, Figure 3.8), experiments were performed to verify the previously reported physical interaction between SIRT1 and autophagosomal proteins within DCs.<sup>373</sup> Overall, preliminary results suggest that levels of acetylated-ATG proteins were increased or at least stabilized by EX-527 treatment, compared to untreated controls, indicating the chemical inhibitor was blocking SIRT1 activity (data not shown). During autophagosomal formation, the protein LC3 is proteolytically modified into LC3II, and upon vesicular maturation LC3II is recycled. Bafilomycin can block this maturation event by inhibiting lysosomal acidification and thus autophagosome-lysosome fusion.<sup>244</sup> Protein analysis of RSV-infected DCs isolated from Sirt1 conditional KO mice showed lower levels of LC3II/I, LC3II, and LC3I protein ratios, suggesting a decrease in autophagy flux (Appendix 2). These protein analyses recapitulate our observation that Sirt1deficient BMDCs are still capable of low levels of autophagosome formation upon RSV exposure (Figure 3.8). All together, it is possible that SIRT1 enhances autophagy flux, but it is not absolutely required. Further biochemical studies should be conducted to thoroughly characterize SIRT1's influence on the autophagosomal machinery.

The significance of SIRT1 in regulating autophagy-related DC function can be expanded to emerging studies on the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases. Among these neuronal diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and Huntington's disease, the main pathological phenotype is the accumulation of toxic intracellular aggregates of mutant proteins. Several neurodegenerative diseases have been associated with defective autophagy, most in part caused by specific mutations in autophagy genes.<sup>252, 512</sup> Additionally, the evidence for SIRT1's protective activity against protein-aggregate-related neurodegeneration is quite expansive. Thus, it is intuitive to propose a crucial interaction between SIRT1 and autophagy in promoting neuronal survival. We can speculate that in neurons susceptible to degeneration, a dysfunction in autophagy is due to either low expression or activity of SIRT1, defective autophagy proteins (as reported), or a combination of SIRT1 and autophagy protein deficiencies. While there is active investigation into the independent contributions of SIRT1 and autophagy in the genesis and progression of these diseases, it would be highly enlightening to study these processes together. For example, a subset of Parkinson's disease is linked to mutation in *PARK2/Parkin*.<sup>279</sup> Do patients with this disease mutation display reduced SIRT1 activity?  $\alpha$ -synuclein has been shown to interfere with Parkin solubility and distribution, contributing to the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease.<sup>513</sup> If neuronal cells isolated from these individuals were treated with SIRT1 activators, would there be a reduction in  $\alpha$ -synuclein-mediated toxicity due to an upregulation of autophagosome formation? Therefore, future studies focusing on the interaction of SIRT1 and autophagy within neurons may yield fruitful discoveries that could contribute to cell survival in patients plagued with such neurodegenerative conditions.

On the other hand, the interaction of SIRT1 and autophagy may also contribute to disease pathology, such as during the chronic inflammation of rheumatoid arthritis (RA). This autoimmune disease is characterized by persistent synovial hyperplasia and inflammation due to immune infiltrates, leading to the destruction of joint cartilage and bone.<sup>514</sup> Innate immunity has been shown to be important in the development of chronic arthritis, including TLR and NLR activation within synovial cells, which leads to IL-6 and TNF $\alpha$  overproduction.<sup>515, 516</sup> Of note, TNF $\alpha$ -induced overexpression of *Sirt1* has been reported to contribute to this chronic inflammation by promoting cytokine production and inhibiting apoptosis in RA synovial fibroblasts.<sup>505</sup> Interestingly, knockdown of *Sirt1* by siRNA or inhibition by EX-527 decreased TNF $\alpha$  production in human monocytes and fibroblasts,<sup>505</sup> much like blocking SIRT1 significantly reduced cytokine levels in our DCs. Likewise, independent studies have noted that TNF $\alpha$  promoted autophagy in osteoclasts, enhancing their bone resorptive capacity.<sup>517</sup> Human synovial fibroblasts from RA patients displayed increased autophagy and protection.<sup>518</sup> This begs the question whether there is a

feedback loop between SIRT1 and autophagy, in which enhanced SIRT1 activity contributes to additional autophagy flux, leading to more TNFα production. Therefore, the described relationship between SIRT1 and autophagy in our study suggests the possibility of a parallel, yet detrimental relationship in the context of RA.

Tissue- and context-dependency of SIRT1's effects may underlie the variability in the protein's role in many diseases, including diabetes, cancer, and immunity. Data suggest that SIRT1 serves to dampen the pro-inflammatory nature of activated macrophages and T cells (Chapter 1), which parallel our *in vivo* results where mice experienced greater RSV-induced lung pathology and inflammatory cytokine production with EX-527 treatment (Figure 4.1). As EX-527 was administered systemically, it is possible that the aggravated pathology was due to a synergistic effect of global SIRT1 inhibition on multiple cell types, including AECs, alveolar macrophages, and T cells. However, this EX-527 *in vivo* data mirrored the results obtained when DC-specific (CD11c<sup>+</sup>) *Sirt1* KO mice were infected with RSV (Figure 4.3, Figure 4.4), highlighting the significance of SIRT1 dysfunction specifically in DCs. Despite reports that SIRT1 mediates pro-inflammatory responses in DCs,<sup>454, 455</sup> we observed an attenuation of DC cytokine production, but a retention of APC function, when SIRT1 was absent or defective (Chapter 3). Therefore, our *in vivo* experiments stress the essential role of SIRT1-mediated DC cytokine production during RSV infection in fine-tuning the T cell-mediated adaptive immune response.

This modulating role and tissue-specificity of SIRT1 is further exemplified in the setting of metabolic disease. In the case of several family members diagnosed with Type 1 diabetes due to a *Sirt1* point mutation (SIRT1-L107P), their insulin-producing pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells overproduced nitric oxide, the cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , and the chemokine CXCL1, a neutrophil chemoattractant.<sup>384</sup> As a result, these patients suffered from hyperglycemia and insulin dependence, and they were positive for  $\beta$ -cell autoantibodies. The puzzling aspect of this mutation is its location outside of the conserved enzymatic core, which causes no changes in protein stability, subcellular localization, or protein-protein interactions with major binding partners. Therefore, the alteration in SIRT1's ability to modulate the activity of specific proteins over a transient period of time in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells seems to cause the diabetic phenotype observed at the organismal level. Perhaps in the presence of insulin

resistance due to SIRT1 dysfunction, stress accelerates  $\beta$ -cell death resulting in the release of autoantigens and endogenous "danger signals" capable of promoting pathologic self-antigen presentation.<sup>519</sup> In this disease context, the ability of SIRT1 to suppress TNF $\alpha$  expression<sup>452</sup> was partially ablated by the L107P mutation, which is significant given that TNF $\alpha$  antagonism has been shown to improve diabetic symptoms.<sup>520</sup> Thus, SIRT1 fine-tunes insulin sensitivity by affecting cytokine production in  $\beta$ -cells, much as it modulates antiviral immunity by affecting cytokine production in DCs.

Data discussed in Chapter 4 allow for further speculation toward specific pulmonary disease states. Baseline respiratory dysfunction, as in the case of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and allergic airway disease (i.e. asthma), can be exacerbated during RSV infection.<sup>5</sup> Of note, cigarette smoke reduces the levels of SIRT1 in the lungs of patients with COPD and in rat models, as well as in monocyte-macrophage cell lines.<sup>521</sup> Perhaps mechanistically related, SIRT1 deacetylates target proteins such as FOXO3, p53, matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP 9), and NFKB, all of which are implicated in the pathogenesis of COPD.<sup>521</sup> Thus, reduction of SIRT1 may promote acetylation of these proteins, thereby enhancing disease factors including autophagy, cellular senescence, emphysema, fibrosis, and inflammation. Targeting SIRT1 in pre-clinical pulmonary disease models has yielded disparate results. In asthma mouse models, administration of pharmacological sirtuin inhibitors (Sirtinol and Cambinol) reduced allergic airway inflammation and Th2 cytokine responses.<sup>455, 507</sup> However, in a separate study using the SIRT1 activator SRT1720, inhibition of Th2 responses was observed during OVA-induced airway disease.<sup>491</sup> Thus, compared to our studies of RSV-induced responses, SIRT1 may have a differential effect in a non-infectious setting. These seemingly contradictory results may also be attributed to the specificity of the inhibitors. As noted in Chapter 1, Sirtinol antagonizes SIRT2 more potently than SIRT1, while Cambinol inhibits SIRT1 and SIRT2 with similar IC50 values. In contrast, EX-527 is a potent and selective SIRT1 inhibitor, with negligible potency against SIRT2 or SIRT3, and no activity against class I/II HDACs.<sup>500</sup> The present dissertation demonstrates the exacerbation of RSV infection in the context of a highly selective SIRT1 inhibitor and in CD11c+-specific Sirt1 KO mice, suggesting that during viral infection, SIRT1 promotes a protective immune environment linked to

autophagy within DCs. These observations may be especially important, as most severe exacerbations in asthma and COPD are associated with viral infections.<sup>5</sup>

### Ongoing and Future Studies

Adjuncts can boost the immunogenicity of vaccines, but careful selection is required, as common alum-based adjuvants have shown to promote a Th2-associated response<sup>522, 523</sup> that is frequently associated with vaccine-enhanced disease symptoms.<sup>108, 524</sup> Based on the CD11c-specific Sirt1 KO mouse experiments, Sirt1-deficient CD11c+ DCs drive a Th2 response in the airways and in restimulated T cells isolated from infected animals. Perhaps SIRT1 activating compounds, such as Resveratrol (natural) or SRT1720 (synthetic), could serve as potential adjuvants in combination with a RSV vaccine to stimulate a more Th1driven response that would prevent disease exacerbation. These SIRT1 activators could also be considered as part of a preventative regimen for immunocompromised or immunodeficient individuals. Of note, Resveratrol treatment of RSV-infected human cell lines has been shown to downregulate IL-6 production and to partially inhibit RSV replication.<sup>525, 526</sup> Currently, we are administering daily Resveratrol by oral gavage to BALB/c mice, which have been infected with RSV Line 19. Given the augmented pathology observed in RSV-infected mice receiving EX-527 (Figure 4.1), but the protection from emphysema or asthma in mice treated with SRT1720,490,491 we predict that the Resveratrol treatment group will clear RSV better by 8 dpi, displaying little to no mucus hyperplasia and insignificant levels of lung inflammatory cytokines, as compared to RSV-infected controls. While the exact influence of Resveratrol on SIRT1, and other possible biological targets, is not clearly understood,486,487 the results of our study would be the first to describe the effects of the compound on the immunopathology of RSV infection.

SIRT1 has been shown to induce autophagy as a protective mechanism during stress conditions, including hypoxia, oxidation, and the accumulation of toxic/unfolded proteins, in a wide range of cell types.<sup>382, 527, 528</sup> We have demonstrated that in the absence of SIRT1, and therefore adequate levels of autophagy, DCs upregulate caspase 3/7 activity (i.e. apoptotic pathway) compared to control cells (Figure 3.10), yet these *Sirt1*-deficient cells do not perish in a greater proportion or rate (Figure 3.11). Interestingly, a separate study also

observed the upregulation of caspase-3 without cell death during CD8+ T cell proliferation in vivo.<sup>529</sup> This prompts the question whether other SIRTs are compensating for the lack of SIRT1 to maintain organelle function, such as the mitochondria-specific SIRT3, 4, or 5. For example, we observed evidence of mitophagy in RSV-infected Cre<sup>-</sup> BMDCs, yet could not identify autophagocytosed, damaged mitochondria in Sirt1-deficient Cre+ BMDCs (Figure 3.9). Studies have already shown that mitochondrial SIRTs can serve as tumor suppressors and promoters, regulate fatty acid metabolism, promote cardiac and HSC stress resistance, and reduce ROS levels, all of which encompass functions of SIRT1, too.378, 530 Specifically, SIRT3 has been reported to regulate mitochondrial biogenesis via interactions with PGC1a (also a SIRT1 partner), inducing mitochondrial DNA replication and synthesis of mitochondrial proteins.<sup>531</sup> Likewise, another study has described how SIRT3 orchestrates antioxidant machinery, as well as mitophagy, via the mitochondrial UPR during proteotoxic stress.<sup>532</sup> Perhaps, mitochondrial SIRTs are capable of regulating mitochondrial homeostasis during RSV infection, in such a way as to mitigate the necessity of mitophagy in context of SIRT1/autophagy dysfunction. In that regard, it would be wise to study the effects of Sirt1deficiency on the expression and activity of the other six mammalian SIRTs, in an effort to identify any overlapping sirtuin functions in the realm of DC biology.

Since virus-induced endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress is a known biological response,<sup>232</sup> RSV-infected *Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre*<sup>+</sup> DCs may be experiencing altered ER stress due to *Sirt1* deficiency, contributing to the observed caspase-3 activity. Preliminary studies suggest that *Sirt1*-deficient BMDCs and pulmonary DCs experience exponentially greater ER stress than control cells in response to RSV infection, as indicated by the upregulation in gene expression of several UPR proteins including *Xpb1s*, which mediates IRE1 $\alpha$  signaling (Appendix 3A-C).<sup>356</sup> UPR induction was verified with Tunicamycin, an N-acetylglycosamine transferase inhibitor that halts glycosylation of newly synthesized glycoproteins, leading to the accumulation of unprocessed proteins in the ER.<sup>357</sup> At two observed time points, *Sirt1*-deficient BMDCs expressed greater mRNA levels of UPR proteins in response to Tunicamycin (Appendix 3D). These data are similar to the ER stress changes we noted in autophagy-deficient AECs, in which mRNA expression of *Edem1* and *Xbp1s* were significantly elevated in RSV-infected *Lc3b<sup>-f-</sup>*AEC cultures 12 hpi.<sup>533</sup> Thus, *Sirt1* deficiency

and autophagy deficiency parallel each other both in terms of DC cytokine reduction (Figure 3.3A) as well as in the case of UPR activation, providing further evidence in support of a reciprocal relationship between SIRT1 and the autophagy pathway.

Studies have shown that co-treating macrophages with chemical ER stressors and TLR3/4 activators significantly enhanced IFNB production in an XBP1s-dependent manner.<sup>534</sup> TLR ligation was also reported to suppress PERK signaling while simultaneously activating and re-routing XBP1s signaling away from canonical UPR targets toward proinflammatory genes.<sup>535, 536</sup> Thus, protein-folding homeostasis may be suppressed in favor of innate immune signaling. Additionally, SIRT1 and inflammatory cytokine protein levels were upregulated upon TLR4 signaling in a human monocyte cell model of endotoxin tolerance.<sup>537</sup> Once endotoxin tolerance developed, SIRT1 promoted epigenetic reprogramming to downregulate cytokine production, by binding to the Tnfa and Il1b promoters and recruiting the anti-inflammatory NFKB subunit, RelB.537 As SIRT1 has been attributed with the attenuation of ER stress,<sup>5, 388, 389</sup> including the inhibition of XBP1s transcriptional activity,<sup>387</sup> it is plausible that SIRT1 initially promotes UPR-related signaling until the stressor (e.g. pathogen) is eliminated, at which point the deacetylase curbs proinflammatory signaling to restore homeostasis. Therefore, the observed upregulation of ER stress protein gene expression in *Sirt1*-deficient DCs may be downstream of incomplete TLR-activation, which leads to unsuccessful upregulation of inflammatory cytokines in the absence of SIRT1. If proven correct, this would be another example of SIRT1's coordination of multiple pathways (e.g. UPR and inflammatory) with an ultimate goal of cellular survival and maintenance.

In relationship to pulmonary disease, IRE1α-mediated XBP1s-activation may sustain the amplified ER calcium stores frequently observed in inflamed airway mucosa,<sup>538</sup> as well as the excessive IL-13-driven mucus production observed in allergic airway disease.<sup>77</sup> While further genetic studies are necessary to firmly determine whether and how observed UPR activation contributes to inflammatory airway disease, we can speculate that ER stress may at least partially explain why viral infection, such as RSV, often instigates or exacerbates baseline pulmonary pathology.<sup>5</sup> Future experiments should address the mechanistic details of the potential interaction(s) of the UPR and SIRT1 during RSV infection—such as UPR transcription factors directly regulating SIRT1 expression—both in DCs and the primary targets of RSV infection, the AECs.

Chapter 1 addressed how both autophagy and SIRT1 participate in nutritional toggling, effectively promoting cellular homeostasis. At the organismal level, *Atg5*<sup>+/-</sup> or *Atg7*<sup>+/-</sup> mice suffer from systemic nutritional deficiency and extreme glucose deficits, while *Sirt1*<sup>+/-</sup> mice are susceptible to hepatic steatosis, mitochondria dysfunction, and metabolic inefficiency upon dietary challenge.<sup>421, 539, 540</sup> Awareness of energy imbalance likely evolved as a mechanism by which eukaryotes detected and eliminated pathogens through autophagy, while SIRT1's enzymatic requirement for NAD<sup>+</sup> intimately links it to a cell's metabolic state. Additionally, SIRT1 interacts with nutritional pathways to mediate cellular energy balance, including the repression of mTOR and the activation of FOXO transcription factors to induce autophagy.<sup>380, 394</sup> These interactions were verified in our studies by the upregulation of *Foxo3* gene expression alongside *Sirt1* expression in RSV-infected DCs (Figure 3.2A), which coincided with an increased autophagosome formation (Figure 3.4, Figure 3.8).

Given these relationships, a fascinating line of research would be investigating the metabolic alternations-and how they relate to SIRT1-within DCs specifically infected with RSV, and how these hinder or facilitate DC activation and APC function. Metabolic regulation and cell signaling are tightly and ubiquitously linked with immune responses, and well studied in the case of lymphocyte biology.<sup>541-543</sup> DCs must adjust their extracellular and intracellular environments as they migrate to nutrient or oxygen-deficient sites, and during the reprogramming that proceeds after inflammatory stimulation (i.e. resulting from a microbial invader). Recent studies have indicated that TLR signaling-mediated metabolic reprogramming facilitates DC maturation and antigen presentation.544,545 TLR stimulation and Type 1 IFN drive the switch from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis, a less efficient but more rapid energy-producing process, similar to the Warburg effect in cancer cells.<sup>544, 545</sup> This shift is likely required to meet the energy demands of activated DCs, thus preventing premature death in order to sustain an immune response. Additionally, dysregulated mTOR or AMPK activity (inhibitor and activator of autophagy, respectively, Figure 1.2) impairs DC development and maturation, suggesting the significance of a metabolic checkpoint in promoting DC function. As SIRT1 can directly suppress mTOR via

deacetylation, our results suggest that SIRT1 deficiency does not dramatically alter this metabolic checkpoint, as we did not observe attenuated DC maturation or development. However, SIRT1 dysfunction negatively affected downstream DC cytokine production, which greatly impacted the resultant adaptive immune response.

Furthermore, Chapter 1 explored how viruses exploit baseline cellular proteins and pathways to their own advantage, such as for progeny propagation by commandeering autophagosomal machinery or ER function. What aspects of DC biology does RSV counteract or seize control over in an attempt to prevent detection? While autophagy significantly heightens PRR activation, via delivery of viral antigen to endosomal TLRs, other cytoplasmic PRRs participate in RSV detection. Do RLRs or NRLs interact with stress pathways, like the previously described TLR association with the UPR, or metabolic pathways? The plausibility of SIRT1 influencing a majority of these changes is quite high as it targets such a tremendous array of proteins, and this could be preliminarily addressed with a microarray panel analysis of immune and metabolic pathways. Moreover, it would be highly warranted to investigate SIRT1's activity at the epigenetic level, as it was initially described as a histone deacetylase and obviously influences cytokine production and cell stress survival in this manner.<sup>537, 402</sup>

In conclusion, this thesis work suggests crucial roles for the protein deacetylase SIRT1 in innate immunity, specifically in the activation of DCs through autophagy during RSV infection. Our findings also suggest SIRT1 may be particularly beneficial during an antiviral immune response to limit pathological outcomes. Thus, SIRT1 pharmacological activators, such as Resveratrol, may serve a part in preventative therapies aimed at fortifying weak or insufficient immunity in RSV-susceptible patients. Likewise, the creation of adjuvants containing SIRT1-activating components may be beneficial, as this could facilitate the development of a successful RSV vaccine.

## APPENDICES



Appendix 1: TNF $\alpha$ -stimulated NF $\kappa$ B-dependent IL-6 production is amplified in the presence of a SIRT1 inhibitor. Previous work has revealed that SIRT1 can block immune and inflammatory processes, including cytokine production in APCs,<sup>390, 484</sup> due to its transcriptional repression of NF $\kappa$ B (RelA/p65) via deacetylation.<sup>408</sup> TNF signals via the NF $\kappa$ B pathway to promote IL-6 production; of note, NF $\kappa$ B binds the promoter region of IL-6. This particular experiment indicates that in the presence of SIRT1 inhibition and TNF stimulation, DCs are still proficient at cytokine production. Therefore, lack of SIRT1 does not intrinsically impair cytokine gene transcription and secretion. Likewise, this data suggests that under certain stimuli, SIRT1-inhibited DCs do not rely on autophagy-mediated processes, and that instead, blockade of SIRT1 leads to cytokine production driven by increased NF $\kappa$ B acetylation. Experimental Design: WT BMDCs cultured from BL6 mouse legs were treated ±1  $\mu$ M EX-527 30 min prior to stimulation with 10 ng/mL recombinant TNF $\alpha$  for 2, 4, or 6 hours. Cytokine gene expression was determined by qPCR. Data are representative of 2 experiments. Values = mean ± SEM, 3 replicates/group.



Appendix 2: Sirt1-deficient BMDCs have attenuated proteins levels of LC3 in response to RSV infection. During autophagosomal formation, the protein LC3 is proteolytically modified into LC3II, which is recycled upon vesicular maturation. The chemical Bafilomycin blocks this maturation event by inhibiting lysosomal acidification and thus autophagosome-lysosome fusion.<sup>244</sup> Protein analysis of RSV-infected DCs isolated from Sirt1 conditional KO mice shows lower levels of LC3II/I, LC3II, and LC3I protein ratios, suggesting a decrease in autophagy flux. This data verifies our previous observation that Sirt1-deficient BMDCs undergo low levels of autophagy during RSV infection (Figure 3.8). Therefore, it is possible that SIRT1 enhances autophagy, but it is not absolutely required. Experimental Design: (A) BMDCs isolated from Sirt1<sup>ff</sup>-CD11c-Cre mice were treated with Bafilomycin 30 min prior to infection with RSV Line 220 for 2 h. After cell harvest and protein lysis, samples were run on SDS-PAGE gels (20 µg per well), followed by membrane transfer and immunoblot for LC3I/II or  $\beta$ -actin. UN = untreated controls. (B) Protein levels were quantified as mean band fluorescence intensity ratios over  $\beta$ -actin protein band intensity, compared to uninfected cells. Data are representative of 2 independent experiments, 2 replicates/group.


Appendix 3: Sirt1-deficient DCs undergo greater levels of ER stress upon RSV infection or Tunicamycin treatment compared to Sirt1-proficient DCs. These experiments suggest that Sirt1-deficient BMDCs and pulmonary DCs experience exponentially greater ER stress than control cells in response to RSV infection, as indicated by the upregulated gene expression of UPR proteins including *Xpb1s*, which mediates IRE1 $\alpha$  signaling.<sup>356</sup> UPR induction was verified with Tunicamycin, an Nacetylglycosamine transferase inhibitor that halts glycosylation of newly synthesized glycoproteins, leading to the accumulation of unprocessed proteins in the ER.357 At two time points, Sirt1-deficient BMDCs expressed greater mRNA levels of UPR proteins in response to Tunicamycin. Experimental Design: (A-B) BMDCs isolated from Sirt1ff-CD11c-Cre mice were infected with RSV 2-20 for 24 h. (C) Sorted pulmonary CD11b+ DCs from Sirt1ff-CD11c-Cre mice were infected with RSV 2-20 for 24 h. (D) BMDCs cultured from Sirt1ff-CD11c-Cre mice were infected with RSV 2-20 or treated with Tunicamycin (ER stress inducer) for 2 or 6 h. Cytokine gene expression of select UPR proteins was determined by qPCR, and compared to naïve/untreated controls. Data are representative of 2 experiments. EDEM1, ER degradation-enhancing alpha-mannosidase-like 1; CHOP, C/EBP homologous protein (aka GADD153 = DNA damage-inducible gene 153); GRP94, glucose-regulated protein 94 kDa (aka HSP90B1 = Heat shock protein 90 kDa beta member 1). Values = mean ± SEM, 3 replicates/group. \*p < 0.05. \*\*p < 0.01.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Blount R. E., Jr., Morris J. A. & Savage R. E. Recovery of cytopathogenic agent from chimpanzees with coryza. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* **92**, 544-549 (1956).
- 2. Chanock R., Roizman B. & Myers R. Recovery from infants with respiratory illness of a virus related to chimpanzee coryza agent (CCA). I. Isolation, properties and characterization. *American journal of hygiene* **66**, 281-290 (1957).
- Falsey A. R., Hennessey P. A., Formica M. A., Cox C. & Walsh E. E. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in elderly and high-risk adults. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352, 1749-1759 (2005).
- 4. Nair H. *et al.* Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* **375**, 1545-1555 (2010).
- 5. Matsumoto K. & Inoue H. Viral infections in asthma and COPD. *Respiratory investigation* **52**, 92-100 (2014).
- 6. Varga S. M. Fixing a failed vaccine. *Nat. Med.* 15, 21-22 (2009).
- 7. Borchers A. T., Chang C., Gershwin M. E. & Gershwin L. J. Respiratory syncytial virus--a comprehensive review. *Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol.* **45**, 331-379 (2013).
- 8. Melero J. A., Garcia-Barreno B., Martinez I., Pringle C. R. & Cane P. A. Antigenic structure, evolution and immunobiology of human respiratory syncytial virus attachment (G) protein. *J. Gen. Virol.* **78** ( **Pt 10**), 2411-2418 (1997).
- 9. Collins P. L. & Graham B. S. Viral and host factors in human respiratory syncytial virus pathogenesis. *J. Virol.* **82**, 2040-2055 (2008).
- 10. Hacking D. & Hull J. Respiratory syncytial virus--viral biology and the host response. J. Infect. 45, 18-24 (2002).
- 11. Collins P. L., Fearns R. & Graham B. S. Respiratory syncytial virus: virology, reverse genetics, and pathogenesis of disease. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **372**, 3-38 (2013).
- Hallak L. K., Spillmann D., Collins P. L. & Peeples M. E. Glycosaminoglycan sulfation requirements for respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Virol.* 74, 10508-10513 (2000).
- 13. Teng M. N., Whitehead S. S. & Collins P. L. Contribution of the respiratory syncytial virus G glycoprotein and its secreted and membrane-bound forms to virus replication in vitro and in vivo. *Virology* **289**, 283-296 (2001).
- 14. Bachi T. Direct observation of the budding and fusion of an enveloped virus by video microscopy of viable cells. *J. Cell Biol.* **107**, 1689-1695 (1988).
- 15. Gonzalez-Reyes L. *et al.* Cleavage of the human respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein at two distinct sites is required for activation of membrane fusion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**, 9859-9864 (2001).

- 16. Dickens L. E., Collins P. L. & Wertz G. W. Transcriptional mapping of human respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Virol.* **52**, 364-369 (1984).
- Fearns R. & Collins P. L. Model for polymerase access to the overlapped L gene of respiratory syncytial virus. J. Virol. 73, 388-397 (1999).
- Kuo L., Grosfeld H., Cristina J., Hill M. G. & Collins P. L. Effects of mutations in the gene-start and gene-end sequence motifs on transcription of monocistronic and dicistronic minigenomes of respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Virol.* 70, 6892-6901 (1996).
- 19. Brown G., Aitken J., Rixon H. W. M. & Sugrue R. J. Caveolin-1 is incorporated into mature respiratory syncytial virus particles during virus assembly on the surface of virus-infected cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* **83**, 611-621 (2002).
- 20. Zhang L., Peeples M. E., Boucher R. C., Collins P. L. & Pickles R. J. Respiratory syncytial virus infection of human airway epithelial cells is polarized, specific to ciliated cells, and without obvious cytopathology. *J. Virol.* **76**, 5654-5666 (2002).
- 21. Wright P. F., Ikizler M. R., Gonzales R. A., Carroll K. N., Johnson J. E. & Werkhaven J. A. Growth of respiratory syncytial virus in primary epithelial cells from the human respiratory tract. *J. Virol.* **79**, 8651-8654 (2005).
- 22. Fonceca A. M., Flanagan B. F., Trinick R., Smyth R. L. & McNamara P. S. Primary airway epithelial cultures from children are highly permissive to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Thorax* 67, 42-48 (2012).
- 23. Thomas K. W., Monick M. M., Staber J. M., Yarovinsky T., Carter A. B. & Hunninghake G. W. Respiratory syncytial virus inhibits apoptosis and induces NF-kappa B activity through a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 492-501 (2002).
- 24. Groskreutz D. J. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus decreases p53 protein to prolong survival of airway epithelial cells. *J. Immunol.* **179**, 2741-2747 (2007).
- 25. Monick M. M. *et al.* Sphingosine kinase mediates activation of extracellular signalrelated kinase and Akt by respiratory syncytial virus. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **30**, 844-852 (2004).
- 26. Bitko V. *et al.* Nonstructural proteins of respiratory syncytial virus suppress premature apoptosis by an NF-kappaB-dependent, interferon-independent mechanism and facilitate virus growth. *J. Virol.* **81**, 1786-1795 (2007).
- 27. van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S. & Watkiss E. R. Pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* 2, 300-305 (2012).
- 28. Monick M. M. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus up-regulates TLR4 and sensitizes airway epithelial cells to endotoxin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 53035-53044 (2003).
- 29. Gagro A. *et al.* Increased Toll-like receptor 4 expression in infants with respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **135**, 267-272 (2004).
- 30. Ehl S. *et al.* The role of Toll-like receptor 4 versus interleukin-12 in immunity to respiratory syncytial virus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **34**, 1146-1153 (2004).
- 31. Garcia-Beato R. & Melero J. A. The C-terminal third of human respiratory syncytial virus attachment (G) protein is partially resistant to protease digestion and is glycosylated in a cell-type-specific manner. *J. Gen. Virol.* **81**, 919-927 (2000).

- 32. Palomo C., Cane P. A. & Melero J. A. Evaluation of the antibody specificities of human convalescent-phase sera against the attachment (G) protein of human respiratory syncytial virus: influence of strain variation and carbohydrate side chains. *J. Med. Virol.* 60, 468-474 (2000).
- Tripp R. A., Jones L. P., Haynes L. M., Zheng H., Murphy P. M. & Anderson L. J. CX3C chemokine mimicry by respiratory syncytial virus G glycoprotein. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 732-738 (2001).
- 34. Polack F. P. *et al.* The cysteine-rich region of respiratory syncytial virus attachment protein inhibits innate immunity elicited by the virus and endotoxin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **102**, 8996-9001 (2005).
- 35. Srikiatkhachorn A. & Braciale T. J. Virus-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes downregulate T helper cell type 2 cytokine secretion and pulmonary eosinophilia during experimental murine respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Exp. Med.* **186**, 421-432 (1997).
- McDermott D. S., Weiss K. A., Knudson C. J. & Varga S. M. Central role of dendritic cells in shaping the adaptive immune response during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Future Virol.* 6, 963-973 (2011).
- 37. Imaz M. S. *et al.* Clinical and epidemiologic characteristics of respiratory syncytial virus subgroups A and B infections in Santa Fe, Argentina. *J. Med. Virol.* **61**, 76-80 (2000).
- 38. Gilca R. *et al.* Distribution and clinical impact of human respiratory syncytial virus genotypes in hospitalized children over 2 winter seasons. *J. Infect. Dis.* **193**, 54-58 (2006).
- 39. Fletcher J. N., Smyth R. L., Thomas H. M., Ashby D. & Hart C. A. Respiratory syncytial virus genotypes and disease severity among children in hospital. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 77, 508-511 (1997).
- 40. Peret T. C. *et al.* Circulation patterns of group A and B human respiratory syncytial virus genotypes in 5 communities in North America. *J. Infect. Dis.* **181**, 1891-1896 (2000).
- 41. Glezen W. P., Taber L. H., Frank A. L. & Kasel J. A. Risk of primary infection and reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. *Am. J. Dis. Child.* **140**, 543-546 (1986).
- 42. Openshaw P. J. & Tregoning J. S. Immune responses and disease enhancement during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 18, 541-555 (2005).
- 43. Osundwa V. M., Dawod S. T. & Ehlayel M. Recurrent wheezing in children with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) bronchiolitis in Qatar. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* **152**, 1001-1003 (1993).
- 44. Schauer U. *et al.* RSV bronchiolitis and risk of wheeze and allergic sensitisation in the first year of life. *Eur. Respir. J.* **20**, 1277-1283 (2002).
- 45. Singleton R. J. *et al.* Sequelae of severe respiratory syncytial virus infection in infancy and early childhood among Alaska Native children. *Pediatrics* **112**, 285-290 (2003).
- 46. Fjaerli H. O., Farstad T., Rod G., Ufert G. K., Gulbrandsen P. & Nakstad B. Acute bronchiolitis in infancy as risk factor for wheezing and reduced pulmonary function by seven years in Akershus County, Norway. *BMC Pediatr.* **5**, 31 (2005).

- Henderson J., Hilliard T. N., Sherriff A., Stalker D., Al Shammari N. & Thomas H. M. Hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis before 12 months of age and subsequent asthma, atopy and wheeze: a longitudinal birth cohort study. *Pediatr. Allergy Immunol.* 16, 386-392 (2005).
- 48. Sigurs N. *et al.* Asthma and allergy patterns over 18 years after severe RSV bronchiolitis in the first year of life. *Thorax* **65**, 1045-1052 (2010).
- Pedraz C., Carbonell-Estrany X., Figueras-Aloy J., Quero J. & Group I. S. Effect of palivizumab prophylaxis in decreasing respiratory syncytial virus hospitalizations in premature infants. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 22, 823-827 (2003).
- Wenzel S. E., Gibbs R. L., Lehr M. V. & Simoes E. A. Respiratory outcomes in high-risk children 7 to 10 years after prophylaxis with respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin. *Am. J. Med.* 112, 627-633 (2002).
- 51. Holtzman M. J. *et al.* Immune pathways for translating viral infection into chronic airway disease. *Adv. Immunol.* **102**, 245-276 (2009).
- Henderson F. W., Collier A. M., Clyde W. A., Jr. & Denny F. W. Respiratorysyncytial-virus infections, reinfections and immunity. A prospective, longitudinal study in young children. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 300, 530-534 (1979).
- 53. Walsh E. E. & Falsey A. R. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in adult populations. *Infectious disorders drug targets* **12**, 98-102 (2012).
- 54. American Academy of Pediatrics Subcommittee on D. & Management of B. Diagnosis and management of bronchiolitis. *Pediatrics* **118**, 1774-1793 (2006).
- Boyce T. G., Mellen B. G., Mitchel E. F., Jr., Wright P. F. & Griffin M. R. Rates of hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus infection among children in medicaid. *J. Pediatr.* 137, 865-870 (2000).
- 56. Hall C. B. et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. N. Engl. J. Med. 360, 588-598 (2009).
- 57. Simoes E. A. Environmental and demographic risk factors for respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract disease. *J. Pediatr.* 143, S118-126 (2003).
- 58. Bulkow L. R., Singleton R. J., Karron R. A., Harrison L. H. & Alaska R. S. V. S. G. Risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus infection among Alaska native children. *Pediatrics* **109**, 210-216 (2002).
- 59. Figueras-Aloy J., Carbonell-Estrany X., Quero J. & Group I. S. Case-control study of the risk factors linked to respiratory syncytial virus infection requiring hospitalization in premature infants born at a gestational age of 33-35 weeks in Spain. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 23, 815-820 (2004).
- 60. Stensballe L. G. *et al.* Atopic disposition, wheezing, and subsequent respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization in Danish children younger than 18 months: a nested case-control study. *Pediatrics* **118**, e1360-1368 (2006).
- 61. Bulkow L. R. *et al.* Risk factors for hospitalization with lower respiratory tract infections in children in rural Alaska. *Pediatrics* **129**, e1220-1227 (2012).
- 62. Parrott R. H. *et al.* Epidemiology of respiratory syncytial virus infection in Washington, D.C. II. Infection and disease with respect to age, immunologic status, race and sex. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* **98**, 289-300 (1973).

- 63. Brandenburg A. H. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus specific serum antibodies in infants under six months of age: limited serological response upon infection. *J. Med. Virol.* **52**, 97-104 (1997).
- 64. Venter M., Collinson M. & Schoub B. D. Molecular epidemiological analysis of community circulating respiratory syncytial virus in rural South Africa: Comparison of viruses and genotypes responsible for different disease manifestations. *J. Med. Virol.* 68, 452-461 (2002).
- 65. Holman R. C. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus hospitalizations among American Indian and Alaska Native infants and the general United States infant population. *Pediatrics* 114, e437-444 (2004).
- 66. Singleton R. J., Bruden D., Bulkow L. R., Varney G. & Butler J. C. Decline in respiratory syncytial virus hospitalizations in a region with high hospitalization rates and prolonged season. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* **25**, 1116-1122 (2006).
- 67. Walsh E. E., McConnochie K. M., Long C. E. & Hall C. B. Severity of respiratory syncytial virus infection is related to virus strain. *J. Infect. Dis.* **175**, 814-820 (1997).
- 68. Janssen R. *et al.* Genetic susceptibility to respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis is predominantly associated with innate immune genes. *J. Infect. Dis.* **196**, 826-834 (2007).
- 69. DeVincenzo J. P., El Saleeby C. M. & Bush A. J. Respiratory syncytial virus load predicts disease severity in previously healthy infants. *J. Infect. Dis.* **191**, 1861-1868 (2005).
- 70. Awomoyi A. A. et al. Association of TLR4 polymorphisms with symptomatic respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants and young children. J. Immunol. 179, 3171-3177 (2007).
- 71. Paulus S. C., Hirschfeld A. F., Victor R. E., Brunstein J., Thomas E. & Turvey S. E. Common human Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms--role in susceptibility to respiratory syncytial virus infection and functional immunological relevance. *Clin. Immunol.* **123**, 252-257 (2007).
- 72. Garofalo R. P., Patti J., Hintz K. A., Hill V., Ogra P. L. & Welliver R. C. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha (not T helper type 2 cytokines) is associated with severe forms of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *J. Infect. Dis.* 184, 393-399 (2001).
- 73. Bermejo-Martin J. F. *et al.* Predominance of Th2 cytokines, CXC chemokines and innate immunity mediators at the mucosal level during severe respiratory syncytial virus infection in children. *Eur. Cytokine Netw.* **18**, 162-167 (2007).
- 74. Bont L. *et al.* Local interferon-gamma levels during respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract infection are associated with disease severity. *J. Infect. Dis.* **184**, 355-358 (2001).
- 75. Bennett B. L. *et al.* Immunopathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *J. Infect. Dis.* **195**, 1532-1540 (2007).
- 76. Garcia C. *et al.* Decreased innate immune cytokine responses correlate with disease severity in children with respiratory syncytial virus and human rhinovirus bronchiolitis. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* **31**, 86-89 (2012).

- 77. van der Pouw Kraan T. C. *et al.* An IL-13 promoter polymorphism associated with increased risk of allergic asthma. *Genes Immun.* 1, 61-65 (1999).
- 78. Hoebee B. *et al.* Association of severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis with interleukin-4 and interleukin-4 receptor alpha polymorphisms. *J. Infect. Dis.* **187**, 2-11 (2003).
- Puthothu B., Krueger M., Forster J. & Heinzmann A. Association between severe respiratory syncytial virus infection and IL13/IL4 haplotypes. *J. Infect. Dis.* 193, 438-441 (2006).
- 80. Forton J. T. *et al.* Genetic association study for RSV bronchiolitis in infancy at the 5q31 cytokine cluster. *Thorax* 64, 345-352 (2009).
- Sheeran P. *et al.* Elevated cytokine concentrations in the nasopharyngeal and tracheal secretions of children with respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 18, 115-122 (1999).
- 82. Abu-Harb M. *et al.* IL-8 and neutrophil elastase levels in the respiratory tract of infants with RSV bronchiolitis. *Eur. Respir. J.* 14, 139-143 (1999).
- 83. Gern J. E. *et al.* Relationships among specific viral pathogens, virus-induced interleukin-8, and respiratory symptoms in infancy. *Pediatr. Allergy Immunol.* 13, 386-393 (2002).
- 84. Garofalo R. P., Hintz K. H., Hill V., Patti J., Ogra P. L. & Welliver R. C., Sr. A comparison of epidemiologic and immunologic features of bronchiolitis caused by influenza virus and respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Med. Virol.* **75**, 282-289 (2005).
- 85. Puthothu B., Krueger M., Heinze J., Forster J. & Heinzmann A. Impact of IL8 and IL8-receptor alpha polymorphisms on the genetics of bronchial asthma and severe RSV infections. *Clin. Mol. Allergy* 4, 2 (2006).
- 86. Lu A., Wang L. & Zhang X. Haplotype of IL-8 -251T and 781C is associated with the susceptibility to respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Trop. Pediatr.* **56**, 242-246 (2010).
- Amanatidou V. *et al.* RANTES promoter gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to severe respiratory syncytial virus-induced bronchiolitis. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 27, 38-42 (2008).
- Tian M., Liu F., Wen G. Y., Shi S. Y., Chen R. H. & Zhao D. Y. Effect of variation in RANTES promoter on serum RANTES levels and risk of recurrent wheezing after RSV bronchiolitis in children from Han, Southern China. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 168, 963-967 (2009).
- 89. Hattori S. *et al.* Relationship between RANTES polymorphisms and respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in a Japanese infant population. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis.* 64, 242-245 (2011).
- 90. Houben M. L. *et al.* Disease severity and viral load are correlated in infants with primary respiratory syncytial virus infection in the community. *J. Med. Virol.* 82, 1266-1271 (2010).
- Simoes E. A., Mutyara K., Soh S., Agustian D., Hibberd M. L. & Kartasasmita C. B. The epidemiology of respiratory syncytial virus lower respiratory tract infections in children less than 5 years of age in Indonesia. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 30, 778-784 (2011).

- 92. Wu W., Macdonald A., Hiscox J. A. & Barr J. N. Different NF-kappaB activation characteristics of human respiratory syncytial virus subgroups A and B. *Microb. Pathog.* **52**, 184-191 (2012).
- 93. Lukacs N. W. *et al.* Differential immune responses and pulmonary pathophysiology are induced by two different strains of respiratory syncytial virus. *Am. J. Pathol.* **169**, 977-986 (2006).
- 94. Moore M. L. *et al.* A chimeric A2 strain of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) with the fusion protein of RSV strain line 19 exhibits enhanced viral load, mucus, and airway dysfunction. *J. Virol.* **83**, 4185-4194 (2009).
- 95. Stokes K. L. *et al.* Differential pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus clinical isolates in BALB/c mice. *J. Virol.* **85**, 5782-5793 (2011).
- Villenave R. *et al.* Differential cytopathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus prototypic and clinical isolates in primary pediatric bronchial epithelial cells. *Virol J.* 8, 43 (2011).
- 97. Levitz R. *et al.* Induction of IL-6 and CCL5 (RANTES) in human respiratory epithelial (A549) cells by clinical isolates of respiratory syncytial virus is strain specific. *Virol J.* **9**, 190 (2012).
- 98. Fernandes R. M. & Hartling L. Glucocorticoids for acute viral bronchiolitis in infants and young children. *JAMA* **311**, 87-88 (2014).
- 99. Pinto R. A., Arredondo S. M., Bono M. R., Gaggero A. A. & Diaz P. V. T helper 1/T helper 2 cytokine imbalance in respiratory syncytial virus infection is associated with increased endogenous plasma cortisol. *Pediatrics* **117**, e878-886 (2006).
- Ermers M. J., Rovers M. M., van Woensel J. B., Kimpen J. L., Bont L. J. & Group R. S. V. C. S. The effect of high dose inhaled corticosteroids on wheeze in infants after respiratory syncytial virus infection: randomised double blind placebo controlled trial. *BMJ* 338, b897 (2009).
- 101. Ventre K. & Randolph A. G. Ribavirin for respiratory syncytial virus infection of the lower respiratory tract in infants and young children. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews* 10.1002/14651858.CD000181.pub3, CD000181 (2007).
- 102. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. The IMpact-RSV Study Group. *Pediatrics* **102**, 531-537 (1998).
- 103. Committee on Infectious D. From the American Academy of Pediatrics: Policy statements--Modified recommendations for use of palivizumab for prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infections. *Pediatrics* **124**, 1694-1701 (2009).
- 104. Hussell T., Georgiou A., Sparer T. E., Matthews S., Pala P. & Openshaw P. J. Host genetic determinants of vaccine-induced eosinophilia during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Immunol.* 161, 6215-6222 (1998).
- 105. Polack F. P. et al. A role for immune complexes in enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. J. Exp. Med. 196, 859-865 (2002).
- 106. Prince G. A., Curtis S. J., Yim K. C. & Porter D. D. Vaccine-enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease in cotton rats following immunization with Lot 100 or a newly prepared reference vaccine. *J. Gen. Virol.* **82**, 2881-2888 (2001).

- 107. Prince G. A. *et al.* Enhancement of respiratory syncytial virus pulmonary pathology in cotton rats by prior intramuscular inoculation of formalin-inactiva ted virus. *J. Virol.* 57, 721-728 (1986).
- 108. Waris M. E., Tsou C., Erdman D. D., Zaki S. R. & Anderson L. J. Respiratory synctial virus infection in BALB/c mice previously immunized with formalininactivated virus induces enhanced pulmonary inflammatory response with a predominant Th2-like cytokine pattern. J. Virol. 70, 2852-2860 (1996).
- 109. Gershwin L. J. *et al.* A bovine model of vaccine enhanced respiratory syncytial virus pathophysiology. *Vaccine* 16, 1225-1236 (1998).
- 110. Kalina W. V., Woolums A. R., Berghaus R. D. & Gershwin L. J. Formalininactivated bovine RSV vaccine enhances a Th2 mediated immune response in infected cattle. *Vaccine* 22, 1465-1474 (2004).
- 111. Wright P. F. *et al.* Evaluation of a live, cold-passaged, temperature-sensitive, respiratory syncytial virus vaccine candidate in infancy. *J. Infect. Dis.* **182**, 1331-1342 (2000).
- 112. Murata Y. Respiratory syncytial virus vaccine development. *Clin. Lab. Med.* 29, 725-739 (2009).
- Schickli J. H., Dubovsky F. & Tang R. S. Challenges in developing a pediatric RSV vaccine. *Human vaccines* 5, 582-591 (2009).
- 114. Widjojoatmodjo M. N., Boes J., van Bers M., van Remmerden Y., Roholl P. J. & Luytjes W. A highly attenuated recombinant human respiratory syncytial virus lacking the G protein induces long-lasting protection in cotton rats. *Virol J.* 7, 114 (2010).
- 115. Bukreyev A., Whitehead S. S., Bukreyeva N., Murphy B. R. & Collins P. L. Interferon gamma expressed by a recombinant respiratory syncytial virus attenuates virus replication in mice without compromising immunogenicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 96, 2367-2372 (1999).
- 116. Harker J. A. *et al.* Interleukin 18 coexpression during respiratory syncytial virus infection results in enhanced disease mediated by natural killer cells. *J. Virol.* 84, 4073-4082 (2010).
- 117. Shao H. Y. *et al.* Immunoprotectivity of HLA-A2 CTL peptides derived from respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein in HLA-A2 transgenic mouse. *PLoS One* **6**, e25500 (2011).
- 118. Garlapati S. *et al.* Enhanced immune responses and protection by vaccination with respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein formulated with CpG oligodeoxynucleotide and innate defense regulator peptide in polyphosphazene microparticles. *Vaccine* **30**, 5206-5214 (2012).
- 119. Nguyen T. N. *et al.* The respiratory syncytial virus G protein conserved domain induces a persistent and protective antibody response in rodents. *PLoS One* 7, e34331 (2012).
- 120. Shafique M., Wilschut J. & de Haan A. Induction of mucosal and systemic immunity against respiratory syncytial virus by inactivated virus supplemented with TLR9 and NOD2 ligands. *Vaccine* **30**, 597-606 (2012).

- 121. Noah T. L. & Becker S. Chemokines in nasal secretions of normal adults experimentally infected with respiratory syncytial virus. *Clin. Immunol.* **97**, 43-49 (2000).
- 122. van Schaik S. M., Enhorning G., Vargas I. & Welliver R. C. Respiratory syncytial virus affects pulmonary function in BALB/c mice. *J. Infect. Dis.* 177, 269-276 (1998).
- 123. Bera M. M. *et al.* Th17 cytokines are critical for respiratory syncytial virus-associated airway hyperreponsiveness through regulation by complement C3a and tachykinins. *J. Immunol.* **187**, 4245-4255 (2011).
- 124. Chavez-Bueno S. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus-induced acute and chronic airway disease is independent of genetic background: an experimental murine model. *Virol J.* **2**, 46 (2005).
- 125. Jafri H. S. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus induces pneumonia, cytokine response, airway obstruction, and chronic inflammatory infiltrates associated with long-term airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *J. Infect. Dis.* **189**, 1856-1865 (2004).
- 126. Peebles R. S., Jr., Sheller J. R., Johnson J. E., Mitchell D. B. & Graham B. S. Respiratory syncytial virus infection prolongs methacholine-induced airway hyperresponsiveness in ovalbumin-sensitized mice. *J. Med. Virol.* 57, 186-192 (1999).
- 127. Durbin J. E. et al. The role of IFN in respiratory syncytial virus pathogenesis. J. Immunol. 168, 2944-2952 (2002).
- 128. Johnson J. E., Gonzales R. A., Olson S. J., Wright P. F. & Graham B. S. The histopathology of fatal untreated human respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Mod. Pathol.* 20, 108-119 (2007).
- 129. Reed J. L. *et al.* Macrophage impairment underlies airway occlusion in primary respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *J. Infect. Dis.* **198**, 1783-1793 (2008).
- 130. Welliver T. P., Reed J. L. & Welliver R. C., Sr. Respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus infections: observations from tissues of fatal infant cases. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 27, S92-96 (2008).
- Kolli D., Velayutham T. S. & Casola A. Host-Viral Interactions: Role of Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) in Human Pneumovirus Infections. *Pathogens* 2 (2013).
- 132. Imran M. *et al.* Interaction of Hepatitis C virus proteins with pattern recognition receptors. *Virol J.* 9, 126 (2012).
- 133. Villalba M. *et al.* Herpes simplex virus type 1 induces simultaneous activation of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and expression of the endogenous ligand serum amyloid A in astrocytes. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* **201**, 371-379 (2012).
- 134. Zhou S. *et al.* Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection of CNS glial cells results in TLR2-MyD88/Mal-dependent inflammatory responses. *J. Neuroimmunol.* **194**, 70-82 (2008).
- 135. Chaudhuri S., Lowen B., Chan G., Davey A., Riddell M. & Guilbert L. J. Human cytomegalovirus interacts with toll-like receptor 2 and CD14 on syncytiotrophoblasts to stimulate expression of TNFalpha mRNA and apoptosis. *Placenta* 30, 994-1001 (2009).

- 136. Murawski M. R. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus activates innate immunity through Toll-like receptor 2. *J. Virol.* **83**, 1492-1500 (2009).
- 137. Xie X. H. *et al.* [Toll-like receptor 4 expression and function of respiratory syncytial virus-infected airway epithelial cells]. *Zhonghua Jie He Hu Xi Za Zhi* **31**, 213-217 (2008).
- 138. Kurt-Jones E. A. *et al.* Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Nat. Immunol.* 1, 398-401 (2000).
- 139. Xie X. H., Law H. K., Wang L. J., Li X., Yang X. Q. & Liu E. M. Lipopolysaccharide induces IL-6 production in respiratory syncytial virus-infected airway epithelial cells through the toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathway. *Pediatr. Res.* 65, 156-162 (2009).
- Haynes L. M., Moore D. D., Kurt-Jones E. A., Finberg R. W., Anderson L. J. & Tripp R. A. Involvement of toll-like receptor 4 in innate immunity to respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Virol.* 75, 10730-10737 (2001).
- 141. Miyairi I. & DeVincenzo J. P. Human genetic factors and respiratory syncytial virus disease severity. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **21**, 686-703 (2008).
- 142. Arbour N. C. *et al.* TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. *Nat. Genet.* **25**, 187-191 (2000).
- Rudd B. D., Burstein E., Duckett C. S., Li X. & Lukacs N. W. Differential role for TLR3 in respiratory syncytial virus-induced chemokine expression. *J. Virol.* 79, 3350-3357 (2005).
- 144. Groskreutz D. J., Monick M. M., Powers L. S., Yarovinsky T. O., Look D. C. & Hunninghake G. W. Respiratory syncytial virus induces TLR3 protein and protein kinase R, leading to increased double-stranded RNA responsiveness in airway epithelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 176, 1733-1740 (2006).
- Rudd B. D. *et al.* Deletion of TLR3 alters the pulmonary immune environment and mucus production during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Immunol.* 176, 1937-1942 (2006).
- Lukacs N. W., Smit J. J., Mukherjee S., Morris S. B., Nunez G. & Lindell D. M. Respiratory virus-induced TLR7 activation controls IL-17-associated increased mucus via IL-23 regulation. *J. Immunol.* 185, 2231-2239 (2010).
- 147. Seth R. B., Sun L., Ea C. K. & Chen Z. J. Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3. *Cell* 122, 669-682 (2005).
- 148. Kawai T. *et al.* IPS-1, an adaptor triggering RIG-I- and Mda5-mediated type I interferon induction. *Nat. Immunol.* **6**, 981-988 (2005).
- Fujita T., Onoguchi K., Onomoto K., Hirai R. & Yoneyama M. Triggering antiviral response by RIG-I-related RNA helicases. *Biochimie* 89, 754-760 (2007).
- 150. Demoor T. *et al.* IPS-1 signaling has a nonredundant role in mediating antiviral responses and the clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Immunol.* **189**, 5942-5953 (2012).
- 151. Scagnolari C. *et al.* Gene expression of nucleic acid-sensing pattern recognition receptors in children hospitalized for respiratory syncytial virus-associated acute bronchiolitis. *Clin. Vaccine Immunol.* **16**, 816-823 (2009).

- 152. Ling Z., Tran K. C. & Teng M. N. Human respiratory syncytial virus nonstructural protein NS2 antagonizes the activation of beta interferon transcription by interacting with RIG-I. *J. Virol.* **83**, 3734-3742 (2009).
- 153. Boyapalle S. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus NS1 protein colocalizes with mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein MAVS following infection. *PLoS One* 7, e29386 (2012).
- 154. Martinon F., Burns K. & Tschopp J. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. *Mol. Cell* **10**, 417-426 (2002).
- 155. Kanneganti T. D. *et al.* Critical role for Cryopyrin/Nalp3 in activation of caspase-1 in response to viral infection and double-stranded RNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**, 36560-36568 (2006).
- 156. Masumoto J. *et al.* ASC is an activating adaptor for NF-kappa B and caspase-8dependent apoptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **303**, 69-73 (2003).
- 157. Segovia J. *et al.* TLR2/MyD88/NF-kappaB pathway, reactive oxygen species, potassium efflux activates NLRP3/ASC inflammasome during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *PLoS One* 7, e29695 (2012).
- 158. Sabbah A. et al. Activation of innate immune antiviral responses by Nod2. Nat. Immunol. 10, 1073-1080 (2009).
- 159. Haeberle H. A. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus-induced activation of nuclear factorkappaB in the lung involves alveolar macrophages and toll-like receptor 4-dependent pathways. *J. Infect. Dis.* **186**, 1199-1206 (2002).
- 160. Miller A. L., Bowlin T. L. & Lukacs N. W. Respiratory syncytial virus-induced chemokine production: linking viral replication to chemokine production in vitro and in vivo. *J. Infect. Dis.* 189, 1419-1430 (2004).
- Pribul P. K. *et al.* Alveolar macrophages are a major determinant of early responses to viral lung infection but do not influence subsequent disease development. *J. Virol.* 82, 4441-4448 (2008).
- Doucet C., Brouty-Boye D., Pottin-Clemenceau C., Canonica G. W., Jasmin C. & Azzarone B. Interleukin (IL) 4 and IL-13 act on human lung fibroblasts. Implication in asthma. *J. Clin. Invest.* 101, 2129-2139 (1998).
- 163. Grunig G. *et al.* Requirement for IL-13 independently of IL-4 in experimental asthma. *Science* 282, 2261-2263 (1998).
- Hussell T., Pennycook A. & Openshaw P. J. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor reduces the severity of virus-specific lung immunopathology. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 2566-2573 (2001).
- Rutigliano J. A. & Graham B. S. Prolonged production of TNF-alpha exacerbates illness during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Immunol.* 173, 3408-3417 (2004).
- 166. Tregoning J. S. *et al.* The chemokine MIP1alpha/CCL3 determines pathology in primary RSV infection by regulating the balance of T cell populations in the murine lung. *PLoS One* **5**, e9381 (2010).
- 167. Levine B. Eating oneself and uninvited guests: autophagy-related pathways in cellular defense. *Cell* **120**, 159-162 (2005).

- 168. Park J. W. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus-induced airway hyperresponsiveness is independent of IL-13 compared with that induced by allergen. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **112**, 1078-1087 (2003).
- 169. Dakhama A. *et al.* Alteration of airway neuropeptide expression and development of airway hyperresponsiveness following respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 288, L761-770 (2005).
- 170. Johnson T. R. *et al.* Role for innate IFNs in determining respiratory syncytial virus immunopathology. *J. Immunol.* **174**, 7234-7241 (2005).
- Kaiko G. E., Phipps S., Angkasekwinai P., Dong C. & Foster P. S. NK cell deficiency predisposes to viral-induced Th2-type allergic inflammation via epithelialderived IL-25. *J. Immunol.* 185, 4681-4690 (2010).
- 172. Loebbermann J. *et al.* IL-10 regulates viral lung immunopathology during acute respiratory syncytial virus infection in mice. *PLoS One* 7, e32371 (2012).
- 173. Makela M. J. *et al.* Prior airway exposure to allergen increases virus-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **112**, 861-869 (2003).
- Schwarze J., Hamelmann E., Bradley K. L., Takeda K. & Gelfand E. W. Respiratory syncytial virus infection results in airway hyperresponsiveness and enhanced airway sensitization to allergen. *J. Clin. Invest.* 100, 226-233 (1997).
- Schwarze J. *et al.* IL-5 and eosinophils are essential for the development of airway hyperresponsiveness following acute respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Immunol.* 162, 2997-3004 (1999).
- 176. Tristram D. A., Hicks W., Jr. & Hard R. Respiratory syncytial virus and human bronchial epithelium. *Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* **124**, 777-783 (1998).
- 177. Mellow T. E., Murphy P. C., Carson J. L., Noah T. L., Zhang L. & Pickles R. J. The effect of respiratory synctial virus on chemokine release by differentiated airway epithelium. *Exp. Lung Res.* **30**, 43-57 (2004).
- McNamara P. S., Ritson P., Selby A., Hart C. A. & Smyth R. L. Bronchoalveolar lavage cellularity in infants with severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 88, 922-926 (2003).
- 179. Heidema J. *et al.* CD8+ T cell responses in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood mononuclear cells of infants with severe primary respiratory syncytial virus infections. *J. Immunol.* **179**, 8410-8417 (2007).
- Kim C. K., Kim S. W., Park C. S., Kim B. I., Kang H. & Koh Y. Y. Bronchoalveolar lavage cytokine profiles in acute asthma and acute bronchiolitis. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 112, 64-71 (2003).
- 181. Estripeaut D. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus persistence in the lungs correlates with airway hyperreactivity in the mouse model. *J. Infect. Dis.* **198**, 1435-1443 (2008).
- 182. Graham B. S., Bunton L. A., Wright P. F. & Karzon D. T. Role of T lymphocyte subsets in the pathogenesis of primary infection and rechallenge with respiratory syncytial virus in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 88, 1026-1033 (1991).
- 183. Bem R. A. *et al.* Activation of the granzyme pathway in children with severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatr. Res.* **63**, 650-655 (2008).

- 184. Welliver T. P. *et al.* Severe human lower respiratory tract illness caused by respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus is characterized by the absence of pulmonary cytotoxic lymphocyte responses. *J. Infect. Dis.* **195**, 1126-1136 (2007).
- Guerrero-Plata A., Kolli D., Hong C., Casola A. & Garofalo R. P. Subversion of pulmonary dendritic cell function by paramyxovirus infections. *J. Immunol.* 182, 3072-3083 (2009).
- Smit J. J., Rudd B. D. & Lukacs N. W. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells inhibit pulmonary immunopathology and promote clearance of respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 1153-1159 (2006).
- 187. Beyer M., Bartz H., Horner K., Doths S., Koerner-Rettberg C. & Schwarze J. Sustained increases in numbers of pulmonary dendritic cells after respiratory syncytial virus infection. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 113, 127-133 (2004).
- 188. Gill M. A. *et al.* Differential recruitment of dendritic cells and monocytes to respiratory mucosal sites in children with influenza virus or respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Infect. Dis.* **198**, 1667-1676 (2008).
- Gill M. A. *et al.* Mobilization of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells to mucosal sites in children with respiratory syncytial virus and other viral respiratory infections. *J. Infect. Dis.* 191, 1105-1115 (2005).
- 190. Merad M., Sathe P., Helft J., Miller J. & Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **31**, 563-604 (2013).
- 191. Lambrecht B. N. & Hammad H. Lung dendritic cells in respiratory viral infection and asthma: from protection to immunopathology. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **30**, 243-270 (2012).
- 192. Johnson T. R., Johnson C. N., Corbett K. S., Edwards G. C. & Graham B. S. Primary human mDC1, mDC2, and pDC dendritic cells are differentially infected and activated by respiratory syncytial virus. *PLoS One* **6**, e16458 (2011).
- 193. Guerrero-Plata A. *et al.* Differential response of dendritic cells to human metapneumovirus and respiratory syncytial virus. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 34, 320-329 (2006).
- 194. Jones A., Morton I., Hobson L., Evans G. S. & Everard M. L. Differentiation and immune function of human dendritic cells following infection by respiratory syncytial virus. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **143**, 513-522 (2006).
- 195. de Graaff P. M. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus infection of monocyte-derived dendritic cells decreases their capacity to activate CD4 T cells. *J. Immunol.* 175, 5904-5911 (2005).
- 196. Wang H., Peters N. & Schwarze J. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells limit viral replication, pulmonary inflammation, and airway hyperresponsiveness in respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Immunol.* 177, 6263-6270 (2006).
- 197. Le Nouen C. *et al.* Infection and maturation of monocyte-derived human dendritic cells by human respiratory syncytial virus, human metapneumovirus, and human parainfluenza virus type 3. *Virology* **385**, 169-182 (2009).

- 198. Munir S., Le Nouen C., Luongo C., Buchholz U. J., Collins P. L. & Bukreyev A. Nonstructural proteins 1 and 2 of respiratory syncytial virus suppress maturation of human dendritic cells. *J. Virol.* 82, 8780-8796 (2008).
- 199. Rudd B. D., Luker G. D., Luker K. E., Peebles R. S. & Lukacs N. W. Type I interferon regulates respiratory virus infected dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production. *Viral Immunol.* **20**, 531-540 (2007).
- Kallal L. E., Hartigan A. J., Hogaboam C. M., Schaller M. A. & Lukacs N. W. Inefficient lymph node sensitization during respiratory viral infection promotes IL-17-mediated lung pathology. *J. Immunol.* 185, 4137-4147 (2010).
- Lukens M. V., Kruijsen D., Coenjaerts F. E., Kimpen J. L. & van Bleek G. M. Respiratory syncytial virus-induced activation and migration of respiratory dendritic cells and subsequent antigen presentation in the lung-draining lymph node. *J. Virol.* 83, 7235-7243 (2009).
- Desch A. N. *et al.* CD103+ pulmonary dendritic cells preferentially acquire and present apoptotic cell-associated antigen. *J. Exp. Med.* 208, 1789-1797 (2011).
- 203. Kool M. *et al.* An anti-inflammatory role for plasmacytoid dendritic cells in allergic airway inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **183**, 1074-1082 (2009).
- 204. Luber C. A. *et al.* Quantitative proteomics reveals subset-specific viral recognition in dendritic cells. *Immunity* **32**, 279-289 (2010).
- Beaty S. R., Rose C. E., Jr. & Sung S. S. Diverse and potent chemokine production by lung CD11bhigh dendritic cells in homeostasis and in allergic lung inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 178, 1882-1895 (2007).
- Kim T. S. & Braciale T. J. Respiratory dendritic cell subsets differ in their capacity to support the induction of virus-specific cytotoxic CD8+ T cell responses. *PLoS One* 4, e4204 (2009).
- 207. Ballesteros-Tato A., Leon B., Lund F. E. & Randall T. D. Temporal changes in dendritic cell subsets, cross-priming and costimulation via CD70 control CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 216-224 (2010).
- Plantinga M., Hammad H. & Lambrecht B. N. Origin and functional specializations of DC subsets in the lung. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 40, 2112-2118 (2010).
- 209. Gonzalez P. A. *et al.* Respiratory syncytial virus impairs T cell activation by preventing synapse assembly with dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 14999-15004 (2008).
- 210. Chi B. *et al.* Alpha and lambda interferon together mediate suppression of CD4 T cells induced by respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Virol.* **80**, 5032-5040 (2006).
- 211. Rothoeft T., Fischer K., Zawatzki S., Schulz V., Schauer U. & Korner Rettberg C. Differential response of human naive and memory/effector T cells to dendritic cells infected by respiratory syncytial virus. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **150**, 263-273 (2007).
- Adkins B., Leclerc C. & Marshall-Clarke S. Neonatal adaptive immunity comes of age. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 4, 553-564 (2004).
- 213. Jaimes M. C. *et al.* Frequencies of virus-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T lymphocytes secreting gamma interferon after acute natural rotavirus infection in children and adults. *J. Virol.* **76**, 4741-4749 (2002).

- Hartel C., Adam N., Strunk T., Temming P., Muller-Steinhardt M. & Schultz C. Cytokine responses correlate differentially with age in infancy and early childhood. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 142, 446-453 (2005).
- Krampera M. *et al.* Progressive polarization towards a T helper/cytotoxic type-1 cytokine pattern during age-dependent maturation of the immune response inversely correlates with CD30 cell expression and serum concentration. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 117, 291-297 (1999).
- 216. Prescott S. L. *et al.* Transplacental priming of the human immune system to environmental allergens: universal skewing of initial T cell responses toward the Th2 cytokine profile. *J. Immunol.* **160**, 4730-4737 (1998).
- 217. Siegrist C. A. The challenges of vaccine responses in early life: selected examples. J. Comp. Pathol. 137 Suppl 1, S4-9 (2007).
- 218. Sasaki S. *et al.* Comparison of the influenza virus-specific effector and memory B-cell responses to immunization of children and adults with live attenuated or inactivated influenza virus vaccines. *J. Virol.* **81**, 215-228 (2007).
- 219. Weitkamp J. H., Lafleur B. J., Greenberg H. B. & Crowe J. E., Jr. Natural evolution of a human virus-specific antibody gene repertoire by somatic hypermutation requires both hotspot-directed and randomly-directed processes. *Hum. Immunol.* 66, 666-676 (2005).
- 220. Alwan W. H., Record F. M. & Openshaw P. J. CD4+ T cells clear virus but augment disease in mice infected with respiratory syncytial virus. Comparison with the effects of CD8+ T cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **88**, 527-536 (1992).
- 221. Cannon M. J., Openshaw P. J. & Askonas B. A. Cytotoxic T cells clear virus but augment lung pathology in mice infected with respiratory syncytial virus. *J. Exp. Med.* **168**, 1163-1168 (1988).
- Tsuchida T. *et al.* Effect of respiratory syncytial virus infection on plasmacytoid dendritic cell regulation of allergic airway inflammation. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 157, 21-30 (2012).
- Jang S., Smit J., Kallal L. E. & Lukacs N. W. Respiratory syncytial virus infection modifies and accelerates pulmonary disease via DC activation and migration. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 94, 5-15 (2013).
- 224. Smit J. J., Lindell D. M., Boon L., Kool M., Lambrecht B. N. & Lukacs N. W. The balance between plasmacytoid DC versus conventional DC determines pulmonary immunity to virus infections. *PLoS One* **3**, e1720 (2008).
- Reed M., Morris S. H., Jang S., Mukherjee S., Yue Z. & Lukacs N. W. Autophagyinducing protein beclin-1 in dendritic cells regulates CD4 T cell responses and disease severity during respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J. Immunol.* 191, 2526-2537 (2013).
- 226. Mizushima N., Yoshimori T. & Ohsumi Y. The role of Atg proteins in autophagosome formation. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 27, 107-132 (2011).
- 227. Klionsky D. J. & Emr S. D. Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. *Science* 290, 1717-1721 (2000).
- 228. Levine B. & Deretic V. Unveiling the roles of autophagy in innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **7**, 767-777 (2007).

- English L. *et al.* Autophagy enhances the presentation of endogenous viral antigens on MHC class I molecules during HSV-1 infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 10, 480-487 (2009).
- Schmid D., Pypaert M. & Munz C. Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility complex class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity* 26, 79-92 (2007).
- 231. Deretic V., Saitoh T. & Akira S. Autophagy in infection, inflammation and immunity. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **13**, 722-737 (2013).
- Jheng J. R., Ho J. Y. & Horng J. T. ER stress, autophagy, and RNA viruses. *Frontiers in microbiology* 5, 388 (2014).
- 233. Morris S. *et al.* Autophagy-mediated dendritic cell activation is essential for innate cytokine production and APC function with respiratory syncytial virus responses. *J. Immunol.* **187**, 3953-3961 (2011).
- 234. Bronietzki A. W., Schuster M. & Schmitz I. Autophagy in T-cell development, activation and differentiation. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **93**, 25-34 (2015).
- 235. Itakura E. & Mizushima N. Characterization of autophagosome formation site by a hierarchical analysis of mammalian Atg proteins. *Autophagy* **6**, 764-776 (2010).
- 236. Mizushima N. The role of the Atg1/ULK1 complex in autophagy regulation. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **22**, 132-139 (2010).
- Deretic V. Autophagy in immunity and cell-autonomous defense against intracellular microbes. *Immunol. Rev.* 240, 92-104 (2011).
- 238. Matsunaga K. *et al.* Two Beclin 1-binding proteins, Atg14L and Rubicon, reciprocally regulate autophagy at different stages. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 385-396 (2009).
- 239. Axe E. L. *et al.* Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum. *J. Cell Biol.* **182**, 685-701 (2008).
- 240. Polson H. E. *et al.* Mammalian Atg18 (WIPI2) localizes to omegasome-anchored phagophores and positively regulates LC3 lipidation. *Autophagy* **6**, 506-522 (2010).
- Fujita N., Saitoh T., Kageyama S., Akira S., Noda T. & Yoshimori T. Differential involvement of Atg16L1 in Crohn disease and canonical autophagy: analysis of the organization of the Atg16L1 complex in fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 32602-32609 (2009).
- 242. Fujioka Y., Noda N. N., Nakatogawa H., Ohsumi Y. & Inagaki F. Dimeric coiledcoil structure of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Atg16 and its functional significance in autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 1508-1515 (2010).
- 243. Shibutani S. T. & Yoshimori T. A current perspective of autophagosome biogenesis. *Cell Res.* 24, 58-68 (2014).
- 244. Klionsky D. J. *et al.* Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy. *Autophagy* **8**, 445-544 (2012).
- 245. Itakura E., Kishi-Itakura C. & Mizushima N. The hairpin-type tail-anchored SNARE syntaxin 17 targets to autophagosomes for fusion with endosomes/lysosomes. *Cell* **151**, 1256-1269 (2012).

- 246. Hamasaki M. *et al.* Autophagosomes form at ER-mitochondria contact sites. *Nature* **495**, 389-393 (2013).
- Dreux M. & Chisari F. V. Viruses and the autophagy machinery. *Cell Cycle* 9, 1295-1307 (2010).
- Mizushima N., Levine B., Cuervo A. M. & Klionsky D. J. Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. *Nature* 451, 1069-1075 (2008).
- 249. Nikoletopoulou V., Markaki M., Palikaras K. & Tavernarakis N. Crosstalk between apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1833**, 3448-3459 (2013).
- Bruck K., Wunnenberg W., Gallmeier H. & Ziehm B. Shift of threshold temperature for shivering and heat polypnea as a mode of thermal adaptation. *Pflugers Arch.* 321, 159-172 (1970).
- 251. Mortensen M. *et al.* The autophagy protein Atg7 is essential for hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. *J. Exp. Med.* **208**, 455-467 (2011).
- 252. Jiang P. & Mizushima N. Autophagy and human diseases. *Cell Res.* 24, 69-79 (2014).
- 253. Egan D. F. *et al.* Phosphorylation of ULK1 (hATG1) by AMP-activated protein kinase connects energy sensing to mitophagy. *Science* **331**, 456-461 (2011).
- 254. Russell R. C. *et al.* ULK1 induces autophagy by phosphorylating Beclin-1 and activating VPS34 lipid kinase. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **15**, 741-750 (2013).
- 255. Nazio F. *et al.* mTOR inhibits autophagy by controlling ULK1 ubiquitylation, selfassociation and function through AMBRA1 and TRAF6. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **15**, 406-416 (2013).
- 256. Shi C. S. *et al.* Activation of autophagy by inflammatory signals limits IL-1beta production by targeting ubiquitinated inflammasomes for destruction. *Nat. Immunol.* **13**, 255-263 (2012).
- 257. Komatsu M. *et al.* Impairment of starvation-induced and constitutive autophagy in Atg7-deficient mice. *J. Cell Biol.* **169**, 425-434 (2005).
- 258. Kuma A. *et al.* The role of autophagy during the early neonatal starvation period. *Nature* **432**, 1032-1036 (2004).
- Schworer C. M., Shiffer K. A. & Mortimore G. E. Quantitative Relationship between Autophagy and Proteolysis during Graded Amino-Acid Deprivation in Perfused-Rat-Liver. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 7652-7658 (1981).
- 260. Tattoli I. *et al.* Amino acid starvation induced by invasive bacterial pathogens triggers an innate host defense program. *Cell Host Microbe* **11**, 563-575 (2012).
- 261. Shelly S., Lukinova N., Bambina S., Berman A. & Cherry S. Autophagy is an essential component of Drosophila immunity against vesicular stomatitis virus. *Immunity* **30**, 588-598 (2009).
- Shi C. S. & Kehrl J. H. TRAF6 and A20 regulate lysine 63-linked ubiquitination of Beclin-1 to control TLR4-induced autophagy. *Sci Signal* 3, ra42 (2010).
- Chaturvedi A., Dorward D. & Pierce S. K. The B cell receptor governs the subcellular location of Toll-like receptor 9 leading to hyperresponses to DNAcontaining antigens. *Immunity* 28, 799-809 (2008).

- 264. Biswas D., Qureshi O. S., Lee W. Y., Croudace J. E., Mura M. & Lammas D. A. ATP-induced autophagy is associated with rapid killing of intracellular mycobacteria within human monocytes/macrophages. *BMC Immunol.* 9, 35 (2008).
- Tang D. *et al.* Endogenous HMGB1 regulates autophagy. J. Cell Biol. 190, 881-892 (2010).
- 266. Pilli M. *et al.* TBK-1 promotes autophagy-mediated antimicrobial defense by controlling autophagosome maturation. *Immunity* **37**, 223-234 (2012).
- 267. Gutierrez M. G., Master S. S., Singh S. B., Taylor G. A., Colombo M. I. & Deretic V. Autophagy is a defense mechanism inhibiting BCG and Mycobacterium tuberculosis survival in infected macrophages. *Cell* **119**, 753-766 (2004).
- 268. Harris J. *et al.* T helper 2 cytokines inhibit autophagic control of intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Immunity* **27**, 505-517 (2007).
- Singh S. B. *et al.* Human IRGM regulates autophagy and cell-autonomous immunity functions through mitochondria. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 1154-1165 (2010).
- 270. Van Grol J., Subauste C., Andrade R. M., Fujinaga K., Nelson J. & Subauste C. S. HIV-1 inhibits autophagy in bystander macrophage/monocytic cells through Src-Akt and STAT3. *PLoS One* 5, e11733 (2010).
- 271. Shen S. *et al.* Cytoplasmic STAT3 represses autophagy by inhibiting PKR activity. *Mol. Cell* **48**, 667-680 (2012).
- 272. Lee J. H. *et al.* Lysosomal proteolysis and autophagy require presenilin 1 and are disrupted by Alzheimer-related PS1 mutations. *Cell* **141**, 1146-1158 (2010).
- 273. Martinez-Vicente M. *et al.* Cargo recognition failure is responsible for inefficient autophagy in Huntington's disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* **13**, 567-576 (2010).
- 274. Mammucari C. *et al.* FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. *Cell Metab* 6, 458-471 (2007).
- 275. Levine B. Cell biology: autophagy and cancer. Nature 446, 745-747 (2007).
- 276. Mathew R., Karantza-Wadsworth V. & White E. Role of autophagy in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 7, 961-967 (2007).
- 277. Haack T. B. *et al.* Exome sequencing reveals de novo WDR45 mutations causing a phenotypically distinct, X-linked dominant form of NBIA. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **91**, 1144-1149 (2012).
- 278. Saitsu H. *et al.* De novo mutations in the autophagy gene WDR45 cause static encephalopathy of childhood with neurodegeneration in adulthood. *Nat. Genet.* **45**, 445-449, 449e441 (2013).
- 279. Kitada T. *et al.* Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* **392**, 605-608 (1998).
- 280. Valente E. M. *et al.* Localization of a novel locus for autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism, PARK6, on human chromosome 1p35-p36. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 68, 895-900 (2001).
- Narendra D., Tanaka A., Suen D. F. & Youle R. J. Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy. *J. Cell Biol.* 183, 795-803 (2008).

- Matsuda N. *et al.* PINK1 stabilized by mitochondrial depolarization recruits Parkin to damaged mitochondria and activates latent Parkin for mitophagy. *J. Cell Biol.* 189, 211-221 (2010).
- Schapira A. H. Mitochondria in the etiology of Parkinson's disease. *Handb. Clin.* Neurol. 83, 479-491 (2007).
- 284. White E. Deconvoluting the context-dependent role for autophagy in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **12**, 401-410 (2012).
- 285. Janku F., McConkey D. J., Hong D. S. & Kurzrock R. Autophagy as a target for anticancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* **8**, 528-539 (2011).
- Liang X. H. *et al.* Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1. *Nature* 402, 672-676 (1999).
- Hampe J. *et al.* A genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 207-211 (2007).
- Rioux J. D. *et al.* Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 596-604 (2007).
- 289. Nishimura T. et al. FIP200 regulates targeting of Atg16L1 to the isolation membrane. Embo Rep 14, 284-291 (2013).
- 290. Saitoh T. *et al.* Loss of the autophagy protein Atg16L1 enhances endotoxin-induced IL-1beta production. *Nature* **456**, 264-268 (2008).
- 291. Deuring J. J. *et al.* Genomic ATG16L1 risk allele-restricted Paneth cell ER stress in quiescent Crohn's disease. *Gut* 63, 1081-1091 (2014).
- 292. Marchiando A. M. *et al.* A deficiency in the autophagy gene Atg16L1 enhances resistance to enteric bacterial infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 216-224 (2013).
- 293. Parkes M. *et al.* Sequence variants in the autophagy gene IRGM and multiple other replicating loci contribute to Crohn's disease susceptibility. *Nat. Genet.* **39**, 830-832 (2007).
- 294. McCarroll S. A. *et al.* Deletion polymorphism upstream of IRGM associated with altered IRGM expression and Crohn's disease. *Nat. Genet.* **40**, 1107-1112 (2008).
- 295. Hampe J. *et al.* Association between insertion mutation in NOD2 gene and Crohn's disease in German and British populations. *Lancet* **357**, 1925-1928 (2001).
- 296. Hugot J. P. *et al.* Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature* **411**, 599-603 (2001).
- 297. Jostins L. *et al.* Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* **491**, 119-124 (2012).
- 298. Henckaerts L. *et al.* Genetic variation in the autophagy gene ULK1 and risk of Crohn's disease. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 17, 1392-1397 (2011).
- 299. Intemann C. D. *et al.* Autophagy gene variant IRGM -261T contributes to protection from tuberculosis caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis but not by M. africanum strains. *PLoS Pathog.* **5**, e1000577 (2009).
- 300. Ramos P. S. *et al.* A comprehensive analysis of shared loci between systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and sixteen autoimmune diseases reveals limited genetic overlap. *PLoS Genet.* 7, e1002406 (2011).

- 301. Martin L. J. *et al.* Functional variant in the autophagy-related 5 gene promotor is associated with childhood asthma. *PLoS One* 7, e33454 (2012).
- 302. Poon A., Eidelman D., Laprise C. & Hamid Q. ATG5, autophagy and lung function in asthma. *Autophagy* **8**, 694-695 (2012).
- 303. Zhou X. J. *et al.* Genetic association of PRDM1-ATG5 intergenic region and autophagy with systemic lupus erythematosus in a Chinese population. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **70**, 1330-1337 (2011).
- 304. Pierdominici M. *et al.* Role of autophagy in immunity and autoimmunity, with a special focus on systemic lupus erythematosus. *FASEB J.* **26**, 1400-1412 (2012).
- 305. Levine B., Mizushima N. & Virgin H. W. Autophagy in immunity and inflammation. *Nature* **469**, 323-335 (2011).
- 306. Sanjuan M. A. *et al.* Toll-like receptor signalling in macrophages links the autophagy pathway to phagocytosis. *Nature* **450**, 1253-1257 (2007).
- Huang J. *et al.* Activation of antibacterial autophagy by NADPH oxidases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106, 6226-6231 (2009).
- 308. Henault J. *et al.* Noncanonical autophagy is required for type I interferon secretion in response to DNA-immune complexes. *Immunity* **37**, 986-997 (2012).
- 309. Mostowy S. *et al.* p62 and NDP52 proteins target intracytosolic Shigella and Listeria to different autophagy pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* **286**, 26987-26995 (2011).
- 310. Yoshikawa Y. *et al.* Listeria monocytogenes ActA-mediated escape from autophagic recognition. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **11**, 1233-1240 (2009).
- 311. Zheng Y. T., Shahnazari S., Brech A., Lamark T., Johansen T. & Brumell J. H. The adaptor protein p62/SQSTM1 targets invading bacteria to the autophagy pathway. *J. Immunol.* 183, 5909-5916 (2009).
- 312. Wild P. *et al.* Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts Salmonella growth. *Science* **333**, 228-233 (2011).
- 313. Ogawa M. *et al.* A Tecpr1-dependent selective autophagy pathway targets bacterial pathogens. *Cell Host Microbe* **9**, 376-389 (2011).
- 314. Dupont N. *et al.* Shigella phagocytic vacuolar membrane remnants participate in the cellular response to pathogen invasion and are regulated by autophagy. *Cell Host Microbe* **6**, 137-149 (2009).
- 315. Dortet L. *et al.* Recruitment of the major vault protein by InlK: a Listeria monocytogenes strategy to avoid autophagy. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002168 (2011).
- 316. Ogawa M., Yoshimori T., Suzuki T., Sagara H., Mizushima N. & Sasakawa C. Escape of intracellular Shigella from autophagy. *Science* **307**, 727-731 (2005).
- 317. Mesquita F. S., Thomas M., Sachse M., Santos A. J., Figueira R. & Holden D. W. The Salmonella deubiquitinase SseL inhibits selective autophagy of cytosolic aggregates. *PLoS Pathog.* 8, e1002743 (2012).
- 318. Choy A. *et al.* The Legionella effector RavZ inhibits host autophagy through irreversible Atg8 deconjugation. *Science* **338**, 1072-1076 (2012).
- Birmingham C. L., Canadien V., Kaniuk N. A., Steinberg B. E., Higgins D. E. & Brumell J. H. Listeriolysin O allows Listeria monocytogenes replication in macrophage vacuoles. *Nature* 451, 350-354 (2008).

- 320. Orvedahl A. *et al.* HSV-1 ICP34.5 confers neurovirulence by targeting the Beclin 1 autophagy protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 1, 23-35 (2007).
- 321. Gannage M. *et al.* Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. *Cell Host Microbe* **6**, 367-380 (2009).
- 322. Kyei G. B. *et al.* Autophagy pathway intersects with HIV-1 biosynthesis and regulates viral yields in macrophages. *J. Cell Biol.* **186**, 255-268 (2009).
- 323. Ku B. *et al.* Structural and biochemical bases for the inhibition of autophagy and apoptosis by viral BCL-2 of murine gamma-herpesvirus 68. *PLoS Pathog.* 4, e25 (2008).
- 324. Pattingre S. *et al.* Bcl-2 antiapoptotic proteins inhibit Beclin 1-dependent autophagy. *Cell* **122**, 927-939 (2005).
- 325. Gregoire I. P. *et al.* IRGM is a common target of RNA viruses that subvert the autophagy network. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002422 (2011).
- 326. Shoji-Kawata S. & Levine B. Autophagy, antiviral immunity, and viral countermeasures. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1793**, 1478-1484 (2009).
- 327. Taylor M. P., Burgon T. B., Kirkegaard K. & Jackson W. T. Role of microtubules in extracellular release of poliovirus. *J. Virol.* **83**, 6599-6609 (2009).
- 328. Nedjic J., Aichinger M., Emmerich J., Mizushima N. & Klein L. Autophagy in thymic epithelium shapes the T-cell repertoire and is essential for tolerance. *Nature* **455**, 396-400 (2008).
- Cooney R. *et al.* NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. *Nat. Med.* 16, 90-97 (2010).
- Paludan C. *et al.* Endogenous MHC class II processing of a viral nuclear antigen after autophagy. *Science* 307, 593-596 (2005).
- 331. Munz C. *et al.* Human CD4(+) T lymphocytes consistently respond to the latent Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen EBNA1. *J. Exp. Med.* **191**, 1649-1660 (2000).
- 332. Wenger T. *et al.* Autophagy inhibition promotes defective neosynthesized proteins storage in ALIS, and induces redirection toward proteasome processing and MHCI-restricted presentation. *Autophagy* **8**, 350-363 (2012).
- 333. Tey S. K. & Khanna R. Autophagy mediates transporter associated with antigen processing-independent presentation of viral epitopes through MHC class I pathway. *Blood* 120, 994-1004 (2012).
- 334. Wildenberg M. E. *et al.* Autophagy attenuates the adaptive immune response by destabilizing the immunologic synapse. *Gastroenterology* **142**, 1493-1503 e1496 (2012).
- Lee H. K., Lund J. M., Ramanathan B., Mizushima N. & Iwasaki A. Autophagydependent viral recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Science* 315, 1398-1401 (2007).
- 336. Zhou D., Kang K. H. & Spector S. A. Production of interferon alpha by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells is dependent on induction of autophagy. *J. Infect. Dis.* **205**, 1258-1267 (2012).
- 337. Manuse M. J., Briggs C. M. & Parks G. D. Replication-independent activation of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells by the paramyxovirus SV5 Requires TLR7 and autophagy pathways. *Virology* 405, 383-389 (2010).

- Delgado M. A., Elmaoued R. A., Davis A. S., Kyei G. & Deretic V. Toll-like receptors control autophagy. *EMBO J.* 27, 1110-1121 (2008).
- 339. Alonso S., Pethe K., Russell D. G. & Purdy G. E. Lysosomal killing of Mycobacterium mediated by ubiquitin-derived peptides is enhanced by autophagy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 6031-6036 (2007).
- 340. Ponpuak M. *et al.* Delivery of cytosolic components by autophagic adaptor protein p62 endows autophagosomes with unique antimicrobial properties. *Immunity* **32**, 329-341 (2010).
- 341. Kim B. H., Shenoy A. R., Kumar P., Das R., Tiwari S. & MacMicking J. D. A family of IFN-gamma-inducible 65-kD GTPases protects against bacterial infection. *Science* 332, 717-721 (2011).
- 342. Lee H. K. *et al.* In vivo requirement for Atg5 in antigen presentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity* **32**, 227-239 (2010).
- 343. Jagannath C., Lindsey D. R., Dhandayuthapani S., Xu Y., Hunter R. L., Jr. & Eissa N. T. Autophagy enhances the efficacy of BCG vaccine by increasing peptide presentation in mouse dendritic cells. *Nat. Med.* 15, 267-276 (2009).
- 344. Pua H. H., Guo J., Komatsu M. & He Y. W. Autophagy is essential for mitochondrial clearance in mature T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 182, 4046-4055 (2009).
- Jia W., Pua H. H., Li Q. J. & He Y. W. Autophagy regulates endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis and calcium mobilization in T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1564-1574 (2011).
- 346. He M. X. & He Y. W. A role for c-FLIP(L) in the regulation of apoptosis, autophagy, and necroptosis in T lymphocytes. *Cell Death Differ.* 20, 188-197 (2013).
- 347. Miller B. C. *et al.* The autophagy gene ATG5 plays an essential role in B lymphocyte development. *Autophagy* **4**, 309-314 (2008).
- 348. Arsov I. *et al.* A role for autophagic protein beclin 1 early in lymphocyte development. *J. Immunol.* **186**, 2201-2209 (2011).
- 349. Pengo N. *et al.* Plasma cells require autophagy for sustainable immunoglobulin production. *Nat. Immunol.* 14, 298-305 (2013).
- 350. Zhou R., Yazdi A. S., Menu P. & Tschopp J. A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature* **469**, 221-225 (2011).
- 351. Nakahira K. *et al.* Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat. Immunol.* **12**, 222-230 (2011).
- 352. Castillo E. F. *et al.* Autophagy protects against active tuberculosis by suppressing bacterial burden and inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **109**, E3168-3176 (2012).
- 353. Lupfer C. *et al.* Receptor interacting protein kinase 2-mediated mitophagy regulates inflammasome activation during virus infection. *Nat. Immunol.* **14**, 480-488 (2013).
- 354. Yang C. S. *et al.* The autophagy regulator Rubicon is a feedback inhibitor of CARD9-mediated host innate immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* **11**, 277-289 (2012).

- Paul S., Kashyap A. K., Jia W., He Y. W. & Schaefer B. C. Selective autophagy of the adaptor protein Bcl10 modulates T cell receptor activation of NF-kappaB. *Immunity* 36, 947-958 (2012).
- 356. Walter P. & Ron D. The unfolded protein response: from stress pathway to homeostatic regulation. *Science* **334**, 1081-1086 (2011).
- Oslowski C. M. & Urano F. Measuring ER stress and the unfolded protein response using mammalian tissue culture system. *Methods Enzymol.* 490, 71-92 (2011).
- 358. Deegan S., Koryga I., Glynn S. A., Gupta S., Gorman A. M. & Samali A. A close connection between the PERK and IRE arms of the UPR and the transcriptional regulation of autophagy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **456**, 305-311 (2015).
- 359. Ogata M. *et al.* Autophagy is activated for cell survival after endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 9220-9231 (2006).
- Yorimitsu T., Nair U., Yang Z. & Klionsky D. J. Endoplasmic reticulum stress triggers autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 30299-30304 (2006).
- Waters S., Marchbank K., Solomon E., Whitehouse C. & Gautel M. Interactions with LC3 and polyubiquitin chains link nbr1 to autophagic protein turnover. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 1846-1852 (2009).
- Pankiv S. *et al.* p62/SQSTM1 binds directly to Atg8/LC3 to facilitate degradation of ubiquitinated protein aggregates by autophagy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 24131-24145 (2007).
- 363. Ding W. X. *et al.* Nix is critical to two distinct phases of mitophagy, reactive oxygen species-mediated autophagy induction and Parkin-ubiquitin-p62-mediated mitochondrial priming. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 27879-27890 (2010).
- 364. Mori K. Signalling pathways in the unfolded protein response: development from yeast to mammals. *J. Biochem.* **146**, 743-750 (2009).
- 365. Liang Q., Deng H., Sun C. W., Townes T. M. & Zhu F. Negative regulation of IRF7 activation by activating transcription factor 4 suggests a cross-regulation between the IFN responses and the cellular integrated stress responses. *J. Immunol.* 186, 1001-1010 (2011).
- 366. Ke P. Y. & Chen S. S. Activation of the unfolded protein response and autophagy after hepatitis C virus infection suppresses innate antiviral immunity in vitro. *J. Clin. Invest.* **121**, 37-56 (2011).
- 367. Zai J. *et al.* N-glycosylation of the premembrane protein of Japanese encephalitis virus is critical for folding of the envelope protein and assembly of virus-like particles. *Acta Virol.* **57**, 27-33 (2013).
- 368. Tatu U., Hammond C. & Helenius A. Folding and oligomerization of influenza hemagglutinin in the ER and the intermediate compartment. *EMBO J.* 14, 1340-1348 (1995).
- Dubuisson J. & Rice C. M. Hepatitis C virus glycoprotein folding: disulfide bond formation and association with calnexin. J. Virol. 70, 778-786 (1996).
- Tian P., Estes M. K., Hu Y., Ball J. M., Zeng C. Q. & Schilling W. P. The rotavirus nonstructural glycoprotein NSP4 mobilizes Ca2+ from the endoplasmic reticulum. *J. Virol.* 69, 5763-5772 (1995).

- de Jong A. S. *et al.* Functional analysis of picornavirus 2B proteins: effects on calcium homeostasis and intracellular protein trafficking. *J. Virol.* 82, 3782-3790 (2008).
- 372. Hassan I. et al. Inositol-requiring enzyme 1 inhibits respiratory syncytial virus replication. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 7537-7546 (2014).
- Lee I. H. *et al.* A role for the NAD-dependent deacetylase Sirt1 in the regulation of autophagy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 3374-3379 (2008).
- Frye R. A. Phylogenetic classification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic Sir2-like proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 273, 793-798 (2000).
- 375. Gertz M. *et al.* Ex-527 inhibits Sirtuins by exploiting their unique NAD+-dependent deacetylation mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, E2772-2781 (2013).
- 376. Houtkooper R. H., Pirinen E. & Auwerx J. Sirtuins as regulators of metabolism and healthspan. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **13**, 225-238 (2012).
- 377. Baur J. A., Ungvari Z., Minor R. K., Le Couteur D. G. & de Cabo R. Are sirtuins viable targets for improving healthspan and lifespan? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 11, 443-461 (2012).
- Kumar S. & Lombard D. B. Mitochondrial Sirtuins and Their Relationships with Metabolic Disease and Cancer. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 10.1089/ars.2014.6213 (2015).
- Haigis M. C. & Sinclair D. A. Mammalian sirtuins: biological insights and disease relevance. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* 5, 253-295 (2010).
- Nemoto S., Fergusson M. M. & Finkel T. Nutrient availability regulates SIRT1 through a forkhead-dependent pathway. *Science* 306, 2105-2108 (2004).
- Sengupta A., Molkentin J. D., Paik J. H., DePinho R. A. & Yutzey K. E. FoxO transcription factors promote cardiomyocyte survival upon induction of oxidative stress. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 7468-7478 (2011).
- 382. Ou X., Lee M. R., Huang X., Messina-Graham S. & Broxmeyer H. E. SIRT1 positively regulates autophagy and mitochondria function in embryonic stem cells under oxidative stress. *Stem Cells* 32, 1183-1194 (2014).
- Suzuki M. & Bartlett J. D. Sirtuin1 and autophagy protect cells from fluorideinduced cell stress. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1842, 245-255 (2014).
- 384. Biason-Lauber A. *et al.* Identification of a SIRT1 mutation in a family with type 1 diabetes. *Cell Metab* 17, 448-455 (2013).
- 385. Kilic U. *et al.* SIRT1 gene variants are related to risk of childhood obesity. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 10.1007/s00431-014-2424-1 (2014).
- 386. Martin A. *et al.* Role of SIRT1 in autoimmune demyelination and neurodegeneration. *Immunol. Res.* 10.1007/s12026-014-8557-5 (2014).
- Wang F. M., Chen Y. J. & Ouyang H. J. Regulation of unfolded protein response modulator XBP1s by acetylation and deacetylation. *Biochem. J.* 433, 245-252 (2011).
- 388. Lee J. et al. Exendin-4 attenuates endoplasmic reticulum stress through a SIRT1dependent mechanism. Cell Stress Chaperones 19, 649-656 (2014).
- 389. Li Y. *et al.* Hepatic overexpression of SIRT1 in mice attenuates endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin resistance in the liver. *FASEB J.* **25**, 1664-1679 (2011).

- 390. Kong S., McBurney M. W. & Fang D. Sirtuin 1 in immune regulation and autoimmunity. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **90**, 6-13 (2012).
- Oberdoerffer P. *et al.* SIRT1 redistribution on chromatin promotes genomic stability but alters gene expression during aging. *Cell* 135, 907-918 (2008).
- 392. Chang H. C. & Guarente L. SIRT1 mediates central circadian control in the SCN by a mechanism that decays with aging. *Cell* **153**, 1448-1460 (2013).
- 393. Hwang J. W., Sundar I. K., Yao H., Sellix M. T. & Rahman I. Circadian clock function is disrupted by environmental tobacco/cigarette smoke, leading to lung inflammation and injury via a SIRT1-BMAL1 pathway. *FASEB J.* 28, 176-194 (2014).
- Ghosh H. S., McBurney M. & Robbins P. D. SIRT1 negatively regulates the mammalian target of rapamycin. *PLoS One* 5, e9199 (2010).
- 395. Dioum E. M. *et al.* Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha signaling by the stress-responsive deacetylase sirtuin 1. *Science* **324**, 1289-1293 (2009).
- 396. Lim J. H., Lee Y. M., Chun Y. S., Chen J., Kim J. E. & Park J. W. Sirtuin 1 modulates cellular responses to hypoxia by deacetylating hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. *Mol. Cell* 38, 864-878 (2010).
- 397. Yoon H., Shin S. H., Shin D. H., Chun Y. S. & Park J. W. Differential roles of Sirt1 in HIF-1alpha and HIF-2alpha mediated hypoxic responses. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 444, 36-43 (2014).
- Westerheide S. D., Anckar J., Stevens S. M., Jr., Sistonen L. & Morimoto R. I. Stress-inducible regulation of heat shock factor 1 by the deacetylase SIRT1. *Science* 323, 1063-1066 (2009).
- 399. Liu Y. & Chang A. Heat shock response relieves ER stress. *EMBO J.* 27, 1049-1059 (2008).
- 400. Ahn S. G. & Thiele D. J. Redox regulation of mammalian heat shock factor 1 is essential for Hsp gene activation and protection from stress. *Genes Dev.* 17, 516-528 (2003).
- 401. Weindling E. & Bar-Nun S. Sir2 links the unfolded protein response and the heat shock response in a stress response network. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.01.021 (2015).
- 402. Singh S. K., Williams C. A., Klarmann K., Burkett S. S., Keller J. R. & Oberdoerffer P. Sirt1 ablation promotes stress-induced loss of epigenetic and genomic hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell maintenance. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 987-1001 (2013).
- 403. Cohen H. Y. *et al.* Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase. *Science* **305**, 390-392 (2004).
- 404. Brunet A. *et al.* Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. *Science* **303**, 2011-2015 (2004).
- 405. van der Horst A., Tertoolen L. G. J., de Vries-Smits L. M. M., Frye R. A., Medema R. H. & Burgering B. M. T. FOXO4 is acetylated upon peroxide stress and deacetylated by the longevity protein hSir2(SIRT1). *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 28873-28879 (2004).

- 406. Motta M. C. *et al.* Mammalian SIRT1 represses forkhead transcription factors. *Cell* **116**, 551-563 (2004).
- 407. Cheng Y. *et al.* Sirtuin 1 attenuates oxidative stress via upregulation of superoxide dismutase 2 and catalase in astrocytes. *J. Neuroimmunol.* **269**, 38-43 (2014).
- 408. Yeung F. *et al.* Modulation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase. *EMBO J.* **23**, 2369-2380 (2004).
- 409. Schug T. T. *et al.* Myeloid deletion of SIRT1 induces inflammatory signaling in response to environmental stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **30**, 4712-4721 (2010).
- Liu T. F. & McCall C. E. Deacetylation by SIRT1 Reprograms Inflammation and Cancer. *Genes Cancer* 4, 135-147 (2013).
- Lagouge M. *et al.* Resveratrol improves mitochondrial function and protects against metabolic disease by activating SIRT1 and PGC-1alpha. *Cell* 127, 1109-1122 (2006).
- 412. Liu Y. *et al.* A fasting inducible switch modulates gluconeogenesis via activator/coactivator exchange. *Nature* **456**, 269-273 (2008).
- 413. Frescas D., Valenti L. & Accili D. Nuclear trapping of the forkhead transcription factor FoxO1 via Sirt-dependent deacetylation promotes expression of glucogenetic genes. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 20589-20595 (2005).
- 414. Rodgers J. T., Lerin C., Haas W., Gygi S. P., Spiegelman B. M. & Puigserver P. Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of PGC-1 alpha and SIRT1. *Nature* 434, 113-118 (2005).
- 415. Baur J. A. *et al.* Resveratrol improves health and survival of mice on a high-calorie diet. *Nature* 444, 337-342 (2006).
- 416. Milne J. C. *et al.* Small molecule activators of SIRT1 as therapeutics for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Nature* **450**, 712-716 (2007).
- 417. Kim J. W., Tchernyshyov I., Semenza G. L. & Dang C. V. HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. *Cell Metab* **3**, 177-185 (2006).
- 418. Moynihan K. A. *et al.* Increased dosage of mammalian Sir2 in pancreatic beta cells enhances glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in mice. *Cell Metab* **2**, 105-117 (2005).
- 419. Horton J. D., Goldstein J. L. & Brown M. S. SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109, 1125-1131 (2002).
- 420. Picard F. *et al.* Sirt1 promotes fat mobilization in white adipocytes by repressing PPAR-gamma. *Nature* **429**, 771-776 (2004).
- 421. Purushotham A., Schug T. T., Xu Q., Surapureddi S., Guo X. & Li X. Hepatocytespecific deletion of SIRT1 alters fatty acid metabolism and results in hepatic steatosis and inflammation. *Cell Metab* **9**, 327-338 (2009).
- Feige J. N. *et al.* Specific SIRT1 activation mimics low energy levels and protects against diet-induced metabolic disorders by enhancing fat oxidation. *Cell Metab* 8, 347-358 (2008).

- 423. Xu F. *et al.* Lack of SIRT1 (Mammalian Sirtuin 1) activity leads to liver steatosis in the SIRT1+/- mice: a role of lipid mobilization and inflammation. *Endocrinology* 151, 2504-2514 (2010).
- 424. Alcendor R. R. *et al.* Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. *Circ. Res.* **100**, 1512-1521 (2007).
- 425. Hsu C. P., Odewale I., Alcendor R. R. & Sadoshima J. Sirt1 protects the heart from aging and stress. *Biol. Chem.* **389**, 221-231 (2008).
- Csiszar A. *et al.* Resveratrol induces mitochondrial biogenesis in endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol-Heart C* 297, H13-H20 (2009).
- 427. Mattagajasingh I. *et al.* SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 14855-14860 (2007).
- 428. Ungvari Z. *et al.* Resveratrol attenuates mitochondrial oxidative stress in coronary arterial endothelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 297, H1876-1881 (2009).
- 429. Tanno M. *et al.* Induction of manganese superoxide dismutase by nuclear translocation and activation of SIRT1 promotes cell survival in chronic heart failure. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 8375-8382 (2010).
- 430. Breitenstein A. *et al.* Sirt1 inhibition promotes in vivo arterial thrombosis and tissue factor expression in stimulated cells. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **89**, 464-472 (2011).
- 431. Minor R. K. *et al.* SRT1720 improves survival and healthspan of obese mice. *Sci. Rep.* 1, 70 (2011).
- Vaziri H. *et al.* hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. *Cell* 107, 149-159 (2001).
- 433. Huffman D. M. et al. SIRT1 is significantly elevated in mouse and human prostate cancer (vol 67, pg 6612, 2007). *Cancer Res.* 67, 8423-8423 (2007).
- Kozako T. *et al.* High expression of the longevity gene product SIRT1 and apoptosis induction by sirtinol in adult T-cell leukemia cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 131, 2044-2055 (2012).
- Stunkel W. *et al.* Function of the SIRT1 protein deacetylase in cancer. *Biotechnology journal* 2, 1360-1368 (2007).
- 436. Kim J. E., Chen J. J. & Lou Z. K. DBC1 is a negative regulator of SIRT1. *Nature* 451, 583-U510 (2008).
- 437. Fraga M. F. *et al.* Loss of acetylation at Lys16 and trimethylation at Lys20 of histone H4 is a common hallmark of human cancer. *Nat. Genet.* **37**, 391-400 (2005).
- 438. Wang R. H. *et al.* Impaired DNA damage response, genome instability, and tumorigenesis in SIRT1 mutant mice. *Cancer Cell* 14, 312-323 (2008).
- 439. Pruitt K. *et al.* Inhibition of SIRT1 reactivates silenced cancer genes without loss of promoter DNA hypermethylation. *PLoS Genet.* **2**, 344-352 (2006).
- 440. Petrucelli N., Daly M. B. & Feldman G. L. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer due to mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Genet. Med.* **12**, 245-259 (2010).
- 441. Firestein R. *et al.* The SIRT1 deacetylase suppresses intestinal tumorigenesis and colon cancer growth. *PLoS One* **3**, e2020 (2008).

- 442. Ramadori G. *et al.* Brain SIRT1: anatomical distribution and regulation by energy availability. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 9989-9996 (2008).
- 443. Julien C. *et al.* Sirtuin 1 reduction parallels the accumulation of tau in Alzheimer disease. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 68, 48-58 (2009).
- 444. Albani D. *et al.* The SIRT1 activator resveratrol protects SK-N-BE cells from oxidative stress and against toxicity caused by alpha-synuclein or amyloid-beta (1-42) peptide. *J. Neurochem.* **110**, 1445-1456 (2009).
- 445. van Ham T. J., Thijssen K. L., Breitling R., Hofstra R. M., Plasterk R. H. & Nollen E. A. C. elegans model identifies genetic modifiers of alpha-synuclein inclusion formation during aging. *PLoS Genet.* 4, e1000027 (2008).
- 446. Jiang M. *et al.* Neuroprotective role of Sirt1 in mammalian models of Huntington's disease through activation of multiple Sirt1 targets. *Nat. Med.* **18**, 153-158 (2012).
- Shindler K. S., Ventura E., Rex T. S., Elliott P. & Rostami A. SIRT1 activation confers neuroprotection in experimental optic neuritis. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 48, 3602-3609 (2007).
- Cheng H. L. *et al.* Developmental defects and p53 hyperacetylation in Sir2 homolog (SIRT1)-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100, 10794-10799 (2003).
- 449. Sequeira J. *et al.* sirt1-null mice develop an autoimmune-like condition. *Exp. Cell Res.* **314**, 3069-3074 (2008).
- 450. Zhang J. *et al.* The type III histone deacetylase Sirt1 is essential for maintenance of T cell tolerance in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **119**, 3048-3058 (2009).
- 451. Zhang H. N. *et al.* Involvement of the p65/RelA subunit of NF-kappaB in TNFalpha-induced SIRT1 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **397**, 569-575 (2010).
- 452. Yoshizaki T. *et al.* SIRT1 inhibits inflammatory pathways in macrophages and modulates insulin sensitivity. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **298**, E419-428 (2010).
- 453. Zeng L., Liu Y. P., Sha H., Chen H., Qi L. & Smith J. A. XBP-1 couples endoplasmic reticulum stress to augmented IFN-beta induction via a cis-acting enhancer in macrophages. *J. Immunol.* **185**, 2324-2330 (2010).
- 454. Yang H., Lee S. M., Gao B., Zhang J. & Fang D. Histone deacetylase sirtuin 1 deacetylates IRF1 protein and programs dendritic cells to control Th17 protein differentiation during autoimmune inflammation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **288**, 37256-37266 (2013).
- 455. Legutko A. *et al.* Sirtuin 1 promotes Th2 responses and airway allergy by repressing peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma activity in dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* **187**, 4517-4529 (2011).
- 456. Kong S. *et al.* The type III histone deacetylase Sirt1 protein suppresses p300mediated histone H3 lysine 56 acetylation at Bclaf1 promoter to inhibit T cell activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **286**, 16967-16975 (2011).
- 457. Stahl M. *et al.* The forkhead transcription factor FoxO regulates transcription of p27Kip1 and Bim in response to IL-2. *J. Immunol.* **168**, 5024-5031 (2002).

- 458. Gao B., Kong Q., Kemp K., Zhao Y. S. & Fang D. Analysis of sirtuin 1 expression reveals a molecular explanation of IL-2-mediated reversal of T-cell tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **109**, 899-904 (2012).
- 459. Kuroda S., Yamazaki M., Abe M., Sakimura K., Takayanagi H. & Iwai Y. Basic leucine zipper transcription factor, ATF-like (BATF) regulates epigenetically and energetically effector CD8 T-cell differentiation via Sirt1 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 108, 14885-14889 (2011).
- 460. Nie Y. et al. STAT3 inhibition of gluconeogenesis is downregulated by SirT1. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 492-500 (2009).
- 461. Yang X. O. *et al.* STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **282**, 9358-9363 (2007).
- 462. Beier U. H. *et al.* Sirtuin-1 targeting promotes Foxp3+ T-regulatory cell function and prolongs allograft survival. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **31**, 1022-1029 (2011).
- 463. Kwon H. S., Lim H. W., Wu J., Schnolzer M., Verdin E. & Ott M. Three novel acetylation sites in the Foxp3 transcription factor regulate the suppressive activity of regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 188, 2712-2721 (2012).
- 464. Gardner P. J., Joshi L., Lee R. W., Dick A. D., Adamson P. & Calder V. L. SIRT1 activation protects against autoimmune T cell-driven retinal disease in mice via inhibition of IL-2/Stat5 signaling. *J. Autoimmun.* 42, 117-129 (2013).
- Koyuncu E. *et al.* Sirtuins are evolutionarily conserved viral restriction factors. *mBio* 5 (2014).
- Pagans S. *et al.* SIRT1 regulates HIV transcription via Tat deacetylation. *PLoS Biol.* 3, e41 (2005).
- 467. Kwon H. S. *et al.* Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat protein inhibits the SIRT1 deacetylase and induces T cell hyperactivation. *Cell Host Microbe* 3, 158-167 (2008).
- 468. Ren J. H. *et al.* Sirtuin 1 regulates hepatitis B virus transcription and replication by targeting transcription factor AP-1. *J. Virol.* 88, 2442-2451 (2014).
- Srisuttee R. *et al.* Hepatitis B virus X (HBX) protein upregulates beta-catenin in a human hepatic cell line by sequestering SIRT1 deacetylase. *Oncol. Rep.* 28, 276-282 (2012).
- 470. Crotty Alexander L. E. *et al.* Myeloid cell sirtuin-1 expression does not alter host immune responses to Gram-negative endotoxemia or Gram-positive bacterial infection. *PLoS One* **8**, e84481 (2013).
- Landry J., Slama J. T. & Sternglanz R. Role of NAD(+) in the deacetylase activity of the SIR2-like proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 278, 685-690 (2000).
- 472. Suter M., Riek U., Tuerk R., Schlattner U., Wallimann T. & Neumann D. Dissecting the role of 5'-AMP for allosteric stimulation, activation, and deactivation of AMP-activated protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**, 32207-32216 (2006).
- 473. Winder W. W. Energy-sensing and signaling by AMP-activated protein kinase in skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* **91**, 1017-1028 (2001).
- 474. Canto C. *et al.* AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. *Nature* **458**, 1056-1060 (2009).

- 475. Lan F., Cacicedo J. M., Ruderman N. & Ido Y. SIRT1 modulation of the acetylation status, cytosolic localization, and activity of LKB1. Possible role in AMP-activated protein kinase activation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **283**, 27628-27635 (2008).
- Yuan J., Minter-Dykhouse K. & Lou Z. A c-Myc-SIRT1 feedback loop regulates cell growth and transformation. J. Cell Biol. 185, 203-211 (2009).
- 477. Wang C. *et al.* Interactions between E2F1 and SirT1 regulate apoptotic response to DNA damage. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **8**, 1025-1031 (2006).
- 478. Yamakuchi M., Ferlito M. & Lowenstein C. J. miR-34a repression of SIRT1 regulates apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 13421-13426 (2008).
- 479. Rane S. *et al.* Downregulation of miR-199a derepresses hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and Sirtuin 1 and recapitulates hypoxia preconditioning in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* **104**, 879-886 (2009).
- 480. Nasrin N. *et al.* JNK1 phosphorylates SIRT1 and promotes its enzymatic activity. *PLoS One* **4**, e8414 (2009).
- Ford J., Ahmed S., Allison S., Jiang M. & Milner J. JNK2-dependent regulation of SIRT1 protein stability. *Cell Cycle* 7, 3091-3097 (2008).
- Verdin E. AROuSing SIRT1: identification of a novel endogenous SIRT1 activator. *Mol. Cell* 28, 354-356 (2007).
- Hasegawa K. & Yoshikawa K. Necdin regulates p53 acetylation via Sirtuin1 to modulate DNA damage response in cortical neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 8772-8784 (2008).
- Preyat N. & Leo O. Sirtuin deacylases: a molecular link between metabolism and immunity. J. Leukoc. Biol. 93, 669-680 (2013).
- 485. Howitz K. T. *et al.* Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan. *Nature* **425**, 191-196 (2003).
- 486. Hu Y., Liu J., Wang J. & Liu Q. The controversial links among calorie restriction, SIRT1, and resveratrol. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **51**, 250-256 (2011).
- Nakata R., Takahashi S. & Inoue H. Recent advances in the study on resveratrol. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 35, 273-279 (2012).
- 488. Schmidt C. GSK/Sirtris compounds dogged by assay artifacts. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 28, 185-186 (2010).
- 489. Pacholec M. *et al.* SRT1720, SRT2183, SRT1460, and resveratrol are not direct activators of SIRT1. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 8340-8351 (2010).
- 490. Yao H. *et al.* SIRT1 protects against emphysema via FOXO3-mediated reduction of premature senescence in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **122**, 2032-2045 (2012).
- 491. Ichikawa T. *et al.* Sirtuin 1 activator SRT1720 suppresses inflammation in an ovalbumin-induced mouse model of asthma. *Respirology* **18**, 332-339 (2013).
- 492. Grozinger C. M., Chao E. D., Blackwell H. E., Moazed D. & Schreiber S. L. Identification of a class of small molecule inhibitors of the sirtuin family of NADdependent deacetylases by phenotypic screening. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 38837-38843 (2001).
- 493. Mai A. et al. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of sirtinol analogues as class III histone/protein deacetylase (Sirtuin) inhibitors. J. Med. Chem. 48, 7789-7795 (2005).

- 494. Lara E. *et al.* Salermide, a Sirtuin inhibitor with a strong cancer-specific proapoptotic effect. *Oncogene* **28**, 781-791 (2009).
- Bernofsky C. Physiology aspects of pyridine nucleotide regulation in mammals. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 33, 135-143 (1980).
- 496. Catz P. *et al.* Simultaneous determination of myristyl nicotinate, nicotinic acid, and nicotinamide in rabbit plasma by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry using methyl ethyl ketone as a deproteinization solvent. *J. Chromatogr. B Analyt. Technol. Biomed. Life Sci.* 829, 123-135 (2005).
- 497. Jacobson E. L., Dame A. J., Pyrek J. S. & Jacobson M. K. Evaluating the role of niacin in human carcinogenesis. *Biochimie* 77, 394-398 (1995).
- 498. Heltweg B. *et al.* Antitumor activity of a small-molecule inhibitor of human silent information regulator 2 enzymes. *Cancer Res.* **66**, 4368-4377 (2006).
- 499. Trapp J., Meier R., Hongwiset D., Kassack M. U., Sippl W. & Jung M. Structureactivity studies on suramin analogues as inhibitors of NAD+-dependent histone deacetylases (sirtuins). *ChemMedChem* 2, 1419-1431 (2007).
- 500. Napper A. D. *et al.* Discovery of indoles as potent and selective inhibitors of the deacetylase SIRT1. *J. Med. Chem.* **48**, 8045-8054 (2005).
- 501. Wilking M. J., Singh C. K., Nihal M., Ndiaye M. A. & Ahmad N. Sirtuin deacetylases: a new target for melanoma management. *Cell Cycle* **13**, 2821-2826 (2014).
- 502. Hu J., Jing H. & Lin H. Sirtuin inhibitors as anticancer agents. *Future Med. Chem.* 6, 945-966 (2014).
- 503. Van Gool F. *et al.* Intracellular NAD levels regulate tumor necrosis factor protein synthesis in a sirtuin-dependent manner. *Nat. Med.* **15**, 206-210 (2009).
- 504. Bruzzone S. *et al.* Catastrophic NAD+ depletion in activated T lymphocytes through Nampt inhibition reduces demyelination and disability in EAE. *PLoS One* **4**, e7897 (2009).
- 505. Niederer F. *et al.* SIRT1 overexpression in the rheumatoid arthritis synovium contributes to proinflammatory cytokine production and apoptosis resistance. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **70**, 1866-1873 (2011).
- 506. Montecucco F. *et al.* Inhibition of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase reduces neutrophil-mediated injury in myocardial infarction. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 18, 630-641 (2013).
- 507. Kim S. R. *et al.* Involvement of sirtuin 1 in airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness of allergic airway disease. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **125**, 449-460 e414 (2010).
- 508. Lai S. C. & Devenish R. J. LC3-Associated Phagocytosis (LAP): Connections with Host Autophagy. *Cells* 1, 396-408 (2012).
- 509. Alberts B. Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edn. Garland Science: New York, 2002.
- 510. Liu G. *et al.* Dendritic cell SIRT1-HIF1alpha axis programs the differentiation of CD4+ T cells through IL-12 and TGF-beta1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**, E957-965 (2015).

- Srinivasakumar N., Ogra P. L. & Flanagan T. D. Characteristics of fusion of respiratory syncytial virus with HEp-2 cells as measured by R18 fluorescence dequenching assay. *J. Virol.* 65, 4063-4069 (1991).
- 512. Lim J. & Yue Z. Neuronal Aggregates: Formation, Clearance, and Spreading. *Dev. Cell* **32**, 491-501 (2015).
- 513. Kawahara K. *et al.* alpha-Synuclein aggregates interfere with Parkin solubility and distribution: role in the pathogenesis of Parkinson disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* **283**, 6979-6987 (2008).
- 514. Huber L. C., Distler O., Tarner I., Gay R. E., Gay S. & Pap T. Synovial fibroblasts: key players in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **45**, 669-675 (2006).
- 515. Ospelt C. *et al.* Overexpression of toll-like receptors 3 and 4 in synovial tissue from patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: toll-like receptor expression in early and longstanding arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **58**, 3684-3692 (2008).
- 516. Ospelt C. *et al.* Toll-like receptors in rheumatoid arthritis joint destruction mediated by two distinct pathways. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **63** Suppl 2, ii90-ii91 (2004).
- 517. Lin N. Y. *et al.* Autophagy regulates TNFalpha-mediated joint destruction in experimental arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **72**, 761-768 (2013).
- 518. Connor A. M., Mahomed N., Gandhi R., Keystone E. C. & Berger S. A. TNFalpha modulates protein degradation pathways in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 14, R62 (2012).
- 519. Zhang S., Zhong J., Yang P., Gong F. & Wang C. Y. HMGB1, an innate alarmin, in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* **3**, 24-38 (2009).
- 520. Mastrandrea L. *et al.* Etanercept treatment in children with new-onset type 1 diabetes: pilot randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. *Diabetes Care* **32**, 1244-1249 (2009).
- 521. Chun P. Role of sirtuins in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Arch. Pharm. Res. 38, 1-10 (2015).
- 522. Brewer J. M., Conacher M., Satoskar A., Bluethmann H. & Alexander J. In interleukin-4-deficient mice, alum not only generates T helper 1 responses equivalent to freund's complete adjuvant, but continues to induce T helper 2 cytokine production. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26, 2062-2066 (1996).
- 523. McKee A. S. *et al.* Alum induces innate immune responses through macrophage and mast cell sensors, but these sensors are not required for alum to act as an adjuvant for specific immunity. *J. Immunol.* **183**, 4403-4414 (2009).
- 524. Connors M., Giese N. A., Kulkarni A. B., Firestone C. Y., Morse H. C. & Murphy B. R. Enhanced Pulmonary Histopathology Induced by Respiratory Syncytial Virus (Rsv) Challenge of Formalin-Inactivated Rsv-Immunized Balb/C Mice Is Abrogated by Depletion of Interleukin-4 (II-4) and II-10. *J. Virol.* 68, 5321-5325 (1994).
- 525. Xie X. H. *et al.* Resveratrol Inhibits respiratory syncytial virus-induced IL-6 production, decreases viral replication, and downregulates TRIF expression in airway epithelial cells. *Inflammation* **35**, 1392-1401 (2012).
- 526. Drago L., Nicola L., Ossola F. & De Vecchi E. In vitro antiviral activity of resveratrol against respiratory viruses. *J. Chemother.* **20**, 393-394 (2008).

- 527. Hariharan N., Maejima Y., Nakae J., Paik J., Depinho R. A. & Sadoshima J. Deacetylation of FoxO by Sirt1 Plays an Essential Role in Mediating Starvation-Induced Autophagy in Cardiac Myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 107, 1470-1482 (2010).
- 528. Wang P., Guan Y. F., Du H., Zhai Q. W., Su D. F. & Miao C. Y. Induction of autophagy contributes to the neuroprotection of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in cerebral ischemia. *Autophagy* **8**, 77-87 (2012).
- 529. McComb S., Mulligan R. & Sad S. Caspase-3 Is Transiently Activated without Cell Death during Early Antigen Driven Expansion of CD8(+) T Cells In Vivo. *PLoS* One 5 (2010).
- 530. Lombard D. B. & Zwaans B. M. M. Sirt3: As Simple as It Seems? *Gerontology* 60, 56-64 (2014).
- 531. Brenmoehl J. & Hoeflich A. Dual control of mitochondrial biogenesis by sirtuin 1 and sirtuin 3. *Mitochondrion* 13, 755-761 (2013).
- Papa L. & Germain D. SirT3 regulates the mitochondrial unfolded protein response. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 34, 699-710 (2014).
- 533. Reed M., Morris S. H., Owczarczyk A. B. & Lukacs N. W. Deficiency of autophagy protein Map1-LC3b mediates IL-17-dependent lung pathology during respiratory viral infection via ER stress-associated IL-1. *Mucosal Immunol.* 10.1038/mi.2015.3 (2015).
- 534. Smith J. A., Turner M. J., DeLay M. L., Klenk E. I., Sowders D. P. & Colbert R. A. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the unfolded protein response are linked to synergistic IFN-beta induction via X-box binding protein 1. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38, 1194-1203 (2008).
- 535. Martinon F., Chen X., Lee A. H. & Glimcher L. H. TLR activation of the transcription factor XBP1 regulates innate immune responses in macrophages. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 411-U471 (2010).
- 536. Woo C. W. *et al.* Adaptive suppression of the ATF4-CHOP branch of the unfolded protein response by toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 1473-U1203 (2009).
- 537. Liu T. F., Yoza B. K., El Gazzar M., Vachharajani V. T. & McCall C. E. NAD+dependent SIRT1 deacetylase participates in epigenetic reprogramming during endotoxin tolerance. *J. Biol. Chem.* **286**, 9856-9864 (2011).
- 538. Martino M. E. B., Olsen J. C., Fulcher N. B., Wolfgang M. C., O'Neal W. K. & Ribeiro C. M. P. Airway Epithelial Inflammation-induced Endoplasmic Reticulum Ca2+ Store Expansion Is Mediated by X-box Binding Protein-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 14904-14913 (2009).
- 539. Boily G. *et al.* SirT1 regulates energy metabolism and response to caloric restriction in mice. *PLoS One* **3**, e1759 (2008).
- 540. Price N. L. *et al.* SIRT1 is required for AMPK activation and the beneficial effects of resveratrol on mitochondrial function. *Cell Metab* **15**, 675-690 (2012).
- 541. Wang R. & Green D. R. Metabolic reprogramming and metabolic dependency in T cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **249**, 14-26 (2012).
- 542. Gerriets V. A. & Rathmell J. C. Metabolic pathways in T cell fate and function. *Trends Immunol.* **33**, 168-173 (2012).

- 543. Pearce E. L., Poffenberger M. C., Chang C. H. & Jones R. G. Fueling immunity: insights into metabolism and lymphocyte function. *Science* **342**, 1242454 (2013).
- 544. Pantel A., Teixeira A., Haddad E., Wood E. G., Steinman R. M. & Longhi M. P. Direct Type I IFN but Not MDA5/TLR3 Activation of Dendritic Cells Is Required for Maturation and Metabolic Shift to Glycolysis after Poly IC Stimulation. *PLoS Biol.* 12 (2014).
- 545. Krawczyk C. M. *et al.* Toll-like receptor-induced changes in glycolytic metabolism regulate dendritic cell activation. *Blood* **115**, 4742-4749 (2010).